
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 16 December 2020 

Time 9.00 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2020              
(Pages 3 - 10) 

3. Declarations of interest   

Key Decision: 
 
4. County Durham Plan: Minerals and Waste Development Plan 

Document and Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning 
Document - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth  [Key Decision: REG/04/20]                      
(Pages 11 - 74) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
5. Quarter Two, 2020/21 Performance Management Report - Report 

of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 75 - 158) 

6. Transport Asset Management Plan - Annual Update - Report of 
Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change  
(Pages 159 - 214) 

7. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

8. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

 
 
 
 



Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
9. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
8 December 2020 
 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and 
A Surtees 

 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

CABINET  
 

At a meeting of Cabinet held remotely via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday 18 
November 2020 at 9.30am 
 
Present 
 

Councillor S Henig, Leader of the Council (Chair) 

 

Cabinet Members  

Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, L Hovvels, A Napier, A Patterson, K Shaw,                 
B Stephens and A Surtees  
 
Apologies 
Councillor C Marshall  
 
Also Present 

Councillors J Robinson and J Shuttleworth   

 

1 Public Questions   
 
There were no public questions.  
 

2 Minutes   
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record and would be signed by the Chair. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22 and Council Tax: 
 COVID-19 Hardship Fund Payments   

[Key Decision: CORP/R/20/05]  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which: 
 

(a) sought approval to recommend to Council the continuation of the 
current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for a further 
year into 2021/22, which would continue the protection afforded to all 
claimants in line with what their entitlement would have been under 
the former Council Tax Benefit system;  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



(b) provided information on the current and forecasted expenditure in 
terms of the Government’s COVID-19 hardship fund; 

(c) sought approval for the allocation of the remaining COVID-19 hardship 
fund grant to continue to support vulnerable residents following 
consideration of the options and recommendations set out in the 
report;  

(d) sought approval of the updated Discretionary Council Tax Reduction 
(COVID-19) policy in line with agreement on the allocation of the 
remaining COVID-19 hardship grant fund.  

 
(for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Moving the report, Councillor Napier, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, commented that the protection of the scheme had enabled 
additional support to be provided to vulnerable residents, throughout the pandemic, 
including the reduction of a further £300 to eligible residents’ council tax bills this 
financial year, and, it is proposed to apply an additional £100 of council tax support 
next year.  These measures, together with the Welfare Support Scheme, will 
ensure the Council continues to provide as much support as possible to local 
residents.   
 
The Chair, Councillor Henig, Leader of the Council, highlighted Durham County 
Council is one of a small minority of councils to continue to offer the same level of 
support to all claimants, as was available under the former Council Tax Benefit 
scheme.  Furthermore, Durham’s performance in the Council Tax collection rate is 
stronger than any other north east council since the changes were introduced.   
 
Councillor Surtees, Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion, welcomed the continuation 
of the scheme, which she commented is timely, with many people facing financial 
hardship at this time.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

5 Council Tax Base 2021/22 and Forecast Deficit on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund as at 31 March 2021                                                         
[Key Decision: CORP/R/20/03] 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which  
determined the Council’s tax base for domestic properties liable to pay council tax, 
which is an important component in the Council’s budget setting process for 
2021/22 and reported on the estimated collection fund surplus as at 31 March 2021  
(for copy see file of minutes).   

Page 4



Councillor Napier acknowledged that estimating the future tax base position had 
been difficult owing to the impact of COVID-19 and the resulting uncertainty and he 
added it is hoped that government will provide further support to local authorities, 
given the reduced income from Council Tax this financial year.  

Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

6 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 
September 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the: 
 

(a) updated forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21; 
(b) updated forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 

position at 31 March 2021; 
(c) updated forecast use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves 

and estimated balances to be held at 31 March 2021. 
 

The report also sought approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums 
outside of the cash limit and provided an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Corporate Director of Resources stated the report was based on best 
estimates and commented on the high level of uncertainty due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, therefore, the report included a number of assumptions with regard to 
income and expenditure. 
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Shuttleworth, local member for Weardale, who 
requested a breakdown, and, a reason, for the £420,000 overspend on winter 
maintenance.  Councillor Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Local 
Partnerships, explained the provision of winter maintenance is a statutory 
obligation. The cost of the service is driven by the weather and is delivered in 
accordance with the winter maintenance policy. The forecast overspend of 
£420,000 is based on a projection which assumes a similar level of activity to that 
of 2019/20. This is subject to weather conditions throughout the forthcoming winter 
season and will be revised accordingly as the year progresses. 
 
Moving the report, Councillor Napier referred to the uncertain times for financial 
planning and forecasting and he commended officers for their work.  The Chair 
referred to the overspend in excess of £50 million due to additional expenditure 
and loss of income during COVID-19.  Whilst additional government funding had 
made-up most of the shortfall, there remains an overspend this year.   

Page 5



He confirmed the financial position will continue to be closely monitored during this 
challenging time.    
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

7 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period 
 to 30 September 2020  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the treasury management mid-year position for 2020/21 
(for copy of report see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

8  Lumiere 2019 – Evaluation  
 
The Cabinet received a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which presented information on the Lumiere 2019 evaluation and the 
early plans for Lumiere 2021 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Allen, Portfolio Holder for Transformation, Culture and Tourism, 
highlighted that the evaluation of Lumiere 2019 showed an overwhelming positive 
response from the public.  Councillor Allen added that the event is not only a light 
festival, but also an important community development programme and a 
significant economic engine for the county.  Careful planning will be undertaken for 
Lumiere 2021, which will include consideration of the context of the current 
pandemic.   
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

9  Poverty Issues  
 
The Cabinet received a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which    
provided an update on: 

a) the most recent welfare, economic and poverty indicators for the county; and 
b) the progress of the Council and partners’ efforts to address and alleviate 

poverty including a summary of the actions to respond to the negative 
financial impacts experienced by residents as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, and the poverty action strategy and plan (for copy see file of 
minutes). 

Page 6



 
Councillor Surtees referred to the many residents in the county who continue to 
struggle under the government’s welfare reform programme, with the pandemic 
compounding the financial hardships.  In addition, many families are suffering the 
effects of poverty that have not previously faced such issues.  Councillor Surtees 
pointed out that despite funding constraints, the Council remains committed to 
providing help to those who are struggling financially and to alleviate the longer 
term issues leading to poverty.  
 
Councillor Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services, 
welcomed the report and echoed the concerns of Councillor Surtees for those in 
the community who are in financial difficulty.  She expressed pride at the 
partnership working taking place and thanked the voluntary and community sectors 
who have worked with the Council to maximise support to the most vulnerable.  
Highlighting the government’s recent announcement to support those receiving 
free school meals during school holidays, Councillor Gunn pointed out that Durham 
County Council has been supporting families through school holiday periods for 
years, with assistance from the voluntary sector, and the Council had also provided 
assistance to parents who required help with back-to-school costs.   
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets, Councillor Shaw, spoke of 
the many valuable initiatives to support housing, fuel poverty and homelessness to 
respond to the significant increases in poverty resulting from years of austerity.  
Councillor Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services, expressed 
concern that the pandemic will lead to a greater inequalities gap adding the Council 
must strive to continue this good work to address poverty issues, with a particular 
focus on the impact on children and young people. 
 
The Chair thanked officers for their hard work.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2021-22 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
updated members on the government announcements about mainstream primary 
and secondary formula funding for 2021/22 and recommended that the Council 
continues to use a transitional formula next year, which will align the local formula 
with the National Funding Formula (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
In moving the report, Councillor Napier commented it is clear that a significant 
injection of funding from government is required to help improve schools across the 
county.  Councillor Gunn added that whilst increases in funding are welcomed, how 
the funding for next year will flow through schools remains to be seen.   

Page 7



She expressed concern that many schools will continue to struggle, as government 
funding over recent years has not met the cost pressures suffered by schools.  She 
explained that she had written to various government ministers pointing out the 
lack of capital investment, and, calling for schools to be properly funded, however, 
the responses received did not reflect the reality that schools in the county are 
facing, and, she hopes these issues will form part of the levelling-up agenda. 
Councillor Gunn thanked all teachers, teaching assistants and school support staff 
for their excellent work, and, she also thanked children and young people and 
acknowledged the pressures they are facing, in these unprecedented times.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved.  
 

11 Regional Adoption Agency – Full Business Case  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which presented the full business case for the Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA) – Adopt Coast to Coast, which sets out the Partnership 
Model agreement reached by Durham, Cumbria and Together for 
Children/Sunderland to work collaboratively to develop and deliver their respective 
adoption services (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn confirmed the partnership model meets the Secretary of State’s 
requirements to carry out adoption functions jointly, with the aim of reducing the 
amount of organisations recruiting and assessing adopters, as the RAA will 
operate at a greater scale.  She expressed confidence that the new service will 
enable timely adoptions to be secured, and, deliver high quality support services to 
those wishing to adopt. 
 
Councillor Hovvels commented on the importance of this work, adding the Council 
will work with partners to ensure the sufficiency of high quality adoption  
services and to encourage high aspirations for adopted children. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

12 Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP Services in County Durham   
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which  
presented the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
review report focusing on GP Services in County Durham (for copy see file of 
minutes). 
 

Page 8



The Chair welcomed Councillor John Robinson, Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee who presented the review report and 
thanked colleagues for their contribution to the cross-party report.  He explained 
the review was undertaken in response to concerns over the cumulative impact of 
a number of applications to either review, merge or close GP surgeries across 
County Durham. He outlined the terms of reference and provided details of the 
agencies engaged to provide evidence to inform the review, and, described the 
nine review recommendations.   
 
Councillor Robinson placed on record the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s thanks to GP and primary care services for the role they 
have played during the COVID-19 pandemic.  He also thanked the Principal 
Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Stephen Gwillym, for his advice and support to the 
Committee, and, he thanked all members, officers and partners for their valuable 
contribution.  
 
Councillor Hovvels thanked the Committee for undertaking such a broad review 
which included investigating difficulties caused by transport issues, with the 
recommendation that an integrated transport solution be developed, to address the 
challenges faced by patients.    
 
Councillor Gunn remarked on the timeliness of the report and commented on the 
value placed by communities on GP surgeries, which has been observed through 
many representations received from residents, when proposals to review services 
are considered.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

13 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020   
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report and presentation of the Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services and the Director of Public Health which presented the 
2020 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham (for copy of 
report and presentation see file of minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health explained the Annual Report differs from that of 
previous years as it has a major focus on the impact of COVID-19 and, in 
delivering the presentation, the Director of Public Health provided information on   
action taken in response to the pandemic, including work with partners and the 
community, and outlined the seven public health strategic priorities which will 
inform the recommendations to be taken forward next year.   
 
 
  

Page 9



 
Councillor Hovvels welcomed the Annual Report, saying the report clearly 
demonstrates that health and wellbeing is a responsibility for every individual.  
Councillor Stephens commented on the good partnership working that had taken 
place to launch the County Durham Together Community Hub and the significant 
role played by Area Action Partnerships to provide support during the pandemic.  
 
Councillor Gunn thanked the Director of Public Health and her staff during these 
difficult times.  She added that the community support and the work of volunteers 
who have helped to support the community on a daily basis, has been invaluable.   
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

14 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved:    
 
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 
of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 15 Marginal Viability Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) – Newton  
   Aycliffe Housing Growth Report   

 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth and the Corporate Director of Resources which sought 
agreement on the proposed approach to bringing forward a Housing Infrastructure 
Fund (HIF) supported housing development in Newton Aycliffe that will make more 
land available for housing (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

Page 10



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 16 December 2020 

 County Durham Plan: Minerals and 

Waste Development Plan Document and 

Parking and Accessibility 

Supplementary Planning Document 

 Key Decision REG/04/20 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to commence 
work on the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development 
Plan Document and the Parking and Accessibility Supplementary 
Planning Document and the timetable for their preparation in a new 
Local Development Scheme.  Both documents support the recently 
adopted County Durham Plan. 

Executive summary 

2 The recently adopted County Durham Plan seeks to ensure that County 
Durham is a successful place to live, work, invest and visit by focussing 
on supporting and creating vibrant communities.  The Plan is a 
comprehensive document covering all aspects of planning however it 
only includes strategic policies and allocations relating to minerals and 
waste.  There is therefore a need to supplement those policies with 
more detailed development management policies and non-strategic site 
allocations.  Once adopted, the Minerals and Waste Policies and 
Allocations Development Plan Document (M&WDPD) will replace the 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



saved policies currently being used from the Minerals Local Plan (2000) 
and Waste Local Plan (2005). 

3 In order to provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in the 
County Durham Plan, Government guidance allows the preparation of 
supplementary planning documents (SPDs).  SPDs are capable of 
being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of 
the development plan.  One SPD that is specifically mentioned in the 
County Durham Plan is the Parking and Accessibility SPD.  It is 
therefore proposed to begin work on this SPD but there will be others 
prepared in the near future including Developer Contributions, Hot Food 
Takeaways, Accessible and Adaptable Homes and Design Principles 
SPDs.  Work will also be commencing shortly on a number of 
development briefs and masterplans for many of the allocations in the 
Plan as well as an update to the Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan. 

Recommendations 

4 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree the Local Development Scheme (Appendix 2) and delegate 
to the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration the power to add further Supplementary Planning 
Documents and their timetables when known; 

(b) agree the scoping letter for the Minerals and Waste Policies and 
Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) (Appendix 3) and 
‘Call for Sites’ document (Appendix 4) for consultation from 15 
January to 26 February 2021.  Agree to delegate to the Corporate 
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration the power to 
agree the consultation draft DPD for a future consultation; and 

(c) agree the County Durham Parking and Accessibility 
Supplementary Planning Document Issues and Options document 
(Appendix 5) for consultation from 15 January to 26 February 
2021.  Agree to delegate to the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration the power to make 
minor modifications to the document following consultation for a 
future second round of consultation. 

  

Page 12



Background 

5 At a meeting on the 21 October 2020 the Council adopted the County 
Durham Plan.  The report to Members also noted that there would be a 
further document, the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
Development Plan Document (M&WDPD), which will be prepared to 
complement the minerals and waste policies of the County Durham 
Plan.  It will contain detailed development management policies and any 
non-strategic minerals and waste allocations which are considered 
necessary to meet the future needs of County Durham.  Members were 
informed that work on the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
document will commence once the County Durham Plan is adopted. 

6 In order to provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in the 
County Durham Plan, Government guidance allows the preparation of 
supplementary planning documents (SPDs).  SPDs are capable of 
being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of 
the development plan.  One SPD that is specifically mentioned in the 
County Durham Plan is the Parking and Accessibility SPD.  It is 
therefore proposed to begin work on this SPD but there will be others 
prepared in the near future including Developer Contributions, Hot Food 
Takeaways, Accessible and Adaptable Homes and Design Principles 
SPDs Work will also be commencing shortly on a number of 
development briefs and masterplans for many of the allocations in the 
Plan as well as an update to the Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan. 

7 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to prepare and maintain a Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) setting out the timetable and milestones 
for the preparation of a local plan and associated documents.  County 
Durham has had a number of LDSs, the most recent being June 2019.  
As the Plan is now adopted the new LDS will include a timetable for the 
M&WDPD and the Parking and Accessibility SPD. Other SPDs will be 
added when their timetables are known. 

Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan 
Document 

8 The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations DPD has been 
identified in the Council’s Local Development Scheme for a number of 
years.  The scope of the document will include: 

• specific policies for a number of economically important minerals, 
not addressed by the strategic minerals policies of the County 
Durham Plan but where future planning applications for the 
‘winning and working of minerals’ cannot be discounted such as 

Page 13



for conventional and unconventional oil and gas, silica sand, clay 
for engineering purposes and vein minerals, and for major waste 
management processes and technologies such as for inert 
landfill/landraise, non-hazardous landfill, the incineration of waste, 
and also for specialist wastes and hazardous substances; 

• detailed minerals and waste development management policies 
covering, for example matters related to the processing and 
storage of minerals, the transport of minerals and waste (including 
road to rail transhipment facilities), borrow pits which are small 
mineral working proposals directly related to a construction 
project, the control of mineral working operations including 
standoff distances from local communities, cumulative impacts, 
noisy short term activities, quarry blast vibration, quarry and 
landfill slope stability, the restoration and after-use of mineral and 
landfill/landraise sites and a policy detailing the benefits of 
minerals development; and 

• non-strategic minerals and waste allocations which are 
considered necessary to meet the future needs of County Durham 
and make an appropriate contribution, where necessary, to wider 
regional and national needs for mineral supply. 

9 Three stages of consultation are planned over the next two years.  
Under regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 preparation will commence in January 
2021 through a notification letter to specific consultees identified by the 
regulations who will be invited to make representations about what the 
documents policy matters the document should contain (attached at 
Appendix 3).  In addition, a call for sites will also be conducted 
(attached at Appendix 4).  An initial draft plan will then be published 
followed by a regulation 19 consultation on a pre-submission draft plan 
followed by Submission and an Examination by an independent 
inspector. 

11 In order to ensure that the M&WDPD is found sound at examination a 
number of evidence reports will be published, and assessments 
undertaken covering relevant matters such as Sustainability Appraisal 
and Habitat Regulation Assessment, which are both integral to the 
document’s preparation process, and an Equality Impact Assessment. 
Consultation on the M&WDPD will be undertaken in accordance with 
the Council’s published Statement of Community Involvement. 

10 Once adopted, the policies and provisions of the M&WDPD will replace 
twenty-eight remaining saved policies of the County Durham Minerals 
Local Plan (December 2000) and the County Durham Waste Local Plan 
(April 2005). 

Page 14



Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document 

11 The Council previously set out its parking and accessibility requirements 
in a guidance document for developers and officers to have regard to in 
assessing planning applications.  During the Examination in Public 
hearings for the County Durham Plan, the planning inspector 
recommended that this guidance be reviewed and set out more formally 
as an SPD to support Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) of 
the Plan.  This recommendation was subsequently translated into a 
Main Modification which the inspector considered was necessary to 
make the Plan sound. 

12 In order to comply with the relevant regulations1 two rounds of 
consultation are required to prepare an SPD.  The first consultation for 
the Parking and Accessibility SPD is an Issues and Options document 
(attached at Appendix 5) which seeks comments on the Council’s 
planned approach to specific parking and accessibility issues.  
Following consideration of any responses received a draft SPD will then 
be prepared for a second round of consultation.  The issues set out in 
the consultation document are summarised below: 

• a recognition that restricting parking at origin (residential 
properties) does not necessarily discourage car ownership and 
can, in fact, lead to other problems, such as excessive pavement 
parking; 

• proposing standards to require a 'minimum' amount of parking 
provision at origin; 

• encouraging sustainable transport by proposing standards for 
electric vehicle (EV) charge points in new homes and at all 
destinations to encourage and facilitate use of electric vehicles; 

• proposing that, where garages are not provided, secure parking 
suitable for a cycle, mobility scooter or motorbike be provided 
instead; 

• setting parking requirements at trip destinations (retail, 
employment, leisure and other developments) to encourage the 
use of sustainable modes of transport; 

• suggesting a definition for an accessible location and proposing 
reduced parking at these locations to encourage sustainable 
travel; and 

 
1 Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 15



• proposing standards for cycle parking to be required at all 
destinations. 

13 Once adopted the Parking and Accessibility SPD will replace the current 
County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards 2019. 

Local Development Scheme 

14 The new Local Development Scheme (LDS) is attached at Appendix 2 
and sets out the timetable for the documents included in this report and 
estimated timescales for future documents.  The key milestones for the 
Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations DPD are summarised 
below: 

Document Scoping 
letter 

Consult 
on draft 

Reg19 
consultation 

EIP Adoption 

Minerals 
and Waste 

Policies 
and 

Allocations 
DPD 

Jan/Feb 
2021 

Jun/Jul 
2021 

Nov/Dec 
2021 

Jul 
2022 

May 2023 

15 The key milestones for the SPDs and other documents are summarised 
below: 

Document First 
consultation 

Second 
consultation 

Adoption 

Parking and 
Accessibility SPD 

Jan/Feb 2021 Jun/Jul 2021 Oct 2021 

Developer 
Contributions SPD 
(incl. Affordable 
Housing, Specialist 
Housing, Open 
Space, Biodiversity, 
Education, Health, 
SuDs) 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Hot Food Takeaways 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Page 16



Accessible and 
Adaptable Homes 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Design Principles 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Durham City 
Sustainable 
Transport Delivery 
Plan 

Summer 2021  Autumn 
2021 

Next Steps 

16 If agreed, consultation will be undertaken on the Scoping letter and Call 
for Sites for the Minerals and Waste DPD and the Issues and Options 
paper for the Parking and Accessibility SPD from 15 January to 26 
February 2021.  All consultations, including those on future documents 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement. 

Background papers 

County Durham Plan – Adopted (2020) 

Author 

Mike Allum Tel: 03000 261906 

 

  

Page 17



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
set out how to prepare development plan documents and supplementary 
planning documents.  Before the SPDs and M&WDPD can be adopted, it will 
be necessary to undertake a public consultation process.  Additionally, in the 
case of the Minerals and Waste Development Plan Document, an examination 
in public must be held.  The legal requirements and timescales are fully 
detailed within the report. 

Finance 

As the DPD and SPDs progress there will be some costs for appropriate 
evidence gathering, consultation, printing and eventually the EIP costs, 
including the fees for the Inspector now that the EIP is concluded.  These 
costs will be met from the Spatial Policy budget. 

Consultation 

The programme of consultation has been agreed with the Council’s Corporate 
Communications Team and the Council’s Consultation Officers Group and will 
be undertaken in accordance with the Statement of Community Involvement 
and the 2012 Local Plan Regulations. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty 
under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  This 
duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under 
that legislation. 

The Council will carefully consider the likely impacts of the Plan on persons 
with a protected characteristic at each stage of the process.  An Equality 
Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been prepared in partnership with the 
community engagement team for the Parking and Accessibility SPD 
(Appendix 6).  An EQIA will prepared for the Minerals and Waste DPD at the 
draft stage. 

Human Rights 

Protocol 1 Article 1: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions, including their property.  The Minerals and 
Waste DPD may allocate land for development which will affect landowners’ 
rights to develop their land.  It is noted, however, that rights afforded under 

Page 18



this Article are not absolute but qualified.  Therefore, any interference with 
landowner’s rights must be balanced against the wider public interest in 
having an up to date development plan.  It is lawful for a local planning 
authority to take action if that action is clearly necessary and proportionate. 

Crime and Disorder 

Issues of crime and disorder will be considered in the preparation of the DPD 
and SPDs as they progress. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

If required, consultants may need to be commissioned to deliver evidence 
studies, in accordance with the Council’s procurement rules/procedures. 

Climate Change 

Climate change is a golden thread running through the County Durham Plan.  
The importance of tackling and adapting to climate change is recognised in 
the Plan’s Vision, Objectives, Sustainable Development Statement, spatial 
strategy and a number of policies.  As the DPD and SPDs sit below and will 
reflect the policies and strategies of the County Durham Plan they will similarly 
seek to reflect this approach. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

COUNTY DURHAM 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 

SCHEME 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

WHAT WE’RE DOING AND WHEN 
 
 
 
 

December 2020 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

2 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

1 

THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
 
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project plan outlining the arrangements 
for producing a local plan and other associated documents. It is the starting point for 
all interested parties to find out about the council’s emerging planning policies and 
procedures in respect to a particular area or issue. It also illustrates the relationship 
between the individual documents currently proposed and how they fit into the 
council’s wider strategies. This project plan supersedes any previously adopted by 
Durham County Council.  
 
THE COUNTY DURHAM PLAN 
 
The County Durham Plan (the Plan) provides a new and up to date policy context 
against which all planning applications and development proposals will be assessed 
and determined. Following an Examination in Public, the appointed planning 
inspector found that, subject to a number of modifications, the Plan was sound. The 
Plan was therefore adopted by the Council on 21 October 2020.   
 
COUNTY DURHAM PLAN STRUCTURE 
 
The County Durham Plan sets out the spatial vision and strategic objectives for 
future development of the county, including minerals and waste, to which all 
supporting documents must conform. It will contain policies and site allocations to 
deliver these objectives, on which planning applications will be determined. The 
County Durham Plan will also contain a framework for monitoring and 
implementation. 
  
The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan Document 
(M&WDPD) will supplement the strategic minerals and waste content of the County 
Durham Plan. It will contain detailed development management policies and any non-
strategic minerals and waste allocations which are considered necessary to meet the 
future needs of County Durham.   
 
Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) provide more detailed advice or 
guidance on policies in the County Durham Plan. SPDs are capable of being a 
material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan.  
There are a number of SPDs referenced in the County Durham Plan and two design 
related SPDS (Building for Life and Residential Amenity Standards) were recently 
adopted. The next one to be produced is the Parking and Accessibility SPD. The 
timetables for their preparation are included in this LDS. Other SPDs will be added to 
the LDS where their timetables are known.  
 
MILESTONES 
 
The key milestones for the production of each document are shown in Figure 1 
below. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL 
 
The County Durham Plan was subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA). It considers 
the environmental, social and economic impacts of the policies and proposals and 

Page 23



 

2 

ensures we comply with the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive 
(European Directive 2001/42/EC). The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
Development Plan Document will also be subject to SA. 
 
FUTURE DOCUMENTS 
 
In addition to the documents specifically mentioned in this LDS there will be other 
documents that support the County Durham Plan coming forward in the future. For 
example, there will be other SPDs including Developer Contributions, Hot Food 
Takeaways, Accessible and Adaptable Homes and Design Principles SPDs. Work 
will also be commencing shortly on a number of development briefs and masterplans 
for many of the allocations in the Plan as well as an update to the Durham City 
Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan. Estimated timescales are shown in the table 
below. More detailed milestones will be added to the LDS when know. 
 

 Scoping 
letter 

Consult 
on draft 

Reg19 
consultation 

EIP Adoption 

Minerals and 
Waste Policies 
and Allocations 

DPD 

Jan/Feb 
2021 

Jun/Jul 
2021 

Nov/Dec 
2021 

Jul 
2022 

May 2023 

 First 
consultation 

Second 
consultation 

Adoption 

Parking and 
Accessibility SPD 

Jan/Feb 2021 Jun/Jul 2021 Oct 2021 

Developer 
Contributions SPD 
(incl. Affordable 
Housing, Specialist 
Housing, Open 
Space, Biodiversity, 
Education, Health, 
SuDs) 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Hot Food Takeaways 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Accessible and 
Adaptable Homes 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Design Principles 
SPD 

Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 Winter 2021 

Page 24



 

3 

Durham City 
Sustainable 
Transport Delivery 
Plan 

Summer 2021  Autumn 2021 

 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
Each year an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) is prepared to assess progress on the 
delivery of the County Durham Plan and review the effectiveness of its policies. The 
AMR is published each year and assesses the following factors:  

 progress on the delivery of the County Durham Plan and associated document 
compared with LDS milestones; 

 reasons for any variance and proposed actions;  
 any factors that may impact on the following year’s LDS milestones and 

planned action; 
 the need for new evidence or research; 
 a review of policy effectiveness; and 
 a trajectory of future housing provision against housing requirements.  

 
The LDS will be reviewed and rolled forward when necessary to take account of 
changes to national or regional policy, progress on the programme, milestones and 
the content of the AMR. The flexible nature of the system means that new documents 
can be added to the LDS as circumstances change.  
 
 

Page 25



 

 4

Figure 1 – Local Development Scheme Milestones 
 

   
 

J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J

Minerals and Waste Allocations 18 18 18 18 19 19 S E IR M M FIR A

Parking and Accessibility SPD A E FIR

Developer Contributions SPD A E FIR

Hot Food Takeaways SPD A E FIR

Accessible and Adaptable 
Homes SPD A E FIR

Design Principles SPD A E FIR

Durham City Sustainable 
Transport A E FIR

DPD 18 Start and Call for Sites (Reg 18) 19 Regulation 19 Consultation IIR Receipt of Inspectors Reports

Consideration of Representations S Submission MM Main Modifications Consultation

18 Consult on Draft Plan (Reg 18) E Examination FIR Final Inspectors Report

A Adoption

SPD First Stage Consultation A Adoption

Second Stage Consultation

202320222021County Durham Plan 
Documents

2020

P
age 26



Regeneration, Economy and Growth  
Durham County Council, Spatial Policy, County Hall, Durham, DH1 5UQ 
Main Telephone 03000 260 000 
 
www.durham.gov.uk 
 
    
 
 

Contact: To be completed in January 2021   
Direct Tel: To be completed in January 2021 

email: spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk 
Your ref:  
Our ref: M&WDPD/001 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

5 November 2020 
Dear Sir or Madam, 

 
County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document  
Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Development Plan 
Document & Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 

 
Following the adoption of the County Durham Plan in October 2020, the Council is now 
commencing work to prepare its Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document 
(M&WDPD).  The document’s preparation is a longstanding commitment of the Council 
and our intent to prepare the M&WDPD and its intended role is specifically referred to 
within the County Durham Plan.  
 
1) Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Development Plan 
Document 
In accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the Council is required to notify ‘specified bodies and 
persons’ of the subject of the Plan and invite representations about what it ought to 
contain. Our initial view of the scope of the M&WDPD and the policy issues we consider it 
should address are set out in the accompanying ‘Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of 
Intention to Prepare a Development Plan Document’ (January 2021) which is attached to 
this letter. Please note, as well as your views, we will also consider the views of additional 
persons and organisations who submit comments in response to the publicity we 
undertake on this letter and subsequent consultations.  
 
The timescale for the preparation of the M&WDPD is set out in the Council’s new Local 
Development Scheme (December 2020). 
 
2) Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 
During this first stage of the M&WDPD’s preparation, a call for new minerals and waste 
sites is also being conducted. Details of the call for sites are set out in ‘A call for  
Minerals and Waste Sites’, including how we will assess site submissions. It can be 
downloaded from our planning consultation portal: https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse or 

Page 27



Page 2 of 4 
 
 
can be obtained by emailing us at spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk In addition, to request 
printed copies of the call for sites document, including in an alternative format such as 
large print, Braille, audio cassette or an alternative language, please call: 03000 261908, 
03000 261921 or 03000 263967. 
 
How do I get involved? 
 
Comments on the ‘Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local 
Plan Development Plan Document’ and any minerals and waste site submissions in 
response to the ‘Call for Minerals and Waste Sites’ can be made in a number of ways: 
- by email to spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk.  
- by post, you can send us your comments to our freepost address (all you need to do is 
write this one line on an envelope - no other address details or postage stamp are 
needed): FREEPOST Spatial Policy 
- or by using our planning consultation portal: https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse 
 
Comments and minerals and waste site submissions to the call for sites should be 
received by 5.00 pm on Friday 26 February 2021. Should you wish to speak to an officer 
of the Spatial Policy Team this can be arranged but will need to be held in a Covid secure 
method. 
 
All comments received will be published apart from the name of the sender and 
company/organisation (if relevant), no other personal information will be publicly available. 
Anonymous comments will not be accepted.  
 
Why was I sent this letter? 
 
You were sent this letter:  

1) Because your organisation/company falls within a relevant category that should be 
notified under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development) (England) Regulations 2012; or  

2) Because we consider that you may have an interest in the M&WDPD’s preparation 
because; you operate a minerals or waste related business in County Durham; you 
have been acting as a consultant on behalf of a minerals and waste business 
operating in County Durham; or you are a major landowner who we believe may 
have active minerals related interests in County Durham. 

 
A new consultation database for the M&WDPD will also be developed through its 
preparation. If you no longer wish to be included on the consultation database and/or your 
contact details are incorrect, please inform us by using the email address above and we 
will remove or amend your details accordingly. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Stuart Timmiss 
Head of Development and Housing 

Page 28



Page 3 of 4 
 
 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) 

(England) Regulations 2012  
 

Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a 
Local Plan Development Plan Document 

 
Durham County Council is preparing a new Local Plan Development Plan Document 
(DPD) which will be called the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document 
(M&WDPD).  The document’s preparation is a longstanding commitment of the Council 
and our intent to prepare the M&WDPD and its intended role is specifically referred to 
within the County Durham Plan which was adopted on 21st October 2020. 
 
In accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) 
(England) Regulations 2012 the Council is required to notify specified bodies and persons 
of the subject of the DPD which it proposes to prepare and invite representations about 
what the DPD ought to contain. The Council’s proposal for the content of the DPD are set 
out below. 
 
Proposal  
 
The M&WDPD will cover the administrative area of County Durham and it will run to 2035 
to align with the time period of the adopted County Durham Plan (CDP). The overall scope 
of the M&WDPD is to develop and complement the strategic minerals and waste content 
of the CDP. Accordingly, it is not envisaged that the M&WDPD will include a specific 
overall spatial strategy or objectives, however, it is envisaged that it will include: 
 

 Specific policies for a number of economically important minerals not addressed by 
the strategic minerals policies of the CDP but where future planning applications for 
the ‘winning and working of minerals’ cannot be discounted such as for 
conventional and unconventional oil and gas, silica sand, clay for engineering 
purposes and vein minerals;  
 

 Specific policies for waste management processes and technologies such as inert 
landfill/landraise, non-hazardous landfill, the incineration of waste with and without 
energy recovery, and also for specialist wastes and hazardous substances; 
 

 Detailed minerals and waste development management policies covering for 
example matters related to the processing and storage of minerals, the transport of 
minerals including road to rail transhipment facilities, borrow pits, the control of 
mineral working operations including standoff distances from local communities, 
cumulative impacts, noisy short term activities, quarry blast vibration, quarry and 
landfill slope stability, the restoration and after-use of mineral sites and a policy 
detailing the benefits of minerals development; and 
 

 Where needed and justified the M&WDPD will allocate non-strategic minerals and 
waste sites. Any allocations will take into account the spatial and quantitative 
approach (where applicable) provided by the CDP. However, we will also seek to 

Page 29



Page 4 of 4 
 
 

take into account the most up to date information available and in the case of 
aggregates, account will be taken of the Council’s latest Local Aggregate 
Assessment.  
 

Timescale for Preparation 
 
The M&WDPD will be prepared in accordance with the timetable for its adoption as set out 
in the Council’s latest Local Development Scheme (December 2020).  
 
Representations Procedure 
 
Comments on the proposed scope and content of the M&WDPD should be submitted 
during the six-week consultation period running from Friday 15th January 2021 and 
ending at 5pm on Friday 26th February 2021.  
 
The Council will take into account any representations made to them in response to this 
invitation, and in addition we will also consider the views of additional persons and 
organisations whom respond in response to the publicity we undertake at the Regulation 
18 stage.  
 
Representations can be sent via email to spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk or posted using 
our freepost address (all you need to do is write this one line on an envelope - no other 
address details or postage stamp are needed): FREEPOST Spatial Policy or by using our 
planning consultation portal: https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse 
 
Alternative Formats 
 
Should you wish to receive a copy of this statement in an alternative format such as large 
print, Braille, audio cassette or an alternative language, please call: 03000 261908, 03000 
261921 or 03000 263967. 

Page 30



2 INTRODUCTION 1. 

2 

WHAT IS THE RELATIONSHIP 
BETWEEN THE COUNTY 

2. 

DURHAM PLAN AND THE 
MINERALS AND WASTE 
POLICIES AND ALLOCATIONS 
DOCUMENT? 

3 

WHEN WILL THE MINERALS AND 
WASTE POLICIES AND 

3. 

ALLOCATIONS DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN DOCUMENT BE 
PREPARED? 

3 

WHEN DO WE NEED TO 
RECEIVE A MINERALS AND 

4. 

WASTE SITE ALLOCATION 
PROPOSAL BY? 

4 
HOW TO SUBMIT A MINERALS 
AND WASTE SITE ALLOCATION 
PROPOSAL? 

5. 

4 
HOW WILL WE CONSIDER 
MINERALS AND WASTE SITE 
ALLOCATION PROPOSALS? 

6. 

4 

WHAT INFORMATION IS 
REQUIRED TO MAKE A 

7. 

SUBMISSION FOR A MINERALS 
AND WASTE SITE ALLOCATION? 

6 FURTHER INFORMATION 8. 

7 ALTERNATIVE FORMATS 9. 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 Durham County Council 

Contents 

Page 31



1 Introduction 

1.1 Durham County Council is the minerals and waste planning authority for County Durham. 
Between Friday 15th January 2021 and Friday 26th February 2021, we are undertaking 
a call for new minerals and waste management sites. All sites which are submitted will be 
considered as a potential allocation in the forthcoming County Durham Minerals and Waste 
Policies and Allocations Development Plan Document (M&WDPD).  

1.2 As a Development Plan Document, once adopted the M&WDPD will form part of the 
statutory development plan for County Durham along with the County Durham Plan and any 
adopted Neighbourhood Plans. 

1.3 Please note, this call for sites is part of the plan making process conducted by Durham 
County Council. It is completely separate from the planning application process. 

2 What is the relationship between the County Durham Plan and the Minerals and 
Waste Policies and Allocations document? 

2.1  All councils are required to have a Local Plan for development in their area. The County 
Durham Plan sets out the councils overarching strategy for the development and use of land 
in County Durham to 2035. The County Durham Plan was adopted on 21 October 2020. The 
County Durham Plan sets out the spatial vision and strategic objectives for future development 
of the county, including minerals and waste. It contains policies and site allocations to deliver 
these objectives upon which planning applications will be determined.  

2.2 The role of the County Durham Plan and the M&WDPD are different. The County 
Durham Plan sets out strategic policies for minerals and waste in County Durham over the 
Plan period and: 

Identifies where possible the scale of future minerals extraction and waste management 
capacity required and that will need to be accommodated within the County over the 
period to 2035; 

Set out as far as possible where and when new provision will be necessary;  

Provides clear guidance to enable site specific allocations and planning applications to 
be considered in both locational and criteria-based terms; and 

Allocates strategic sites for new minerals development and waste development where 
considered necessary. 

2.3 Once adopted the M&WDPD will complement the strategic minerals and waste policies 
of the County Durham Plan. It will: 

Set out specific policies for a number of minerals and potentially waste management 
processes not addressed by the County Durham Plan; 

Durham County Council Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 2 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 32



It will contain detailed development management policies for minerals and waste which 
will work with the minerals and waste policies set out within the Local Plan; and  
Where needed and justified the M&WDPD will allocate additional non-strategic(i)  minerals 
and waste sites.  

3 When will the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan 
Document be prepared? 

3.1 The timescale for the preparation of the M&WDPD is set out within our revised Local 
Development Scheme (December 2020). Key milestones are anticipated to be: 

Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document - Key Milestones 

Timescale (1) Regulation Activity Stage 

Current stage - Friday 
15th January to Friday 
26th February 2021 

18 Call for Sites and Scope of 
Minerals and Waste 
Policies and Allocations 
Document 

Current 
Stage 1 

  

Current stage - Friday 
15th January to Friday 
26th February 2021 

  Scope of Minerals and 
Waste Policies and 
Allocations document letter 

Current 
Stage 1 

June 2021 to July 2021 18 Consultation on Draft Plan 
which includes consultation 
on draft policies and 
allocations 

2 

November to December 
2021 

19 Consultation on 
Pre-Submission Draft Plan 

3 

March 2022   Submission 4 

1. Please note these timescales reflect our approved Local Development Scheme (December 2020). 

4 When do we need to receive a minerals and waste site allocation proposal by? 

4.1 We are proposing to allow you six weeks to consider which sites you wish to promote 
as allocations through the M&WDPD. We would request that all sites whenever possible are 
submitted through this call for sites and not later in the plan making process. Information 
should be submitted by Friday 26th February 2021. Please note, following review of any 
information submitted we may need to request further information from those submitting site 
proposals. 

i Non-strategic sites are sites which were not considered fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the 
County Durham Plan, for example for minerals such as building stone, surface mined coal sites or 
small-scale waste management facilities. In addition, through the development of the M&WDPD there 
may be justification for seeking to allocate further larger mineral working or waste management facilities 
where a need can be identified, which was not anticipated during the preparation of the County Durham 
Plan. 

3 Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 Durham County Council 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 33



5 How to submit a minerals and waste site allocation proposal? 

5.1 An accompanying form has been prepared for you to complete. We will also accept a 
document submission which addresses the information requirements specified on the form. 
We would however ask that you make use of a similar structure wherever possible to assist 
us in reviewing the submissions. In addition, you will be also able to submit any further 
additional information you consider necessary as part of the site allocation submission 
process. All written submissions should be submitted in Microsoft word.  

5.2 Please return this form or any other submission either:  

by email to spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk 
by post, you can send us your comments to our freepost address (all you need to do is 
write this one line on an envelope - no other address details or postage stamp are 
needed): FREEPOST Spatial Policy; 
or by using our planning consultation portal: https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse 

6 How will we consider minerals and waste site allocation proposals? 

6.1  In considering potential areas for new mineral working and waste management facilities 
we will: 

Follow the guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National 
Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) and Planning Practice Guide (PPG); 

Consider potential allocations in the context of the most up to date information available 
including that included within existing and emerging Local Aggregate Assessments and 
Waste Needs Assessments, where need is applicable; 

Make an assessment of all submitted sites which will be informed by council specialist 
teams including where relevant County Highways, Ecology and Landscape and Design 
Teams and relevant statutory consultees where appropriate e.g. the Environment Agency 
upon surface water, groundwater and flood risk; and 

Assess sites including through Sustainability Appraisal and where applicable a Habitats 
Regulation Assessment. 

6.2 The results of all site assessments will be published alongside relevant stages of the 
M&WDPD. 

7 What information is required to make a submission for a minerals and waste site 
allocation? 

7.1 Submission of key information in support of site proposals is important to assess the 
suitability of a proposed allocation and given the requirement to consult local communities 
and other stakeholders on proposed new minerals and waste sites. Submissions for new 
minerals and waste sites and extensions to existing sites should be accompanied by the 
following details: 

Durham County Council Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 4 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 34

mailto:spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse


Your contact details: your name, address, company name, email address and phone 
number; 

Your status: whether you are you an agent/planning consultant, landowner, mineral or 
waste operator and whether you are representing a client(s); 

Site details: proposed site name; site address/location; and site area in hectares. 
Whether the site been previously nominated as part of a call for sites process in the 
past. If the site has been previously nominated, whether you wish to rely upon your 
previous submission. Whether there any legal/ land ownership constraints that might 
prohibit or delay development coming forward of the site. Whether the landowner is 
supportive of the site being put forward as a potential proposed allocation; 

Nature of development proposed - Minerals Sites:  

Mineral/minerals to be worked (where two or more minerals are found together the 
concurrent working of minerals should be considered); 

Total quantity of each mineral to be extracted over the life of the proposed 
development in tonnes;  

Time period for mineral extraction and restoration in years including a preferred 
start date and end date for extraction;  

Anticipated annual production rate in tonnes for each mineral;  

Broad details of the proposed working and restoration scheme identifying phasing 
of working and restoration;  

Are minerals processing and storage proposed;  

Economic justification addressing the need for the proposed development (if 
applicable); 

An outline of the anticipated economic, environmental and social benefits of the 
proposed development; and 

Geological plan/plans should be provided which clearly identify the extent of the 
deposit to be worked and the potential availability of workable mineral outside the 
proposed allocation; 

Nature of development proposed – Waste Management Sites:  

Type of waste facility proposed (please indicate if temporary or permanent permission 
is required);  

Waste stream or streams to be managed including source of each waste stream to 
be managed if known;  

Tonnage of each waste stream managed per annum;  

5 Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 Durham County Council 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 35



Economic justification, addressing the need for the proposed waste facility and 
proposed markets for any recycled or reprocessed materials from the site; and 

An outline of the anticipated economic, environmental and social benefits of the 
proposed development; 

Transportation:  

Details of likely transportation requirements, including outline of proposed vehicular 
access route to and from the site to the strategic route network and average daily 
HGV movements; and 

Proposals for long term sites should also address the feasibility of rail transport 
where the proposed allocation lies in proximity to existing rail alignments; 

Environmental/Amenity Considerations:  

Details of any relevant mitigation measures proposed, to reduce any impacts of the 
proposal on landscape, biodiversity (including designations and protected species), 
geo-diversity, cultural heritage (including archaeology, listed buildings, conservation 
areas etc), townscape, recreational areas and public rights of way, natural resources 
including agricultural land/soils and water resources including water quality and 
flood risk; 

Details of opportunities for environmental enhancement and community benefits; 
and 

Climate Change adaptation and mitigation measures should also be identified and 
considered where applicable; and 

Employment: An indication of direct employment either created or safeguarded by the 
proposal. 

7.2 Failure to provide the information as set out above may impact upon the Council’s 
ability to assess the suitability of a site and therefore the ability to allocate a site.  

8 Further information 

8.1 Information on all planning policy matters including the statutory development plan for 
County Durham which currently includes the adopted County Durham Plan and supporting 
evidence which was collected during its preparation, remaining saved County Durham Minerals 
Local Plan and County Durham Waste Local Plan saved policies, Neighbourhood Plans and 
the Council's Local Development Scheme (December 2020) can be found on our 
website: https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp. 

8.2 Prior to the submission of any site allocation proposal members of the Spatial Policy 
Team will be happy to discuss any site you may wish to submit.  

Durham County Council Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 6 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 36

https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


8.3 Please contact the Spatial Policy Team should you wish to speak with officers and 
discuss your proposals. The Spatial Policy Team can be contacted by email on 
spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk or by telephone on 03000 263 403.  

9 Alternative Formats 

9.1 Should you wish to receive a copy of the call for sites document in an alternative format 
such as large print, Braille, audio cassette or an alternative language, please call: 03000 
261908, 03000 261921 or 03000 263967. 

7 Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 Durham County Council 

Call for Minerals and Waste Sites 2020 

Page 37

mailto:spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk


 

1 
 

County Durham  
Minerals and Waste  

Policies and Allocations Document  
(M&WDPD)   

Call for Sites 
 

Form Summary and guidance notes: 
 
Before completing and returning this form please read the following: 
 
1. This call for sites is for the forthcoming County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and 
Allocations Document (M&WDPD).  The timetable for this document’s preparation is set out 
in the councils revised Local Development Scheme (December 2020). Once adopted 
following public consultation and examination, this new document form part of the Local Plan 
for County Durham, which also includes the County Durham Plan. This call for sites is part of 
the plan making process conducted by Durham County Council. It is completely separate 
process from the planning application process. 
 
2. Information on this call for sites including whom you can contact to discuss specific site 
proposals is set out in the document which has been published alongside this proforma - A call 
for Minerals and Waste Sites in County Durham (January 2021). 
 
3. The council will consider proposals for new mineral working (specific sites, preferred areas 
or areas of search1) and for waste (specific sites).  
 
4. Any minerals or waste sites submitted through this process will be subject to assessment 
by the council, with this assessment being published alongside the relevant plan making stage. 
Therefore, site proposals cannot be treated confidentially. 
 
5. If you are submitting more than one site, please complete a separate form for each site. 
Please note you are not required to use the form, but we would request that you seek to 
provide the information which has been requested wherever possible. If a form is not 
completed a Microsoft word version of any submission should be provided. You are also 
welcome, to attach additional relevant information in support of your site submission.  
 
6. Please return this form or any other submission either:  

• by email to spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk 
• by post, you can send us your comments to our freepost address (all you need to do 
is write this one line on an envelope - no other address details or postage stamp are 
needed): FREEPOST Spatial Policy 
• or by using our planning consultation portal: https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse 

 
7. Please return your submission by 5pm Friday 26th February 2021. 

 
  

 
1 Planning Practice Guidance: Minerals. Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 27-008-20140306. 

Page 38



 

2 
 

Part A: Contact Details and other key information 
Name  

 
Company/Organisation/Agent 
(where relevant) 

 

Address*  
 
 
 
 

Telephone number*  
 

Email address*  
 

You are…? (Tick any that apply) Agent  
Landowner  
Operator/Developer  
Other (please specify)  

If you are representing a 
client(s), please supply their 
name(s) and address(es):* 
 
 

 
 

 

  (*Responses to questions in italics will not be published). 
 

Part B - Site details (both minerals and waste) 
Proposed site name   
Site address/location of 
proposed allocation  

 

Site OS Grid Reference Northing  Easting  
Site area in hectares  
An Ordnance Survey map clearly showing the precise boundaries of the site being put forward 
should be provided (edged in red). Please show any other adjoining land within the same 
ownership (edged in blue).  (Please attach). 
Has this site been nominated 
as part of a call for sites 
process in the past? If yes, 
please provide details.   

 

If the site has been previously 
nominated, do you wish to rely 
upon your previous 
submission? 

Yes/No 
 

Details: 
 

Are there any legal/ownership 
constraints that might prohibit 
or delay development coming 
forward at this site? 

Yes/No 
 

Details: 

Is the landowner supportive of 
this site being put forward as a 
potential proposed allocation? 

Yes/No Details: 

 
 

 

Page 39



 

3 
 

Part C - Nature of development proposed - Minerals Sites 
Mineral/minerals to be worked (where 
two or more minerals are found together 
the concurrent working of minerals 
should be considered). 

 
 
 

Total quantity of each mineral to be 
extracted over the life of the proposed 
development in tonnes 

 
 
 

Time period for mineral extraction and 
restoration in years (including a 
preferred start date and end date for 
extraction). 

 
 
 
 

Anticipated annual production rate in 
tonnes for each mineral  
 

 
 
 

Broad details of the proposed working 
and restoration scheme identifying 
phasing of working and restoration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Are minerals processing and storage 
proposed? If so please provide details. 

 
 
 
 
 

Economic justification addressing the 
need for the proposed development (if 
applicable). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Please provide an outline of the 
anticipated economic, environmental 
and social benefits of the proposed 
development. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geological plan/plans should be provided which clearly identify the extent of the deposit to be 
worked and the potential availability of workable mineral outside the proposed allocation. 
(Please attach). 

 
Part D- Nature of development proposed - Waste sites 

Type of waste facility proposed 
(please indicate if a temporary e.g. 
landfill/landraise or permanent 
permission is required).  
 
If a temporary permission is required, 
please specify the intended duration. 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

4 
 

Waste stream or streams to be 
managed including source of each 
waste stream to be managed if 
known.  

 
 
 
 

Tonnage of each waste stream 
managed per annum. 

 
 
 
 

Economic justification, addressing 
the need for the proposed waste 
facility and proposed markets for any 
recycled or reprocessed materials 
from the site. 

 
 
 
 

Please provide an outline of the 
anticipated economic, environmental 
and social benefits of the proposed 
development. 

 
 
 
 

 
Part E - Transportation Requirements 

Please provide details of likely 
transportation requirements, including: 

 Average daily HGV movements; 
and 

 An outline of proposed vehicular 
access route to and from the 
site to the strategic route 
network. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Is rail transport feasible? (If so please 
explain) 

 
 

 
Part F - Survey and other issues 

In submitting a site, you are giving permission for an officer (or representatives) of the Council to 
access the site in order to ascertain site suitability. In this context would there be any access 
issues to the site (If yes, please specify). Is an accompanied site visit required? 
 

If yes, please provide contact details of the person who should be contacted to arrange a site 
visit. 
 
 
 
Do you know of any other issues that we should be aware of? 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 41



 

5 
 

Part G – Permission to hold details, GDPR/Freedom of Information and Site Visit 
 

If you are not already on our Local Plans Consultation database, we will need your permission to 
hold your details. Please read the statement below and sign and date in the box below.  
 
I agree that the Spatial Policy Team of Durham County Council can hold the contact details 
I have given, together with the information I have provided in relation to this call for sites 
and any future related responses I provide in response to the preparation of ‘Planning 
Policy’ matters. 
 
Signed  

 
 

Date  

Please note that forms that are not signed and dated will not be accepted 
 
The details that you provide on this Proforma and any additional information supplied is collected 
by Durham County Council as data controller in accordance with the with the requirements of the 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). The GDPR legally controls what data can be 
collected and what can be done with it.  
 
Personal information processed by the Council will be handled in accordance with the Spatial 
Policy Privacy Notice. The Spatial Policy Privacy Notice explains: 

 Who the Spatial Policy Team are and what we do; 
 What type of personal information we collect and how we collect it; 
 What is our power to obtain and use the personal data; 
 What your personal information used for;  
 Whether your personal information will be shared;  
 How we keep your personal information secure; and  
 How long will we keep your personal information and your information rights. 

 
The Spatial Policy Privacy Notice can be found at here2. You can also see the council’s general 
legal information on the council website3. 
 
The submission of information in response to this call for sites may require public disclosure of any 
data received by Durham County Council in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 
2000.   
 
The site-specific information returned in response to this call for sites will be within the public 
domain and will be used to help prepare the M&WDPD. The site-specific information in the forms 
will also be used in discussion with consultees, but the contact information other than the company 
or landowner name contained within Part A of this form will be detached and kept separate.  

 
2 http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25054/Privacy-notice-spatial-policy/pdf/PrivacyNotice-SpatialPolicy.pdf 
3 http://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy 

Page 42



Durham County Council

Parking and Accessibility SPD

Issues and Options Consultation
2020 

Page 43



Page 44



Region

2Introduction1

4Accessibility2

42.1 Parking Provision for Disabled People
52.2 Definition of Accessible Destination

6Destination Parking Standards: Retail, Employment, Leisure, and Other Destinations3

133.1 Cycle Parking
143.2 Electric Vehicle Parking

16Residential Parking Standards4

174.1 Residential Non-allocated and Visitor Parking
174.1.1 Driveway Standards
184.1.2 Cycle, Mobility Scooter, and Motorbike Storage
194.1.3 Electric Vehicle Charging

19Conclusion and Next Steps5

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Contents

Page 45



Introduction

1.1 Parking and accessibility standards are important in managing demand for different types of
transport and in supporting development management to make informed decisions about parking
provision. This document sets out the council’s proposed approach to what these standards should
be and gives the opportunity to provide comments to help shape the final standards.

1.2 Previously the council has set out its parking and accessibility requirements as a more general
guidance document, for developers and officers to have regard to in assessing schemes. As part of
the Examination in Public of the County Durham Plan, which took place in 2019/20, it was
recommended by the Planning Inspector that this guidance be reviewed and set out more formally
as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This would give the document greater status and
make it a supporting document for Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) of the County Durham
Plan. The SPD has been developed in accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and
other relevant guidance and will replace the previous DCC Parking and Accessibility Standards 2019.

1.3 Following on from the Examination in Public, officers have reviewed and updated standards
set out in previous iterations of council guidance on parking and accessibility. This consultation is the
first of two rounds of consultation and seeks comments on the council’s planned approach to specific
parking and accessibility issues and the approach the council proposes to take to resolve them. An
SPD will then be drafted based on responses to this consultation. A second consultation will then be
undertaken on the draft SPD before the document is adopted into council policy.

1.4 If you would like to comment on the proposals, please read and respond to the questions below
by DATE. Responses can be submitted XXXXX

Background

1.5 Parking is an essential element of land-use planning and when designed properly can encourage
sustainable travel. Demand for travel by car can be influenced by the availability of parking for all
types of transport modes and there is a need to strike an appropriate balance between ensuring an
adequate amount of provision and discouraging excessive car use that can undermine cycling, walking
and public transport.

1.6 The approach to car parking provision in order to achieve the necessary balance has changed
considerably over the years. Different standards are generally set at origins and destinations – origins
being residential areas where journeys begin, and destinations being workplaces, town centres and
community facilities people travel to. For some time, setting 'maximum' parking standards in residential
areas was thought to discourage excessive car ownership and encourage sustainable modes of
travel. National policy including Planning Policy Guidance Notes 3 and 13, published in 2000 and
2001 respectively, considered that restricting space in residential areas would reduce car ownership
and therefore increase the use of more sustainable modes of transport as a result. However, it was
found to have little to no impact on car ownership levels and led to other problems. The lack of
off-street provision resulted in vehicles displacing to adjacent streets, pavements and verges which,
in turn, caused safety issues with emergency services being obstructed as well as causing difficulties
for wheelchair and pushchair users.

1.7 In addition to the practical issues caused by an abundance of parked cars in on-street areas,
the high numbers of cars parked on-street also had a negative impact on the public realm and the
appearance of new residential areas. As a result, national policy has since changed. National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 106 clearly states that ‘Maximum parking standards for residential
and non-residential development should only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification
that they are necessary for managing the local road network, or for optimising the density of
development in city and town centres and other locations that are well served by public transport.’

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options2

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 46



1.8 Maximum parking standards were also raised as an issue at the examination in public of the
now adopted County Durham Plan, with the Inspector querying why maximum standards had not
been proposed in the council’s current parking standards. The Inspector’s view was that maximum
standards at destinations should be implemented in accessible locations to encourage people to use
more sustainable transport – to walk, cycle, or take public transport instead of driving. The council
have therefore proposed that parking provision can be restricted where development lies within a
highly accessible location.

Issues and Options

1.9 Having reviewed the relevant guidance on parking and accessibility issues and, taking into
account issues raised with the current Parking and Accessibility Standards at the CDP examination
in public, the council have proposed a number of new standards. These are set out with specific
questions for you to comment on in the following sections.

3Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 47



Accessibility

2.1 Accessibility is important as it gives people more options for how they make their journeys.
Where people are able to walk, cycle, or take public transport to their destination easily, they are less
likely to use the car as often. This has multiple benefits, improving people’s mental and physical
health by enabling them to be more active in the course of their daily lives. Less frequent car use
also improves air quality, combats climate change, and reduces congestion.

2.2 Increased accessibility can also help make our communities more equal. For people who don’t
drive, accessible places enable them to access education and employment opportunities, as well as
leisure and retail. In areas which are only accessible by car, this can lead to less affluent, older, and
younger members of society being isolated and cut off from opportunities.

2.3 Accessibility also includes good design and location of parking. In particular, disabled people
and those with mobility issues benefit from better parking accessibility, as it enables them to access
places they otherwise might not be able to with greater ease.

2.1 Parking Provision for Disabled People

Parking Provision for Disabled Persons

2.4 Parking provision for people with disabilities must be considered as part of any development
proposal and it is the responsibility of the site occupier to make provision under the Equality Act 2010.
New development must provide an adequate amount of parking bays for disabled persons and ensure
that the dimensions are a minimum of 4.8m x 2.4m, plus 1.2m at side and rear to allow wheelchair
access.

2.5 Where non-residential development is concerned, a minimum of two bays will be included for
disabled people, with a minimum 5% of car park bays being for disabled people in car parks of 20
spaces or more.

2.6 Some general design principles for disabled persons bays include:

they should be the nearest bays to a building's main entrance;
when designing bays they should be easily identifiable with clear and consistent directional
signage;
they should be level and next to firm and slip-resistant pedestrian surfaces where possible;
making sure that spaces are well lit;
dropped kerbs should be provided where access is to a pedestrian route;
ensuring there is enough space so that wheelchair users can access vehicles with space available
to manoeuvre a wheelchair (minimum 1.2m between bays, and an additional 1.2m behind bays);
wall mounted/upright signage is required to identify disabled parking bays when ground is covered
in leaves/snow, and;
providing good access to ticket machines where applicable.

2.7 Further guidance on the design and location of parking for mobility impaired persons can be
found in the Department for Transport (DfT) Traffic Advisory Leaflet: Parking for Disabled People,
DETR, 1995. (i)

i https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3695/inclusive-mobility.pdfhttps://tsrgd.co.uk/pdf/tal/1995/tal-5-95.pdf

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options4

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3695/inclusive-mobility.pdf
https://tsrgd.co.uk/pdf/tal/1995/tal-5-95.pdf


Figure 1 Example of Disabled Parking Standards

2.2 Definition of Accessible Destination

2.8 To help guide what parking and accessibility standards should be set and applied, we first need
to define what an accessible destination is.

2.9 The CIHT's Planning for Walking states that people are generally willing to walk 400m to a bus
stop or 800m to a train station. The council’s existing Building for Life SPD also considers 400m to
be a reasonable distance to walk to a bus stop, with developments within or at that distance from a
bus stop being given a better score for design.

2.10 However, proximity to a public transport stop is no guarantee that services will run often
enough to make places accessible. The council therefore proposes that a minimum of two services
an hour is sufficient to enable people to get around without having to wait an excessive amount of
time.

2.11 With these points in mind, the council considers an accessible location to be one which is:

a. within 400m of a bus stop or 800m of a train station; and,
b. where public transport runs at a rate of two per hour or more.

Questions

1. What frequency of public transport services (day time services per hour) should be required
for a location to be considered accessible?

2. Do you agree with the definition of an accessible location proposed by the council?

Please provide reasons for your answers.

5Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 49

https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4465/planning_for_walking_-_long_-_april_2015.pdf


Destination Parking Standards: Retail, Employment, Leisure, and Other
Destinations

3.1 Parking provision at destinations must be sufficient to provide for the needs of the development,
protecting the amenity of the surrounding area by removing any need to park in inappropriate locations,
and supporting town centres by not unnecessarily constraining parking spaces.

3.2 Separate standards have been set for each destination, with the standards grouped into four
tables by type: retail, employment, leisure, and other destinations.

3.3 The destination parking standards have been based on existing appropriate provision relative
to the floor area or usage of the development in question, as appropriate. Where developments are
located in accessible destinations, fewer parking spaces may be required through planning, to be
decided on a case by case basis, taking into account the location and type of development and any
other specific circumstances which are relevant. Furthermore, where destinations are situated in
accessible locations shorter maximum stays may also be implemented by the car park operator to
encourage appropriate turnover.

3.4 Cycle parking requirements have been set with consideration given to both employees and
visitor use, with no visitor cycle parking required where it would not be appropriate - for example, at
bulky goods retailers.

3.5 Electric vehicle (EV) charging has been required at all destinations to encourage and facilitate
use of electric vehicles, with the exception of destinations where it would not be appropriate, for
example, smaller supermarkets where stays are very short. A mix of active and passive chargepoints
are required. Active chargepoints are a full chargepoint ready for use, and passive chargepoints are
ducting and cables laid underground to enable a full or active chargepoint to be installed more easily
and affordably in future. The government has consulted on a change to building regulations to require
specific EV charging provision at all car parks associated with a building. (ii)If these standards are
adopted into building regulations, they would supercede the requirements set out here where the
government requirement is for a greater level of charging provision.

3.6 The following tables sets out the council's destination parking standards, by destination type.

Table 1: Retail Parking Standards

EV ChargingCycle ParkingParking
Requirement

Use ClassLand Use

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff,

1 space per 25
m2 GFA

E/Sui GenerisGeneral Retail

10% passive

AND

Minimum of 2
short stay
spaces for visitors

ii See https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options6

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings


up to 100m2 then
1 space per
400m2

N/a1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff,

1 space per
12.5m2 GFA

ESupermarkets
(Below 1000m2)

AND

Minimum of 2
short stay
spaces for visitors
up to 100m2 then
1 space per
400m2

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff,

1 space per 20m2
GFA

ESupermarkets
(Above 1000m2)

10% passive

AND

Minimum of 2
short stay
spaces for visitors
up to 100m2 then
1 space per
400m2

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per 25m2
GFA

EBulky Goods e.g.
DIY, cash and
carry

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay space
per 5 members of
staff

AND

1 space per 20m2
GFA

ERetail Parks
(including food
and non-food
uses) 10% passive

Minimum of 2
short stay
spaces for visitors

7Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 51



up to 100m2 then
1 space per
400m2

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per
100m2 GFA

Sui GenerisBuilders
Merchants

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

2 spaces per
25m2 GFA

EGarden Centres

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per 25m2Sui GenerisCar Sales

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

AND

3 spaces per
100m2 GFA

Sui GenerisPetrol Stations
with Retail

10% passive

Minimum 2
spaces for
visitors to 100m2
then 1 space per
400m2

Questions

3. Do you agree with the standards for retail destinations?

Please give reasons for your answers.

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options8

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 52



Table 2: Employment Parking Standards

EV ChargingCycle ParkingParking
Requirement

Use ClassLand Use

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered,
secure long

1 space per

18m2 GFA

EOffice
development/Business
parks

10% passivestay space per
5 members of
staff

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered,
secure long

1 space per 50m2ELight Industrial
and Industrial
Estates/Units

10% passivestay space per
5 members of
staff

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered,
secure long

1 space per
100m2 GFA

B8Warehousing/Storage

and Distribution
10% passivestay space per

5 members of
staff

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered,
secure long

1 space per
member of staff
AND

B2Garage
Repair/Servicing

10% passivestay space per
5 members of
staff

1 space per 25m2
GFA

Questions

4. Do you agree with the standards for employment destinations?

Please give reasons for your answers.

9Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 53



Table 3: Leisure Parking Standards

EV ChargingCycle ParkingParking
Requirement

Use ClassLand Use

5% active
AND

2 spaces per 25
bedrooms

1 space per
bedroom

C1Hotels/Motels/Guest
Houses

10% passiveAND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per 8m2
of public space

EPub/Restaurant/Cafe

10% passive

NoneNone1 space per 2
members of staff

Sui GenerisHot Food Takeaway

AND

1 space per 25m2
GFA

5% active
AND

1 space per 5
visitors

1 space per 25m2
GFA

EFitness clubs and
sports facilities

10% passiveAND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

5% active
AND

1 space per 5
visitors

1 space per
150m2

F1Places of Worship

10% passiveAND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options10

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 54



5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay space
per 5 members of
staff

1 space per 3
members of staff

AND

1 space per
12.5m2 of public
space

Sui GenerisCinemas/Theaters

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 space per pitch

AND

1 space per pitch

AND

Sui GenerisCaravan and Camp
Sites

10% passive
1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per 2
members of staff

AND

1 visitor space per
10 pitches

Questions

5. Do you agree with the standards for leisure destinations?

Please give reasons for your answers.

11Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 55



Table 4: Other Destination Parking Standards

EV ChargingCycle ParkingParking
Requirement

Use ClassLand Use

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

2 spaces per
33m2 of public
space

AND
1 space per 10
members of staff

C2Hospitals

10% passive

AND

1 short stay space
per 5 consulting
rooms

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per
treatment room

AND

1 space per 2
members of staff

EDoctors/Dentists/Other
health
practitioners

10% passive

AND

1 short stay space
per 5 consulting
rooms

5% active
AND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 space per 3
units/beds

C2Residential
Care/Nursing
Homes

10% passive

5% active
AND

1 long stay space
per 50 students

1 space per
member of staff

F1Further Education
Colleges

10% passiveANDAND

1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5
members of staff

1 visitor space per
50 pupils

5% active
AND

1 long stay space
per 20 pupils

1 space per
member of
teaching staff

F1/EPrimary and
Secondary
Schools

10% passiveAND
ANDNurseries

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options12

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 56



1 enclosed,
sheltered, secure
long stay
space per 5 staff
members

1 visitor space per
50 pupils

5% active
AND

1 short stay space
per 100m2 GFA

1 space per 16m2
of public space

F2Community
Centres

10% passiveMinimum 4
spaces total

AND

1 space per 2
members of staff

Questions

6. Do you agree with the standards for other destinations?

Please give reasons for your answers.

3.1 Cycle Parking

Cycle Parking

3.7 The council is keen to encourage increased cycling in County Durham. To support this, we are
proposing that cycle parking should be provided at all destinations in accordance with the standards
set out in the table above. This cycle parking should be in a prominent location allowing regular casual
observance and be covered, secured and enclosed, if intended for stays of an hour or more. For
short stay cycle parking, Sheffield stands should be provided as a minimum.

Examples of appropriate cycle parking

13Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 57



Questions

7. Do you think that 1 long stay/secure cycle space cycle per 5 members of staff is about right
for locations where we work?

8. Should all retail destinations have short stay cycle parking for visitors ?

Please give reasons for your answers.

3.2 Electric Vehicle Parking

Electric Vehicle Parking

3.8 The council proposes to require provision of passive chargepoints (laying of cables only) at
10% of all parking bays provided, plus active chargepoints (a full chargepoint including socket) at an
additional 5% of all spaces at destinations. These standards, as set out in Tables 1-4, will apply only
to car parks of twenty spaces or more. Chargepoints should be kept out of corners of car parks and
be located close to pedestrian entrances to make them more accessible and closer to electrical
supply.

3.9 A recent building regulations consultation proposed a requirement of 20% of bays to be equipped
with passive chargepoints in car parks associated with buildings. The council has submitted a response
to this consultation in line with the 15% requirement, and if the proposed requirement is adopted it
would supersede the council requirement. (iii)

iii The consultation and any updates on its progress are available here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options14

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings


3.10 In terms of capacity and technical specification, chargepoints should be delivered in line with
national standards. In advance of building regulations on chargepoints being updated, chargepoints
should meet the technical specifications set out in emerging government policy, available as Technical
Guidance.

Questions

9. Should 15% of all long stay parking spaces be set aside for electric vehicle parking at retail,
employment, leisure and other destinations?

Please give reasons for your answers.

15Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 59

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816913/Annex_C_-_Draft_Technical_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816913/Annex_C_-_Draft_Technical_Guidance.pdf


Residential Parking Standards

4.1 Developers are expected to provide an adequate amount of safe parking which is appropriate
in scale, location and reflects the character of the development. Adequate parking provision for
residents and visitors improves road safety and limits harm to residential amenity from parking on
pavements and verges.

4.2 In formulating proposed residential parking standards, the council has made the assumption
that parking for householders should be provided within the curtilage of a dwelling (the curtilage is
the area of land attached to a house up to the boundary of the property and the land within it). This
is the most obvious and convenient place to locate parking for residents and helps give peace of
mind to vehicle owners as they can easily see their vehicle from their property.

4.3 The council therefore considers that the following number of car parking spaces should be
provided at dwellings, based on the number of bedrooms provided:

Table 5: Residential Parking Standards

Minimum EV
chargepoints

Minimumnon-allocated
off curtilage

Minimum allocated in
curtilage, on driveway
(excl. garages)

1 passive chargepoint
per dwelling

1 per 4 dwellings1 per dwelling1-2 bed

1 passive chargepoint
per dwelling

1 per 4 dwellings1 per dwelling3 bed

1 passive chargepoint
per dwelling

1 per 4 dwellings2 per dwelling4 bed

1 passive chargepoint
per dwelling

1 per 4 dwellings2 per dwelling5 bed

10% active + 10%
passive

N/a1 per 15 students (if
outside CPZ; no
requirement within
CPZ)

Student
accommodation

4.4 These standards would also be applied where dwellings are extended or converted to create
additional bedrooms. This will help ensure that there are sufficient spaces to meet the household’s
needs and prevent inappropriate pavement or verge parking. Increased parking spaces are required
for dwellings with greater numbers of bedrooms on the basis that the more rooms are provided, the
more likely it is that multiple people in the household will drive, and the less practical it becomes for
them to share a car.

4.5 The council proposes that garages should not be counted as a parking space as they may be
used for another purpose or be too small to comfortably accommodate a car. Many residents choose
to use their garage as space for a home gym, utility room, or as storage space. Discounting garages
as parking spaces therefore ensures that all households have a specific minimum number of suitable
car parking spaces. The council's view is that, as they are not considered a parking space, no minimum
size should be specified for garages.

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options16

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 60



4.6 Students are much less likely to need a parking space, so a minimal amount of parking has
been proposed for student accommodation (see Table 5). This will allow for the minority of students
who do bring vehicles, and for visitors and deliveries.

Questions

10. Are the minimum parking allocations for 1-2 bed, 3 bed, 4 bed and 5 bed appropriate for
residential development?

11. Should garages be excluded from counting towards the parking requirement for residences?

Please give reasons for your answers.

4.1 Residential Non-allocated and Visitor Parking

Residential Non-allocated and Visitor Parking

4.7 The council’s view is that non-allocated and visitor parking spaces should be provided as part
of any residential development. This allows them to be designed into the layout of the overall site
and helps prevent issues of people parking on pavements or verges where they cannot find a suitable
space. It also allows for households which have an above average number of cars by providing
additional spaces around the development for their vehicles. Non-allocated parking should be provided
off-curtilage, as it is counterintuitive for visitors to park in a space that feels like part of someone else’s
property. The non-allocated parking requirement has been set at a level that provides sufficient spaces
without dominating the development. The proposed numbers of non-allocated spaces are based on
the council’s experience of working with developers on this issue. The DfT's Manual for Streets (p106)
also confirms that unallocated parking spaces are the best way to provide for visitor parking.

4.8 Non-allocated or visitor parking should therefore be provided at a ratio of one space per four
dwellings.

Questions

12. Does one well designed visitor/non-allocated space per 4 dwellings provide the right flexibility
for visitors and households with excess vehicles?

Please give reasons for your answers.

4.1.1 Driveway Standards

Driveway Standards

4.9 We are proposing to require that driveways be constructed from permeable materials where
appropriate to allow drainage, though driveway materials must not be loose e.g. gravel driveways
would not be permitted. Loose materials used in driveway construction can damage vehicles and
spill out on to the highway, which risks causing a hazard to road users. In a 2017 appeal case brought
against Barnsley Council, a Planning Inspector concluded that gravel driveways in particular pose a

17Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 61



highway safety hazard, and dismissed the appeal.(iv)The driveways in this case would require regular
maintenance to keep gravel off the pavement and road. The Inspector therefore felt that even
conscientious residents would be unlikely to keep up with this maintenance, particularly in the cold
winter months when it is dark outside. Any loose materials which had spilled onto the road would
therefore pose a risk to pedestrians and cyclists in particular.

4.10 Driveways must also be a minimum of 5m long, and 2.7m wide for their entire length (including
any gateways or fencing), to allow safe access and use by residents. Some flexibility will be allowed
where appropriate, for example where driveways are a nonstandard shape, if it can be demonstrated
that safe access can still be provided.

Questions

13. Should loose permeable materials be permitted for use as a driveway surfacing material?

14. Should driveways be a minimum width of 2.7m and should that apply to the driveway's
entire length?

Please give reasons for your answers.

4.1.2 Cycle, Mobility Scooter, and Motorbike Storage

4.11 The council proposes that, where garages are not provided, secure parking suitable for a
cycle, mobility scooter or motorbike be provided instead. The storage space should be 2x2m, to allow
sufficient space for four cycles, or a mobility scooter or motorbike. This will help to encourage cycling
and support people with mobility issues to get around by giving them a specific, appropriate and safe
place to store bicycles, scooters, or mobility aids. This also helps people to make full use of their
homes by freeing up space indoors and preventing liveable rooms and hallways becoming storage
areas for bikes. The multipurpose nature of the storage space also makes it beneficial to residents
with different needs. Appropriate storage for cycles, motorbikes or mobility scooters also helps improve
the amenity of the area by preventing these items from being left out in visible areas.

Question

15. Should developers provide secure parking suitable for a cycle, mobility scooter or motorbikes
where a property is not built with a garage? If so, are you happy with the proposed
dimensions?

Please give reasons for your answers.

iv Appeal Ref: APP/R4408/W/17/3170851

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options18

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 62



4.1.3 Electric Vehicle Charging

Electric Vehicle Charging

4.12 Some level of provision for electric vehicle (EV) chargepoints should be made. The government
has made a commitment that no new petrol, diesel, or hybrid cars should be sold from 2030 onwards,
so providing charging facilities now will help futureproof new housing in anticipation of this change.
Chargepoints are costly to install, so the council is proposing that passive chargepoints (suitable
cabling which will allow a chargepoint to be installed at a future time) be provided initially.

4.13 The council proposes that one passive EV chargepoint should be provided per new dwelling
(i.e. cabling would be provided). This costs an estimated £453 per dwelling, and would allow installation
of a chargepoint in future for homeowners without putting prohibitive upfront costs on housing
developers. Installing a chargepoint as part of the construction of a house costs approximately £976
compared to £2,040 to retrofit one onto an existing home.(v) Furthermore, grants are available to
homeowners which cover up to 75% of the cost of chargepoint installation. (vi) Cabling should be
capable of supporting a 7kw/hr charge in line with emerging government changes to building regulations
on chargepoints.(vii)

4.14 Where an active chargepoint is provided, two sockets should be included to allow provision
for households with multiple vehicles and/or visitors.

Questions

16. Should the appropriate enabling electrical cabling for a double-socket EV chargepoint be
provided on all new residential properties?

Please give reasons for your answers.

5.1 The standards set out in this consultation have been prepared with regard to national policy,
best practice, and the Inspector's recommendations as discussed at the Examination in Public of the
County Durham Plan. They define what an accessible location is and allow parking to be restricted
at accessible locations where appropriate, to encourage more active and sustainable travel. The
document includes specific standards for disabled persons parking, parking at origins and destinations
of journeys, and parking standards for cycling and electric vehicles.

Next Steps

5.2 Following this consultation, officers will review and consider all of the comments made. These
comments and our responses will be published and changes made where possible. We will give
reasons where it has not been possible to make a change. The revised Parking and Accessibility
Supplementary Planning Document will then be published for a second round of consultation as soon
as practicable.

v DfT (2019) Electric Vehicle Charging in Residential and Non-Residential Buildings, p7 (available
here:https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf)

vi https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-grants-for-low-emission-vehicles
vii See

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816913/Annex_C_-_Draft_Technical_Guidance.pdf

19Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Parking & Accessibility: Issues & Options

Page 63

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-grants-for-low-emission-vehicles
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816913/Annex_C_-_Draft_Technical_Guidance.pdf


Braille Audio Large print

Cdpconsultation@durham.gov.uk
03000 260 000

Page 64



 1 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

RED/Spatial Policy Team 

Lead Officer 
 

Peter Ollivere 

Title 
 

Parking and Accessibility Standards 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

14.12.20 

Start Date 
 

January 2020  

Review Date 
 

When required 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 
The Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will 
address both residential and non-residential parking and accessibility in County 
Durham. The Local Plan for County Durham (the County Durham Plan) was 
adopted in October 2020, with Policy 21 setting out some basic criteria for car, 
cycle, and electric vehicle parking. Policy 21 also states that a full Parking and 
Accessibility SPD will be prepared having regard to the principles set out in the 
policy, which would then be a material consideration in assessing development 
proposals. The Plan is the subject of its own EQIA.  

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 
Anyone who lives in, works in, studies in, visits, or has an interest in County 
Durham may be interested in the Parking and Accessibility SPD. This includes the 
general public, Council Staff, Elected Members, developers and landowners, 

Page 65



 2 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

various partners, stakeholders from various sectors and interest groups or 
communities, and statutory consultees as defined by the Government. 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 
Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N ? 

Religion or Belief 
 

N ? 

Sex (gender) 
 

N ? 

Sexual orientation 
 

N ? 

Transgender 
 

N ? 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 
Negative impact is not anticipated as the strategy aims to enhance transport 
networks. 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  
 advance equality of opportunity, and  
 foster good relations between people from different groups? 

 

Page 66



 3 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

There is potential for both direct and indirect positive impacts for all of the 
protected characteristics groups. This Equalities Impact Assessment includes 
examples of positive effects from the SPD. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 
The Parking and Accessibility SPD aims to improve parking and access in the 
county and therefore help its communities, economy and environment. It aims for 
equality of opportunity across all equality protected characteristics. There is 
national, regional and local evidence available which shows that people from 
protected groups can face barriers in employment, access to services and 
information, participation in decision making and in consultation. 
 
Evidence from the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) suggests for example that 
deprivation links to protected characteristics, such as children from deprived areas 
being more prone to obesity or other health problems. Access to education, health, 
community, and other facilities can help with health problems and improve quality 
of life, and improvement of sustainable travel modes and uptake in their use will 
improve the quality of life for all by reducing air pollution and congestion. Census 
2011 and equality related evidence from the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) 
has been used in section two of this assessment. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2389/2011-Census 
 
Extensive consultation is due to take place on the Parking and Accessibility SPD 
and the preceding Issues and Options paper.  

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Principal Policy Officer REAL 
 

Date:xx.xx.20 

Page 67



 4 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 
service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 
equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 68



 5 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 
relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 
differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 
advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 
particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 
conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The Parking and 
Accessibility SPD aim to 
reduce by ensuring that 
there are standards for 
residential and non-
residential parking in the 
county. 
 
The SPD aims to address 
the active travel needs of 
young people, whether the 
very young or the student 
population by providing for 
cycle parking at educational 
establishments and student 
accommodation.  
 
The SPD also aims to 
increase the participation of 
the working population in 
sustainable travel and 
provide more secure cycle 
parking at workplaces. It 
also provides adequate 
workplace parking for EV 
and non-EV modes. 
 
The SPD also covers 
Nursing and Older Person’s 
Accommodation. 
The SPD covers public 
transport accessibility which 
can be beneficial for 
younger and older people 
who may be less likely to 
have their own cars. 

Between 2001 and 2011 the 
population of County Durham 
increased from 493,678 to 
513,242, an increase of 4.0% 
which is higher than the 2.2% 
rise seen in the region but 
lower than the 7.1% seen 
across England & Wales. 
 
The 2016 mid-year population 
estimate for County Durham 
shows a population of 
521,800 an increase of 4,027 
people since mid-2014 and a 
5.9% increase since 2001. 
County Durham has 
experienced a higher rate of 
growth than the north east 
region (3.3% over the period 
2001-2015), but a 
considerably lower rate of 
growth when compared to 
England as a whole (10.8% 
from 2001-2015). The 2014-
based SNPP for County 
Durham projects population 
growth from 517,773 in 2014 
to 565,972 in 2039, a change 
of 48,199 (9.3%). Over the 
plan period (2016-2035) the 
ONS baseline population is 
projected to grow from 
522,218 to 560,200, a change 
of 37,982 (7.3%). 
 
 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 
 
2) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation with 
both older people 
and young people 
should take place 
as part of the 
consultation on the 
SPD. 

Page 69



 6 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The Parking and 
Accessibility SPD aims to 
reduce inequalities by 
setting out standards for 
disabled parking in the 
county. 
 
The SPD ensures that all 
new developments in 
County Durham comply with 
the Disability Discrimination 
Act 2005 by providing 
appropriate levels of car 
parking for those with 
mobility issues. 
 
Access for emergency 
vehicles will be improved as 
maximum parking standards 
will not feature in new 
developments. The 
document is more focused 
on ensuring that new 
developments provide an 
appropriate level of parking. 
Emergency vehicles such as 
ambulances may be used 
more by those with 
disabilities. 
 
The design hierarchy 
specifically puts mobility 
impaired and disabled 
persons at the top, followed 
by pedestrians; cyclists; 
public transport users;  then 
car drivers, particularly of 
electric cars. 

County Durham has a higher 
percentage of people with 
long term health issues and 
disabled people than the 
North East average, 
representing nearly a quarter 
of the overall population.  
 
The INA identified that 
“Personal safety” is the 
highest critical need identified 
for people with learning 
difficulties. 
 
New development must 
provide an adequate amount 
of disabled persons 
bays and ensure that the 
dimensions meet the 
minimum requirements set 
out in the SPD . As per the 
quantity of parking standards, 
where non-residential 
development is concerned, a 
minimum of two bays will be 
included for disabled people, 
with a minimum 5% of car 
park bays being for disabled 
people in car parks of 20 
spaces or more.  

As 1) above 
 
2) Reasonable 
adjustments to 
wording will be 
made where 
required. 
 
3) Engagement 
with disability 
groups will be 
carried out as part 
of the consultation 
process. 
 
4) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation with 
both older people 
and disabled 
people should take 
place as part of the 
consultation on the 
SPD. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Page 70



 7 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

N/A 
 
 
 

N/A  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities  by ensuring that 
development is accessible 
to all. 
 
The design hierarchy 
specifically puts mobility 
impaired (which could 
include pregnant women 
and people with young 
children) persons at the top, 
followed by pedestrians; 
cyclists; public transport 
users; then car drivers, 
including of electric cars. 

The SPD advocates 
measures to improve 
accessibility by public 
transport, and for those with 
limited mobility. 
 

As 1) above 
 
2) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation will 
take place as part 
of the consultation 
on the Standards 
with the Access for 
All Group. 
 
3) Consideration 
will be given to 
parking for parents 
and children in 
drafting the SPD 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by ensuring that 
public and sustainable travel 
is accessible to all. 
 
The SPD covers Places of 
Worship and Community 
Centres which can be 
associated with different 
cultures and ethnicity. 
 
 
 

In County Durham ethnic 
minority communities are a 
relatively small proportion of 
the population. According to 
the 2011 Census, 98.1% of 
Durham’s population is white 
British. 1.9% is ‘other ethnic 
group’, the largest component 
of this being mixed race and 
Asian. We also have a 
significant population of 
Gypsies and Travellers who 
are either migrant or settled in 
the County. 
 
 

As 1) above 
 
2) Translation and 
interpretation 
requests will be 
considered in line 
with corporate 
guidance. 
 
3) Consultation 
should include 
Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller wardens 
to ensure that 
those communities 
are aware of the 
document and 

Page 71



 8 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

given opportunity 
to comment. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by ensuring that 
public and sustainable travel 
is accessible to all. 
 
The Standards cover Places 
of Worship and Community 
Centres.  
 

In County Durham 72 percent 
of people state their religion 
as Christian; around 0.2% 
percent as Buddhist; 0.1% 
Hindu; 0.40% Muslim, 0.11% 
Sikh, 0.04% Jewish and 27 
percent as having either no 
religion or not stating their 
religion (Census 2011). 

As 1) above 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to improve 
parking and accessibility for 
both men and women. 
Equality of opportunity for all 
is an overall aim. 
 
The SPD includes themes 
which are relevant to gender 
such as employment, 
accessibility, and public 
transport accessibility. 

There are 251,280 (49 
percent) men and 261,962 (51 
percent) women living in 
County Durham (Census 
2011).  There is a higher 
proportion of women in older 
age groups (aged 70+).   
 
 

As 1) above 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by encouraging 
sustainable travel and 
making it accessible to all. 
 
 
 

No accurate data is available 
about the number of lesbian, 
gay and bisexual people living 
in County Durham. However 
Government and Stonewall 
estimates state that between 
5 percent and 7 percent of the 
population is lesbian, gay or 
bisexual (LGB). This would 
amount to between 25,000 

As 1) above 

Page 72



 9 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

and 35,000 people in County 
Durham. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 
What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The issues of personal 
safety, crime and fear of 
crime are relevant to 
transgender people and can 
be affected by accessibility. 
 
 

We have no accurate 
information on transgender 
populations. 
 
Transgender – lack of local 
information/evidence on 
transgender issues; privacy 
and data protection. 

As 1) above 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 
This is an equality impact assessment of the Parking and Accessibility SPD which 
has been produced in line with Government policy. The SPD aims to provide an 
appropriate level of parking for cars and bikes at origins and destinations of 
journeys, and sets basic accessibility standards. The SPD will be prepared in line 
with the County Durham Plan. It aims to promote equality through its objectives 
and particularly better access to developments in the county,therefore making 
communities more sustainable with greater options for how they travel. 
 
The Parking and Accessibility SPD has potential to have impacts on many 
protected characteristic groups but the aims and objectives should have a broadly 
positive impact on all groups. 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 
Parking standards are important to make development accessible and 
communities more sustainable. Sustainable communities are communities in 
which people wish to live work and spend time - “They meet the diverse needs of 
existing and future residents, are sensitive to their environment, and contribute to a 
high quality of life. They are safe and inclusive, well planned, built and run, and 
offer equality of opportunity and good services for all.” 
 

 

Action Plan 

Page 73



 10 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan 
will the 
action 
appear? 

1) Issues and Options 
document to be consulted upon 
and take into account any 
further comments on content or 
wording. 

Policy Officer, 
Spatial Planning 
Team 
 
Spatial Policy 
Manager 

 January-April 
2021 

Consultation 
draft SPD 

2) Include a succinct section at 
the start of the SPD document 
to explain that the document 
can be provided in different 
formats, can be translated to 
support readers with reviewing 
its content. 

Policy Officer, 
Spatial Planning 
Team 
 
Spatial Policy 
Manager 

2021 Consultation 
draft SPD 

3) SPD to be consulted upon 
once drafted and any comments 
on content or wording to be 
taken into account. 

Policy Officer, 
Spatial Planning 
Team 
 
Spatial Policy 
Manager 

Late 2021 Final 
document 

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 N/a 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 Prior to Adoption 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 
 

Date: xx.xx.xx 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 
a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 74



           

Cabinet 

16 December 2020 

Quarter Two, 2020/21  

Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

The impact of COVID-19 

2 A highly infectious coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 which can cause the 
respiratory disease COVID-19 has spread rapidly across the world 
during 2020. This resulted in a global pandemic being declared by the 
World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020. 

3 Significant restrictions to normal ways of life, travel and business have 
been put in place by the government to try to contain the spread of the 
virus, minimise deaths and prevent COVID-19 cases overwhelming our 
health and social care systems.  

4 Durham County Council has a public health role and is at the forefront of 
responding to the pandemic within the county. Restrictions that have 
been introduced to contain the spread of the virus have also affected a 
number of council services. Some buildings had to be closed and a 
number of services have moved online. It was necessary for the council 
to adapt and we have significantly changed our service provision and 
ways of working. Communities and businesses within the county have 
been impacted by the pandemic and much of our work since March has 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



been to respond to these needs and develop plans for future recovery. 
Gold command arrangements were activated nationwide to respond to 
the emergency. Locally, this involved the council working in partnership 
with other agencies on the local resilience forum which covers both 
County Durham and Darlington to protect our communities and support 
those affected by the pandemic. 

5 The COVID-19 surveillance dashboard can be accessed here.  

Performance Reporting  

6 This performance report is structured around the three externally 
focused results-based ambitions of the County Durham Vision 2035 
alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme contained within the Council 
Plan that was recently approved. It also includes an overview of the 
impact of COVID-19 on council services, our staff and residents. 

More and Better Jobs 

7 The UK economy suffered its biggest slump on record between April 
and June with GDP falling by 20.4% as coronavirus lockdown measures 
pushed the country into its first recession in 11 years.  

8 As the national lockdown was gradually eased throughout June and 
July, pent-up consumer demand, growing consumer confidence as 
COVID-19 cases fell and government economic policies (e.g. Eat Out to 
Help Out, the temporary cut in VAT for the hospitality and leisure sector) 
led to increased economic activity. 

9 However, economists still remain concerned and are forecasting a 
prolonged recession lasting until spring 2021 as infections increase and 
tougher restrictions are introduced to contain the virus. Increased local 
restrictions were introduced in County Durham and six other 
neighbouring authorities at the end of September and the whole North 
East region was placed into the high alert category when the national 
three tier system was introduced for England in mid-October. More 
recently we have entered a second national lockdown in response to a 
second wave of infections. 

10 In addition, the impact of the virus over the coming winter months and 
the outcome of Brexit negotiations are continuing to contribute to 
economic uncertainty.  

11 Across the county, and in line with the national picture, the employment 
rate has marginally increased. However, with most recent data being for 
Summer 2020, this rate has yet to show any significant COVID-19 
impact due to the government’s employment support package being in 
place – measures which are supporting a third of eligible jobs (furlough) 

Page 76



and three quarters of self-employed people (income support scheme) 
across the county. 

12 The Universal Credit claimant count gives a more up to date picture of 
unemployment related claims to the end of September. This shows a 
significant increase, particularly in the 16-24 age range (a 62% increase 
over the last six months which equates to almost 2,000 young people). 
Retail vacancy rates have increased in many of our town centres. There 
has been an estimated loss of £445 million in local economy spend in 
our leisure, tourism and hospitality sector. These economic impacts will 
have a knock-on effect on poverty and put increased pressure on our 
communities. Pre-COVID data placed us within the top 40% most 
deprived upper-tier authorities across England.  

13 To mitigate against these challenges, we are continuing to support 
employees and businesses through a variety of projects and grants, with 
a specific focus on addressing inequality across employment for those 
aged 16-24. We have developed an agile economic recovery plan and 
are identifying a pipeline of investment projects which will stimulate the 
economy. We are also developing employability programmes to support 
those who have been made unemployed due to the coronavirus crisis.   

Long and Independent Lives  

14 COVID-19 is continuing to impact on all our daily lives, and it remains a 
challenging time for people of all ages in relation to their physical and 
mental health – particularly with increasing isolation and consequences 
of the worsening economic situation. 

15 Poverty pressures remains a major issue and we expect the situation to 
deteriorate over the coming months. With an estimated one in four 
children across the county living in relative poverty, and 6% of children 
(more than 4,000) being eligible for, but not claiming, free school meals, 
we have put in place a programme of action to help mitigate poverty 
pressures – including funding a half term holiday scheme to support 
families reliant on free school meals.  

16 We have also successfully improved outcomes for vulnerable children 
and their families with services which are joined up and responsive to 
their needs, and we remain on track to achieve ‘significant and 
sustained outcomes’ for around 6,000 families as part of our stronger 
families programme.  

17 However, the pandemic’s detrimental impact on mental well-being is 
causing concern, with more people (across all age groups) seeking 
support through primary and secondary mental health services and 
young people with a history of mental health issues reporting increased 
anxiety, isolation, a loss of coping mechanisms and a loss of motivation. 

Page 77



18 Our focused activity across mental and physical well-being, smoking 
quitters (particularly pregnant women and new mothers) and 
breastfeeding is continuing to make a difference to the lives of our 
residents. A lower proportion of mothers are smoking at time of delivery 
and a greater percentage breastfeeding compared to the same period 
last year.  

19 Although referrals across adult social care have returned to their pre-
pandemic levels, and most of our older people care homes reported no 
or few issues with COVID-19 infection, PPE or staffing (as at end of 
September), there is a GP referral backlog of more than 47,000 urgent 
and non-urgent secondary care. In addition, we are now facing the 
significant challenge of a second wave. To help mitigate its impact, we 
are continuing to provide co-ordinated and targeted support to residents, 
staff and care providers operating in the county. 

Connected Communities – Safer focus  

20 In relation to keeping children and young people safe, there are many 
positives across this area. We continue to perform well in relation to the 
timeliness of processing statutory referrals (first contact) and single 
assessments (and are carrying out audits to ensure quality of 
assessments remains consistently high).  

21 However, we are experiencing budget and placement pressures as 
demand for children’s social care remains high, with an increasing trend 
in the number of children on a child protection plan and the highest 
recorded number of children looked after (CLA). We are due to publish 
our new Sufificency Strategy shortly which will set out how we will 
relieve pressures caused by the increase in CLA – evident regionally 
and nationally and partly caused by the closure of family courts during 
lockdown. We haven’t seen an increase in safeguarding referrals once 
schools re-opened and are continuing to explore the reasons for this 
and understand impact of changes implemented at the front door over 
the last year (including daily screening of all domestic abuse incidents) 
which will also have impacted upon lower referral levels than last year, 
through our Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub.  

22 Although overall crime levels have fallen slightly, ‘violence against the 
person’ offences and anti-social behaviour have both increased. Most of 
this increase was COVID-related.  

23 During quarter two, we introduced some new initiatives to mitigate 
against the challenges we face. For example, a new triage system for 
domestic abuse incidents is now operational, the child exploitation 
vulnerability tracker has been expanded to all children (not just those 
deemed at high risk) and we continue to take steps to improve water 
safety both in Durham City and countywide. 

Page 78



Connected Communities – Sustainable Communities focus 

24 Overall environmental cleanliness levels remain good, with levels of 
litter, detritus and dog fouling all lower than last year (based on a 
sample survey), and a number of initiatives in place to improve our local 
environment. However, we have noted an increase in fly-tipping 
incidents.  

25 Across the county, carbon emissions continue to significantly decrease 
as we generate more energy from renewable sources, support 
businesses to become energy efficient and reduce consumption (since 
the start of the pandemic, business closures, reduced levels of road 
traffic and people staying at home have also had an impact). We 
continue to work towards becoming carbon neutral by 2050 and an 
Ecological Response Plan is being developed to complement the 
county’s Climate Emergency Response Plan. 

26 Although recent data shows traffic levels have returned to 85-90% of 
pre-COVID volumes, and bus passenger numbers to around 50%, we 
are expecting this to decrease as we enter a second national lockdown. 
Cycling figures have doubled across the county. 

27 Presentations to our Housing Solutions Service have increased and the 
complex needs of clients alongside a reduction in available property is 
making it difficult to secure accommodation. In addition, we are 
concerned there may be a further increase towards the end of the 
2020/21 as we near the lifting of the government’s eviction ban. We 
continue to work across the sector to minimise the impact. 

An Excellent Council 

28 Since the start of the pandemic, the council has continually adapted its 
service provision and ways of working to help slow the spread of 
COVID-19, prevent our health and social care systems being 
overwhelmed, and protect our residents and staff.    

29 Although service provision and ways of working continue to be impacted 
and some non-essential services remain closed or are being delivered 
remotely, we successfully reinstated 23 services during quarter two. 
There have been unusual spikes in demand across some services due 
to the pandemic – such as more noise complaints as residents spend 
more time at home. 

30 To safeguard our employees, we instructed all staff to work from home 
where this is possible, put steps in place to manage and control 
transmission risks for those essential employees unable to work from 
home and offered free influenza jabs to all employees. We are aware of 
the emotional toll the pandemic is taking on our teams, and in addition to 

Page 79



the support mechanisms we have in place to help our employees, we 
are working with other organisations across the county to identify further 
actions which could potentially support staff and increase resilience 
during a second wave. 

31 Across the council, we are successfully managing absence. Despite the 
pandemic, sickness levels remain broadly in line with last year and four 
in five employees have recorded sickness of five days or less over the 
latest 12-month period (64% of staff have recorded no sickness over the 
same period – higher than last year). Our learning and development 
programme has been re-introduced to support our staff, which includes 
249 people employed in an apprenticeship post. Our apprenticeship 
programme is also upskilling 209 employees and we recently registered 
the highest number of apprenticeship starts in any year (272 
employees).     

32 During quarter two, we continued with our programme of cultural 
change, digital development, training and organisational development. 
This included expanding our online service delivery and developing 
digital alternatives to face-to-face contact. More residents are creating 
online accounts, participating in council meetings remotely and having 
their say through virtual consultation events. Our community support 
hub remains in place to help those who are clinically vulnerable, 
experiencing hardship or who need help when self-isolating, and we 
continue to provide financial assistance to both residents and 
businesses. 

33 However, we are preparing for a challenging winter with considerable 
uncertainties facing service delivery and income - including maintaining 
the additional support arrangements we have put in place to help 
residents longer term. We continue to face significant financial pressure 
resulting from the pandemic - additional costs incurred and loss of 
income are forecasted to exceed £100 million. The impact is being 
supported by the government although at this stage there is a 
forecasted shortfall in funding of around £30 million. We expect that the 
Income Guarantee Scheme could provide £6 million of additional 
support which will reduce the forecasted shortfall. We, alongside all local 
government representative bodies, are continuing to lobby government 
for additional financial support.   

 

Risk Management 

34 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 

Page 80



improvement projects. Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering 
the ambitions and how we are managing them.  

Recommendation 

35 That Cabinet considers the overall position and direction of travel in 
relation to quarter two performance, the impact of COVID-19 on 
performance, and the actions being taken to address areas of 
underperformance including the significant economic and well-being 
challenges because of the pandemic. 

Author 

Jenny Haworth      Tel:  03000 268071 

 

 

 

  

Page 81



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications 

of climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 82



 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Two, 2020/21 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 83



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(a) Do residents have good job prospects?   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Middlesbrough 10.4% 

South Tyneside 9.4% 

Hartlepool 9.1% 

Sunderland 8.3% 

Gateshead 7.7% 

Newcastle upon Tyne 7.7% 

Redcar and Cleveland 7.6% 

Darlington 7.2% 

Stockton-on-Tees 7.2% 

County  Durham 6.6% 

North Tyneside 6.5% 

Northumberland 6.0% 

 

No. of 

claimants 
(16-64 years) 

 
Sep-20 

21,515 

Sep-19 

12,290 

Age band Sep-20  Sep-19          Increase 

16-24  4,995  2,890  +2,105    +73% 

25-49  11,820  6,655  +5,165    +78% 

50-54  1,690  1,020  +670     +66% 

55-59  1,655  930  +725     +78% 

60-64  1,355  795  +560     +70% 

Employment Rate 
(APS Jul-19 - Jun-20) 

 

72.1% 
marginal increase 

in line with national and 

regional trends 

Bishop Auckland

City of Durham

Easington

North Durham

North West Durham

Sedgefield

16 - 64
years

7.0

4.3

8.5

7.2

6.3

6.8

18 - 24
years

12.4

3.4

16.1

13.6

13.6

13.6

16 - 64 
years

2.7

2.1

2.8

3.0

2.6

2.8

18 - 24 
years

3.8

1.8

4.9

5.2

5.2

5.4

Percentage point change 

since Mar-20 

Claimant rate  

Sep-20 

Unemployment Rate 
 

          APS  Labour Force Survey Estimate 

(Jul-19 – Jun-20)          (Jun-20 – Aug-20) 
 

     5.5%               7% 
marginal decrease    marginal increase 

 

national redundancy rate  (June to August) 

8.2 per 1,000 employees  

(3.9 per 1,000 employees in March) 

 

Men 

9.0 per 1,000 employees 

Women 

7.3 per 1,000 employees 
Claimant 

Count 
People claiming 

unemployment 

related benefits 
 

P
age 84



More and Better Jobs  

1 The ambition of More and Better Jobs is linked to the following key questions:   

(a) Do residents have good job prospects? 

(b) Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

(c) How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

(d) Do our young people have access to good quality education and 

training?  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

2 Our June 2020 employment rate has marginally increased which reflects the 

regional and national trends.  

3 However, employment data is reported in arrears so we have produced an 

experimental estimate using regional data from the Labour Force Survey. This 

will allow us to fully understand the impact of COVID-19 on the employment 

rate. We have estimated the August 2020 employment rate for County 

Durham to be 70.6% which is below both regional and national rates and has 

yet to show any significant impact from COVID-19 due to the support provided 

by the furlough and income support schemes. 

4 At the beginning of the pandemic there was a significant impact on the number 

of people claiming employment benefits and there are now nearly 10,000 more 

claimants aged 16-64 compared to September 2019. Since this initial increase 

between March and May, the claimant count has remained relatively static and 

currently stands at 6.6%. This trend is reflected both regionally and nationally, 

with County Durham currently having the third lowest rate in the region.  

5 COVID-19 has significantly impacted youth unemployment. In the six months 

ending 30 September, 16-24 year old claimant numbers increased from 3,075 

to 4,995 (+62%) – equating to a September claimant rate of 8.3% of the 16-24 

population which is higher than both the same period last year (4.8%) and the 

national rate (7.6%), but is lower than the North East (9.1%).  

6 Across the county in July, around one third of eligible employments were 

‘furloughed’ (approximately 69,000 jobs) and three quarters of self-employed 

people were being supported by the Self Employment Income Support 

Scheme (approximately 14,800 people).  

7 At the end of quarter one, the government announced changes to the furlough 

scheme – with a tapering down of support from the end of July to 31 October 

2020 when the scheme was to be closed (80% wage support in August, 70% 

Page 85



September and 60% October). The scheme has since been extended until the 

end of March in line with a new national lockdown. However, once this support 

is removed we expect to see a significant impact on employment. 

8 The national redundancy rate has increased to 8.2 per 1,000 employees (June 

to August) from 3.9 per 1,000 employees in March. The rate per 1,000 

employees is higher for men than women (9.0 compared to 7.3). 

9 A survey of British businesses1 between 14 September and 19 September 

found more than a third of employers (37%) are likely to make staff 

redundancies in the next three months. Although latest data (July to 

September) shows UK job vacancies have increased (up 11% compared to 

June to August), it remains 42% lower than the same period last year.  

10 Since its launch during quarter one, County Durham Jobs Fuse (an initiative 

with the National Careers Service and the Department for Work and Pensions) 

has continued to support both employees and employers in relation to 

downsizing. Various engagement methods are being utilised due to workers 

being furloughed and place-based visits aren’t available. 

11 Referrals to employability programmes, which are now being delivered 

digitally, have significantly reduced due to JobCentre Plus suspending the 

requirement for clients to attend employability courses and adopting a ‘lighter 

touch’ to job search activity. 

12 During quarter two, at least 150 full time equivalent jobs were created by 

Morrisons at Dalton Park and 1,000 permanent and 1,500 seasonal jobs by 

Amazon at Integra 61 at Bowburn. In addition, recruitment has started for 100 

jobs created to carry out the 2021 Census - as the first Digital First census, we 

expect three quarters of responses to be completed online, although paper 

copies will be available.  

13 The County Durham Economic Partnership is assessing the economic 

implications of COVID-19 to assist businesses to restart and grow. It will focus 

on six key areas: business support, employability and skills,  infrastructure, 

intelligence, strategy and lobbying, and communication. An update will be 

provided during quarter three. 

 

 

 
1 commissioned by the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS)  

Page 86



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(b) Is County Durham a good place to do business  

Business Durham 
Activity 

Jul-Sep 
2020 

Compared to  

last year 

inward investments secured 0 2 ↔ 

businesses engaged 422 202 � 

floor space occupied 93%   86%       � 

GVA from jobs created or 
safeguarded (million) 

£16.2 £12.4 � 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

9.3%

22.6%

12.9%

9.5%

7.8%

16.4%

10.0%

22.3%

26.8%

9.2%

11.6%

22.5%

16.1%

12.1%

2.7%

10.3%

2.6%

5.9%

Barnard Castle

Bishop Auckland

Chester-le-Street

Consett

Crook

Durham City

Ferryhill

Newton Aycliffe

Peterlee

Seaham

Shildon

Spennymoor

Stanley

Arnison Centre

Dragonville

Dalton Park

Tindale

Hermiston

Vacant 2020 Vacant 2019

0.0%

4.8%

6.3%

9.1%

3.5%

13.4%

5.6%

1.0%

4.1%

2.0%

1.1%

1.5%

3.4%

0.0%

0.0%

3.8%

0.0%

0.0%

Barnard Castle

Bishop Auckland

Chester-le-Street

Consett

Crook

Durham City

Ferryhill

Newton Aycliffe

Peterlee

Seaham

Shildon

Spennymoor

Stanley

Arnison Centre

Dragonville

Dalton Park

Tindale

Hermiston

additional information on businesses is 

available via Durham Insight 
 

3 Target Business 

Improvement 

schemes completed 
4 FTEs created / 

safeguarded 

63 new businesses 

supported by Community 

Economic Development team 

County Durham Plan approved 

Jade Business 

Park complete 

COVID-19 financial 

support to businesses  

(since March 2020)

Business Support 
Grants

Local Discretionary 
Grants

Business Interruption 
Loan Scheme

Bounce Back Loan 
Scheme

Number of 
businesses

8,862

701

360

9,911

£'millions

99

5

91

262

V
a
c
a
n

c
y
 r

a
te

 

T
e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 c
lo

s
u

re
 d

u
e
 t

o
 C

O
V

ID
-1

9
 

D
u

rh
a
m

 C
it

y
 

 F
o

o
tf

a
ll
 

P
age 87



Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

14 The Council widened eligibility for the Local Discretionary Grants Scheme 

enabling hundreds more businesses to be supported across the county. 

Through this scheme we have awarded over £5 million to around 700 

businesses. 

15 Business Durham continues to support businesses through the pandemic and 

recently produced and circulated a Business Support brochure which 

signposts businesses to programmes that can help with their resilience and 

recovery plans.   

16 The pandemic has resulted in more business engagement, partly driven by 

collaboration with Business Durham and our Revenues Team to expand the 

retail, hospitality and leisure and local discretionary grants. 

17 During quarter two, two investments were made through the Finance Durham 

Fund to support business growth. £750,000 was invested in Growth Capital 

Ventures (GCV) to develop its three main business units and enable a move 

to larger offices within the county. £250,000 was invested in Power Roll, a 

developer of ultra-low-cost and lightweight flexible film, for energy generation 

and storage. 

18 COVID-19 has prevented enterprise activity being delivered face-to-face. 

Consequently, Business Durham has developed a virtual delivery programme. 

268 students were engaged online in relation to the Future Business 

Magnates (FBM) scheme – drawing to a close the FBM 2020 competition and 

recognising the students efforts. Virtual workshops launched the Durham 

Ambitious Business Starts (DABS) project in June and planning is underway 

for the first DABS Festival of Enterprise (online event 21-22 October). 

19 The Durham City Incubator, an accelerator programme for entrepreneurs and 

growing businesses, received almost £250,000 from the European Regional 

Development Fund (ERDF) which will allow the project to continue until June 

2023. 

20 The completion of all remaining units at Jade Business Park in August has 

increased Business Durham’s property portfolio by 20% and  provided an 

additional 155,000 square feet of business floorspace. Although we remain 

cautious of the longer-term impact of COVID-19, further lettings are expected 

by the year-end.  

Page 88



21 Latest data showed there were 14,105 businesses across County Durham at 

March 2020 - 2.2% more than 2019. As the data is reported in arrears, any 

impact of COVID-19 won’t be evident until the March 2021 data is released. 

22 The 2020 town centre surveys were carried out during July/August after the 

national lockdown was lifted and town centres had reopened. The survey 

reported on the number of vacant units as well as how many appeared to 

remain closed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

23 Some centres reported little change in terms of permanent vacant units, with 

some, such as Barnard Castle, Bishop Auckland, Consett, Crook, Seaham 

and Stanley, reporting fewer vacant units. Crook experienced the greatest fall 

in vacancy rates which perhaps reflects the recent investment of both Aldi and 

Lidl within the town centre.  

24 Other centres experienced increases in vacancy rates. The largest rise was in 

Spennymoor - however this is mainly due to the re-development of Festival 

Walk and vacancy rates are expected to decrease when the re-development 

is complete. Durham City and Newton Aycliffe were particularly impacted by 

closure programmes of national retailer chains. 

25 Outside of town centres, Dalton Park (Murton) has experienced a small rise in 

vacant units, as has Hermiston Retail Park (Consett). However the 5.9% 

increase at Hermiston equates to one unit becoming vacant since last year’s 

survey. 

26 Temporary closures due to COVID-19 were particularly evident in Durham 

City, Consett and Chester-le-Street; whilst smaller towns, such as Barnard 

Castle, showed lower levels or no ongoing closures. 

27 The town centre surveys will be repeated in November.  

28 Research2 has identified Durham City as having the fourth highest rate of 

shop closures in the UK with 21 shops shutting in six months. York was the 

worst affected, followed by Newcastle and Worcester. 

29 The council has engaged with more than 600 retail businesses and is using 

feedback to develop campaigns to support retail operations and encourage 

shoppers into our towns. The campaigns will focus on shopping safely and 

seasonal opportunities.

 
2 by the Local Data Company  

Page 89



MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

(c) How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy, and (d)  do our young people have 
access to good quality education and training? 

  

 
STEAM data 2019/20 

Compared to  
last year 

Esimated impact 
of COVID-19 

Visitors to County 
Durham (millions) 

20 � +2.1% 
-8 million 
(-41%) 

Jobs supported by visitor 
economy (FTEs) 

12,133 � +1.1% 
-6,000 
(-47%) 

£ generated by visitor 
economy (£’million) 

955 � +1.9% 
-£445 million 

(-47%) 

better than last year worse than last year 

Staycations – anecdotal evidence of increased demand for domestic 

holidays 

Hardwick 

Park 

300,000 visitors 

(Apr-Sep) 

Durham Brass 

Online 
2,880 views 

Heritage Open Days 

2,648 visitors 

15 participating venues 

8 online / 7 in-person 

Onstage 

online 

4,123 views  

Community Hub at 

Crimdon 

granted planning permission 

Binchester 

Roman Fort 

reopened Aug 

1,000 visitors (Aug-Sep) 

 

Auckland Castle Trust  

 Walled garden restaurant will not go 
ahead 

 Spanish Art Gallery delayed 

Seaham Food virtual  
Festival 

457 views 
38,000 reach 

County Durham

North East

England

NEET

5.8

4.7

2.8

Not Known

9.8

13.6

28.5

% of 16-17 year olds Not in Education, Employment 

(NEET) or Training / Not known (Sep-20) 

P
age 90



How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy?  

30 Feedback to Visit County Durham in October 2020 highlighted that although 

88% of tourism-related businesses are open or partially open, nine businesses 

are closing permanently and one is at risk of closure.  

31 Latest economic data3 comparing to 2019, estimates that across the county 

visitor numbers will drop by 8 million (-41%), the visitor economy will support 

almost 6,000 fewer jobs (-47%) and £445 million will be lost in local economy 

spend (-47%).  

32 Although all festivals and events since March have been cancelled, where 

possible we have held digital events. For example, Onstage Online, held in 

June, showcased 16 acts with close links to the region. 

33 Our theatres remain impacted by COVID-19. Although Bishop Auckland Town 

Hall re-opened its café and library functions in July, no performances or 

exhibitions are planned for the rest of the year. Both the Gala and Empire 

theatres remain closed until January 2021 (restrictions permitting). The Gala 

Theatre has secured funding from Arts Council as part of the COVID-19 

Recovery Fund. 

34 Durham Town Hall re-opened in July as a visitor attraction. Although visitor 

numbers were consistent over the summer, they dropped following the 

introduction of tighter local restrictions in September. 

35 Auckland Castle Trust has furloughed 144 of their staff and will remain closed for 

the rest of 2020. Most developments are progressing as planned but the 

restaurant in the walled garden will no longer go ahead and the Spanish Art 

Gallery will be delayed 

36 The Bishop Auckland Stronger Towns Board is scoping a number of projects to 

bid for funds, including a transport museum, a community art gallery, circular trail 

and a football museum.  

37 In September, Durham History Centre was granted planning permission to 

restore and extend the Grade II Mount Oswald Manor House. A Phase 3 

consultation on visitor expectations for the history centre has been undertaken 

over September/October. 

38 Our library pick and collect service was launched in July and has attracted more 

than 3,000 users, mainly adults, senior citizens and the carers or the cared for. 

 
3 Based on 30% of accommodation providers open during July and others opening by end of 2020 

Page 91



Do our young people have access to good quality education and 

training? 

39 There is limited education data available for 2019 as early years providers, 

schools, colleges and universities closed on 20 March 2020 and examinations 

were cancelled. 

40 Our children and young people returned to schools and other educational 

settings from September 2020 following a huge amount of work to ensure the 

right safety measures were in place. 

41 Although our attendance rate was higher than nationally in September, the gap 

narrowed over the weeks ending 17 and 24 September (coinciding with further 

local COVID-19 restrictions). Of those schools responding (70%) which were 

fully open, attendance was 91% compared to 93% nationally as at 15 October. 

42 Local attendance of children with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 

generally mirrors the national rate of attendance for this group. There was a 

recent dip due to one special school having bubbles self-isolating, and one 

special school closing for part of the week ending 24 September.  However, local 

rates of attendance are back on par with those nationally. 

43 We have introduced a live COVID-19 alert system for closure of a bubble or 

school. This has enabled us to have an up-to-date understanding of attendance 

across schools in the county and be able to proactively support schools and 

parents prior to the bubble returning. 

44 To support school attendance we have developed a school attendance pack 

which includes Government guidance, flowcharts, attendance action list for 

schools, template school attendance policy, a policy leaflet for parents, the DfE 

behaviour and attendance checklist and a frequently asked questions leaflet for 

schools. 

45 Service delivery models have been re-shaped to be flexible, adaptable and 

smart with contingencies for further lockdowns built into them. For example, 

remote meetings with parents and schools (where appropriate) and better use of 

electronic systems for attendance referrals as outlined above.  

46 Due to COVID-19, more parents are choosing to electively home educate their 

children, mainly due to concerns for the health of the child or the wider family. 

This is in line with national trends. The multi-agency Education at Home Group is 

continuing with calls, visits and virtual meetings to check children are safe and 

well and education is continuing during lockdown. This growth in enquiries about 

elective home education is reflected nationally.  

Page 92



47 There are more than 13,000 children and young people across County Durham 

with identified Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) needs. During 

2019/20, our Educational Psychology Service and Specialist SEND Support 

Teams received 4,522 individual requests to support children and young people, 

a slight increase from last year. A further 1,260 children and young people 

accessed targeted support as part of a class group, again an increase. 

48 Behaviour Partnership Panels are increasingly supporting school staff make the 

link between behaviour that challenges and unmet need. Throughout 2019/20, 

110 secondary pupils, who were at risk of exclusion, accessed a well-being 

assessment and support was agreed through consultation - of these, 20 

accessed direct intervention from the support teams. 32 schools accessed 

professional development support and a further 360 primary school children 

accessed support through Early Intervention and Crisis Response. None of 

these children and young people were permanently excluded. 

49 There has been increased access to services (particularly within the areas of 

autism, inclusion, and well-being and mental health) for children and young 

people, families and education providers. This follows strategic development 

across the council and with partners. The Mental Health in Schools Link 

Programme has now been offered to more than 65% of schools and colleges, 

although plans for the remaining schools have needed to be been modified due 

to the pandemic. All key services now have an identified mental health lead to 

support communication and facilitate workforce development. The three Mental 

Health in School Trailblazer pilots are now operational. 

50 Service delivery was modified due to COVID-19 and now includes a more co-

ordinated offer with Early Help. Parental satisfaction with the support offered was 

94%. Consultation and professional development was offered to schools and 

over 90% of respondents felt this was helpful. Resources for families and 

schools / settings were developed with partners and disseminated through both 

the Local Offer and also the ‘Returning Safe Happy and Settled’ resource. 

DurhamWorks is continuing to support 16-24 year olds who are not in 

education, employment or training using digital methods. Almost, 23,000 

interventions have taken place during the second quarter of the year via 

telephone, text, email, video chat. At the end of August, 95% of the year 

11 cohort had an approved offer of a place in education or training, higher 

than both the regional (87%) and national (82%) averages. Across the 

year 12 cohort, 85% had an approved offer, also higher than both the 

regional (70%) and national (70%) averages.  

Page 93



51 DurhamWorks is continuing to provide six month grants (up to £2,500 toward 

salary costs) for small businesses willing to support a young person (aged 16-24 

years) into employment.  

52 DurhamWorks new European funded project (Programme for Schools) will run 

until December 2023 and will support 2,700 young people aged 15-16 identified 

as being at risk of becoming NEET.  

53 Government measures being implemented across the county to improve the 

employment prospects of young people include: 

(a) Kickstart – six-month work placements for unemployed 16-24 year olds in 

receipt of Universal Credit. DurhamWorks has established a 'gateway' to 

enable employers to recruit young people and will provide wraparound 

support. 

(b) Youth Hubs - spaces where unemployed young people can access 

intensive support to help them to find a job. These will be initially set up in 

Stanley, Peterlee and Bishop Auckland.   

(c) Intensive Support - for young people who have recently become 

unemployed, consisting of guided coaching, mentoring and learning over 

an initial two week period. Initial one-to-one engagement will assess the 

young person's job ready status, as well as their motivation and confidence 

levels. A digital offer is currently available via Citizens Advice. 

 

 

Long and Independent Lives  

54 The ambition of Long and Independent Lives is linked to the following key 

questions: 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported?  

(b) Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services 

appropriately supported? 

(c) Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

(d) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives? 

 

 

Page 94



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported and (b) are children, young people 

and families in receipt of early help appropriately supported?   

            Target 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

96%
Early help 

assessments 
completed 
within 45 

working days
(Jul-Sep 2020)

1,495
cases open to 

One Point 
(as at 30 Sep 2020)

April 2015 to 30 March 2020 

1,965
workless families progress to work 

following intervention

2,367
families reported reduced mental 

health issues following 
intervention

891
families reported reduced 

substance misuse following 
intervention

570  

families achieved 

significant and 

sustained outcomes  
(Apr-Sep 2020) 

2015 to September 2020 

% EHCP completed within  

20 week timescale  

Durham

(Jan-Sep 2020)

60%

Durham 

(Jan-Sep 2019)

67%   

North East

(2019)

70%

England

(2019)

60% ↔

% of five year old children free 
from dental decay (2019)

73.2% 76.6%
National

76.7%
North East

P
age 95



Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal and 

early help services appropriately supported? 

55 The multi-agency Children and Young People’s Integration Board (previously 

the Integrated Steering Group for Children) is focusing on better outcomes for 

vulnerable children and their families by ensuring services are more joined up 

and responsive to their needs. Its four new strategic priorities are Integration, 

Early Help and Protection, Best start in Life and Supporting young people into 

adulthood (14-25 years). 

56 Our Stronger Families Programme continues to help families make ‘significant 

and sustained outcomes’ in areas such as worklessness, school attendance 

and domestic abuse. Since the programme began in September 2014, we 

have achieved this for almost 5,000 families.  

57 Since the start of the 2020/21 programme in April 2020, we have successfully 

turned around 570 families. This equates to 77% of the government agreed 

target (the original target of 1,050 families was reduced to 730 due to the 

impact of COVID-19). However, to maintain our focus, we have replaced the 

government target with the more stretching local target of turning around 1,100 

families by March 2021 (52% achieved). 

58 Early help conversations continue to aid collaboration across the early help 

system. This multi-agency group, which supports professionals who have 

concerns about families, is providing a range of advice and guidance, 

facilitating a more proportionate response to the needs of children, young 

people and their families, reducing duplication, maximizing the use of 

collective local resources and building family and community resilience.  

59 During this quarter, core membership of early help conversations at the locality 

level was extended to gain insight and provide support in relation to school 

attendance and children’s mental health. The group now includes Attendance 

Improvement Officers, and representatives from Special Educational Needs 

and Disability (SEND) and Inclusion, and Children and Adolescent Mental 

Health Services (CAMHS). 

60 Our early help One Point Service is working closely with statutory social care 

teams to ensure family support continues after statutory support ends. Multi-

agency meetings held with families ensure continuation of support. 

 

Page 96



61 Between 6 June and 5 July, the charity Young Minds4 surveyed 2,036 young 

people, nationally, with a history of mental health needs. The survey period 

coincided with the Government’s announcement to ease national lockdown 

restrictions, including the intention to re-open schools to all students in the 

Autumn term.  

The main findings are: 

 80% agreed the pandemic had made their mental health worse (and 41% 

said “much worse”, up from 32% in the previous survey in March) with 

reports of increased anxiety, increased isolation, a loss of coping 

mechanisms or a loss of motivation. 

 11% said their mental health had improved (up from 6% in the previous 

survey) – often because they felt it was beneficial to be away from the 

pressures of their normal life, e.g. bullying or academic pressure at school. 

 87% felt lonely or isolated during the lockdown period, even though 71% 

had been able to stay in touch with friends.  

 of respondents who were accessing mental health support in the three 

months leading up the crisis, 31% were unable to access support but still 

needed it. 

 of respondents who had not been accessing support immediately before 

the crisis, 40% had not looked for support but were struggling with their 

mental health.  

62 Our early help provision, for example the Young Adult Support Café (YASC), 

continues to operate online alongside existing online support (such as 

Rollercoaster and Kooth). Feedback from YASC shows that although some 

young people have engaged well virtually, and continue to engage after 

returning to full-time education, others have been more reluctant.     

63 This reluctance to engage, and access the online information, advice and 

guidance which is available, can be due to many reasons. These reasons 

include poverty, limited internet access (especially in the dales) or exposure to 

online bullying. We have been offering phone support to those reluctant to 

engage online. 

64 We have received fewer requests for children and young people to be 

assessed for an EHCP, an 11% reduction in 2020 compared to 2019. 2019 

saw a significant spike in requests in March 2019 as a result of schools 

making requests prior to the target date of Easter holidays in order to ensure 

the 20 week process could be completed prior to the end of term. Joint work 

with schools spread these requests more evenly across 2020. Additionally, we 

 
4 Link to further information - Young Minds 

Page 97



have seen increased SEND Support Top Up Funding requests from schools, 

supporting a graduated approach to meet children’s needs in-school. We 

anticipate that these may further increase now schools have returned. 

65 Overall, the number of children and young people with an EHCP is increasing, 

and each of these require an annual review. 

66 We are therefore looking to increase capacity within the SEND casework 

team. Availability of suitable specialist placement provision remains an issue, 

and this is reflected nationally. We are investing in the Oaks Secondary 

School to provide 30 additional places specific to young people with discrete 

autism needs. The build will be complete in September 2021. 

67 Across the county, 22% of children under the age of 16 live in relative poverty5 

(2018/19), equating to 20,264 children, and more than 17,500 pupils are 

eligible for free school meals (January 2020). Throughout the summer 

holidays, we continued to offer free school meals, as well as holiday activities 

alongside the healthy food programme. The council has committed to 

supporting families during the half-term holidays and a £15 voucher will be 

available to children who normally receive a free school meal. We are also 

exploring how best to support families using the School Benevolent Fund 

which provides grants to families with children eligible for free school meals for 

winter coats and shoes. 

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

68 Our specialist Stop Smoking Service has continued to successfully deliver 

remotely throughout the pandemic to support people to quit smoking. To 

improve support to those attempting to quit during this period, the service has 

recently launched a new ‘QuitGenius’ app. This provides personalised 

behavioural therapy, with rewarding interactive steps to help people quit, and 

is available as additional support for those accessing the service, as well as to 

people who chose not to engage.  

69 During quarter two, the service received more referrals with regard to pregnant 

smokers compared to quarter one. When compared to the same period last 

year, there has been a significant increase in those setting a quit date, as well 

as a substantial reduction in those dropping out of the service. To enhance the 

support to pregnant smokers, the service is currently recruiting another 

specialist practitioner who will have a dedicated focus around smoking in 

pregnancy.  

 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics-

201415-to-201819/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics-201415-to-201819 

Page 98



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(c) Are our services improving the health of our residents and (d) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 
and independent lives? 

 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

15.7

14.7

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

19/20 20/21

County Durham Target
*Q1 data 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth 

 
Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery (SATOD) 

 

180.5
adults aged 65+ per 100k population admitted to 

residential or nursing care (Apr-Sep 2020)

82.5%
of patients discharged into reablement/ 

rehabilitation services still at home after 91 days 
(Jan-Jun 2020)

92.4%
of service users receiving an assessment or review 

within the last 12 months (Apr-Sep 2020)

94.4%
of individuals achieved their desired outcomes 

from the adult safeguarding process (Apr-Sep 2020)

A
d

u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 to

 la
s
t y

e
a
r 

� 
(384.5) 

� 

(86.9%) 

� 
(87.9%) 

 

� 
(95.2%) 

29.2 29.6 28.4 28.6 28.3 28.5 28.4
25.9

31.4

Q1, 

20/21
Q1, 

19/20 

Q1, 

18/19 

North East – 36.0% National – 48.2% 

North East - 13.4%* National - 9.8%* 

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent) per 100,000 population 

 

12.6

15.0 14.8
15.7

12.6
12.0

12.8
13.4

2
0

1
0

-1
2

2
0

1
1

-1
3

2
0

1
2

-1
4

2
0

1
3

-1
5

2
0

1
4

-1
6

2
0

1
5

-1
7

2
0

1
6

-1
8

2
0

1
7

-1
9

North East – 11.6* England – 10.0* 

*2017-19 data 

P
age 99



70 In response to the pandemic, the Infant Feeding Team now provides video 

support to increase accessibility for women and improve ongoing support. This 

is in addition to the increased use of social media and has resulted in 

improved continuation rates for breastfeeding. Whilst breastfeeding cafes 

remain temporarily closed, the service has worked to establish peer support 

groups to encourage and assist those breastfeeding. Significant learning has 

been gained from changes to the support activities and a multi-agency review 

is to be undertaken with the Local Maternity System, the 0-25 Service, and the 

One Point Service, to ensure that this feeds into future service provision. 

71 County Durham is now part of a Regional Real Time Data Surveillance 

system, which monitors the rates of suicide and trends across the North East. 

This also feeds into a national pilot to keep track of trends and rates during 

COVID-19. Rates of suspected suicide in County Durham have not escalated 

during the pandemic and there have been no Multi-Agency Assurance 

Reviews (MAAR) conducted since the start of lockdown in March 2020.   

72 The Suicide Prevention Alliance has worked in partnership with Tees, Esk and 

Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and the national Samaritans’ media team 

to develop a suite of bespoke guidance on the safe use of social media and 

online communication. Collaborative work between the Suicide Prevention 

Alliance and the Time to Change Hub also aims to reduce the stigma and 

discrimination felt by people living with mental illness and to reduce suicide in 

high risk groups. This has resulted in a community fund, which has awarded 

21 small grants to grassroots projects during the summer.  

73 In September 2020, Public Health England published “Local Suicide 

Prevention Planning: A Practice Resource”. This document builds on previous 

guidance for developing a local suicide prevention action plan and provides 

updated evidence and ideas for action, including a suite of further information, 

case studies and information sheets. This is a useful resource for the local 

Suicide Prevention Alliance and partner organisations.   

74 Our Public Health Team has developed a booklet with the aim of promoting 

physical activity and healthy eating to families without internet access whilst 

remaining at home during the pandemic. The electronic version of the booklet 

was also sent to all AAP Co-ordinators and Holiday Activities with Food 

Groups, to support provision over the summer holiday. Included in the email 

was the option to request paper versions of the booklets and over 2,000 paper 

copies have been distributed to groups and organisations which requested 

them. 

Page 100



75 A key area of work resulting from the Best Start in Life action plan is to 

improve the uptake of Healthy Start Vouchers by pregnant women, mothers 

and families. A partnership task and finish group was set up during the 

summer and an action plan developed, which has resulted in a 

communications plan and social media campaign. Alongside this, 20 Early 

Years managers attended bitesize training, with five more sessions planned. 

76 Public Health also utilised a number of national campaigns during the summer 

to support the mental and physical well-being of council staff. The ‘Better 

Health – Let’s Do This’ scheme provided a new 12-week NHS plan to help 

staff get active, eat better and lose weight through a range of tools including 

peer to peer support. National Fitness Day was also promoted in September to 

encourage staff to use the leisure centres across the county. Mental health 

and resilience courses have been developed to support staff specifically 

during the pandemic, whilst work was also undertaken to publicise World 

Mental Health Day on 10 October. 

77 The council, its partners and communities have continued to work hard to 

respond to the COVID-19 pandemic locally and County Durham has played a 

key role in the regional response. 

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives? 

78 In quarter two, the number of referrals received for adult social care returned 

to their pre-pandemic levels, after dropping by 18.5% through quarter one 

when the national lockdown was in place. 

79 Whilst the demand in some areas of adult social care has reduced, frontline 

social care teams have continued to improve the timeliness of their response 

to clients, with the proportion of service users who have been assessed or 

reviewed in the previous 12 months improving to 92.4% at the end of quarter 

two, compared to 87.9% at the same point last year. 

80 Permanent admissions to residential and nursing care continue to be lower 

than in previous years. Admission rates for the period April to September 2020 

are less than half that for the same period last year. However, the number of 

people in receipt of home care has increased over the same period. The 

reduction in residential care admissions is similar to the increase in those 

receiving home care. 

81 94.4% of individuals achieved their desired outcomes from the adult 

safeguarding process. Although this is a slight deterioration from 95.2% over 

Page 101



the same period last year, it is very similar to the performance for quarter one 

(94.5%). 

82 With regard to the ‘proportion of older people who were still at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services’, 

performance for quarter one was 82.6% and for quarter two it is 82.5%. 

Although this is lower than the quarter two period last year (86.9%), it would 

only require a further 42 clients to match the performance for the same period 

last year. 

83 By the end of September 2020, our Operational Pressures Escalation Levels 

(OPEL) tracker showed an improved position from quarter one in that most of 

our older people care homes had no significant issues with either COVID-19 

infection, PPE or staffing, although we are now facing the significant challenge 

of a second wave of COVID-19.  

84 The second wave has led to a small number of providers starting to 

experience pressures during September. We continue to provide co-ordinated 

and targeted support to care providers operating in the county. This remains a 

key priority of our integrated health and social care system, in conjunction with 

local Care Quality Commission (CQC) leads. 

Connected Communities - Safer 

85 The ambition of Connected Communities – Safer is linked to the following key 

questions: 

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services 

appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

(b) Are we being a good corporate parent for children looked after?  

(c) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

(d) How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

(e) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

(f) How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 

abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation? 

(g) How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

 

 

Page 102



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER      

(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?   

 

 

 

 

` 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
406

501
464

372

480

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

J
o

u
rn

e
y

 o
f a

 c
h

ild
 

86% social work 

assessments 

completed within 

45 working days 
(Apr-Sep 20)  

� 21% referrals (698) compared to same period last year 

2020 Referrals (week 10 - week 40)  
compared to same period last year 

(w/c 02/3/20 – w/c 28/9/20) 

84%  
case files given a 

scaling score of 6  

or above 

 

Quality of case work 
collaborative audits  

(Jan-Jun20)  

Number of children on a Child Protection Plan 

 

Number of Open Cases 

93

79

79

13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 Apr 19 -

Mar 20

Apr - Sep

20

Durham nearest statistical neighbour England

% of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 

days of Section 47 investigation commencing 

62%

32% 6% 0%

55%

31% 13% 1%

Under 20 20-24 25-29 30+

Sep-20 Sep-19

Social Worker Caseload 

P
age 103



Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

86 COVID-19 has significantly impacted children’s services, with safeguarding 

referrals decreasing. Although we expected referrals to increase once schools 

re-opened, this has not been realised. Although referrals remain lower than we 

would expect at this time of year, we have increasing trends of number of 

children on a child protection plan (CPP) and children looked after (CLA). 

However, we remain the third lowest local authority in the region for the rate of 

CPP and CLA per 10,000 children. The inability to close some cases has 

contributed to this increase as it has not been possible to complete some 

actions identified on children’s plans e.g. attendance at a domestic abuse 

perpetrator course as the course is not running. 

87 As reported last quarter, Children and Young People’s Services responded to 

the challenges of delivering safe services during the pandemic.   

88 We are continuing to hold daily senior management meetings and virtual staff 

engagement sessions which we established in March. During quarter two, we 

revised our operating framework, which was designed at the start of the 

pandemic to ensure our most vulnerable children continue to receive the 

highest level of support and protection, with more focus on physical visits to 

children and families following easing of the lockdown. 

89 We have maintained our system for assessing a child’s risk which we use 

alongside professional judgement to determine visiting frequencies. We are 

also continuing to monitor business-critical performance indicators on a weekly 

basis with a specific focus on visits to children as well as management 

oversight and levels of demand (this is in addition to the wider monthly 

performance framework). Performance remains positive in many areas 

including timeliness of assessments and Initial Child Protection Conferences.  

90 We have developed, and incorporated into our standard operating model, 

information sharing systems between social care and the education sector to 

identify children who are particularly vulnerable. Protocols are in place so the 

Early Help Service visits children not attending school, where there is a 

concern about their welfare. Where there is a specific safeguarding concern 

and we are unable to access a household, a protocol to ensure a joint 

response with police colleagues is in place. We monitor school attendance of 

children with a social worker weekly – and this remains positive in comparison 

to the national data (87% across County Durham compared to 84% 

nationally). 

Page 104



91 We carried out a service user survey in May 2020 to gather views from 

children, young people and their families on services provided during the 

pandemic. Its purpose was to understand the quality of our practice, provide 

reassurance that changes made continue to keep children and young people 

safe, recognise good practice and share learning. 

92 We repeated the survey in July and received 97 responses. Key findings are: 

 91 responses were from parents/carers (94%) and six responses from 

young people. 

 91 respondents (94%) stated they, or their family, had been talked to about 

different ways of working with them due to COVID-19. 

 86 respondents (89%) when asked ‘how easy was it to contact us?’ rated 

us as eight or above (on a scale of 1-10). 

 92 respondents (95%) indicated that we have managed to keep in contact 

as often as needed. 

 80 respondents (82%) when asked ‘how easy was it to have a meeting 

using a phone or computer?’ rated us as eight or above (on a scale of 1-

10). 

 82 respondents (85%) when asked ‘how helpful is the support received at 

the current time?’ rated us as eight or above (on a scale of 1-10). 

93 We continue to progress our Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan, 

including: 

(a) Implementing the Signs of Safety Practice Framework to drive practice 

improvement. 

(b) Improving the quality of care planning to ensure children, young people 

and their naturally connected network are at the centre of this work.  

(c) Implementing strategies to address our re-referral rate including 

auditing all cases where there was a threshold challenge to capture any 

learning, scrutinising cases that step-down to early help through our 

performance reporting, and reviewing any cases referred for a second 

or subsequent time. These strategies are beginning to have an impact - 

we have undertaken deep-dive analysis into our re-referral rates and 

are starting to see a reducing trend. 

94 We have recruited 33 newly qualified social workers, many of whom are now 

working as family workers supporting the COVID-19 response. We are also 

retaining some agency staff to support the new workers in their first few 

Page 105



months. Our social workers have lower caseloads than in the past - six in ten 

now consistently hold fewer than 20 cases – but we are continuing to closely 

monitor to ensure our staff have the capacity and ability to build and maintain 

effective relationships with children and families. 

95 We have commissioned Strengthening Practice to provide additional reflective 

space for our staff at this challenging time. Senior managers are maintaining 

regular virtual contact with staff – more than 200 are attending each series of 

conversations. 

  

Page 106



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(b) Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In-house foster care 43% 

Friends and family 17% 

Independent Fostering Agency  17% 

Placed with parents 7% 

External residential  

(incl. children's homes and res school) 
5% 

In-house residential 

(incl. children's homes) 
3% 

Placed for adoption 4% 

Independent living 

(incl. supported lodgings) 
3% 

Secure 
(incl. YOI and prisons) 

<0.5% 

NHS / Health Trust 0% 

 

 In education, 

employment or training 
 

In suitable 

accommodation 

 Aged  

17-18 

Aged  

19-21 
 

Aged  

17-18 

Aged  

19-21 

County Durham 67% 56%  93% 95% 

North East 63% 50%  93% 90% 

England 64% 52%  88% 85% 

 

 

 

Care 

Leavers  

Children Looked After 

660

731

808 822
878

956

500
550
600
650
700
750
800
850
900
950

1000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Where our children in care live 

(As at 30 September 2020) 

Age profile for Children Looked After 

P
age 107



Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After 

(CLA)?  

97 Although the number of children in care has increased to its highest ever level 

in County Durham, it remains the third lowest rate6 in the North East. National 

research has linked these increases to areas with higher levels of deprivation. 

COVID-19 has also had a direct impact. Family courts closed during lockdown 

and this also had an impact. However, we are now starting to see movement 

through the courts and the number of delayed care proceedings is reducing. 

98 The increase in children looked after is causing placement and budget 

pressures, which reflects the regional and national picture. Although there has 

been a reduction in our in-house foster care capacity, due to some carers de-

registering or taking a break as a direct result of COVID-19, we are seeing an 

increase in children being looked after by friends and family. 

99 We are working towards building enough capacity to meet the needs of all the 

children and young people we look after. A new three bedroomed residential 

property, built to meet the increasingly complex needs of some of the young 

people that we care for, will soon be available. 

100 Following the suspension of all face-to-face family time sessions, we held 

sessions virtually via Microsoft Teams. Feedback from parents and carers has 

been extremely positive. We have now re-established face-to-face family time 

and are committed to trying to ensure all children have at least one face to 

face session a week where this is line with their  care plan, with the rest 

continuing to be delivered virtually.   

101 During lockdown, we continued to contact all CLA and care leavers in line with 

their assessed need (in some cases this increased in frequency). Face-to-face 

contact has resumed with social distancing, generally involving visits in the 

garden or going out for walks. 

102 Reviews for CLA have continued virtually and are within timescales. There 

have been many positives to this approach, including more young people 

attending their review and more discussions being held between the 

Independent Reviewing Officer, the child or young person and their families. 

103 Durham’s Children in Care Council (CICC) has continued to develop the 

support that can be offered to children and young people remotely, keeping 

connected with all of its members through different social media platforms. 

There has been a continued growth in numbers at online meetings. 

 
6 Children in care per 10,000 population aged 0-17 

Page 108



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

(c) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and (d) anti-social behaviour?     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49,529 
recorded crimes 

93.4 per 1,000 

population 

-78 

Sexual offences (-5%) 

-27 

Robbery (-16%) 
+398 

Other crimes (+6%) 

+772  
Violence against the 

person (+4%) 

-2,399 

Theft 

offences (-16%) 

-502 
Criminal damage/ 

arson (-7%) 

unless stated, data are Oct 2019 to Sep 2020 compared to same period last year 

31,276 
ASB incidents 

14,143 
council reported 

+725 
 (+1%) 

17,133 
police reported 

+3,188 
 (+23%) 

^  Includes more 

categories from 

Community Protection 

� 1,585 
(-3%) 

Safer Streets Initiative 
multi-agency initiative starting in Horden 

to action environmental, health and ASB issues 

Neighbourhood Interventions Team active in: 

- Great Lumley    -  Stanley - Peterlee - Durham City 

- Wheatley Hill    -  Wingate - Seaham - Brandon P
age 109



How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and Anti-Social 

Behaviour (ASB)?   

104 Although overall crime has decreased, most notably across the categories of 

theft and criminal damage, the category of violence against the person has 

increased. 

105 Compared to the same periods last year, violence against the person (VAP) 

increased by 4% during the 12 months ending 30 September and 7% during 

quarter two. 39% of VAP offences during quarter two were linked to domestic 

violence, the same proportion as quarter two, 2019/20. All localities have seen 

year to date increases in VAP offences with a domestic abuse qualifier – 

ranging from 1% in the West to 10% in the South. The main drivers for 

increases in the South were Newton Aycliffe and Spennymoor, though both 

witnessed reductions between August and September.  

106 Although ASB reported to the police has fallen since quarter one, it remains 

higher than the same period last year. This is most likely due to the large 

increase in incidents relating to COVID-19 restrictions over the summer 

months. However, the number of incidents in all categories is now falling 

month on month. The increase in environmental ASB was largely due to 

COVID-19 related incidents. Although this has now fallen, it remains 93% 

higher than the same period last year. 

107 Further development of the council reporting of ASB has been undertaken, 

which now includes the other nuisance categories such as smoke, light, dust 

and odour. 

108 Since the start of the pandemic, residents have followed government advice to 

stay at home and avoid unnecessary journeys. As people spend more time at 

home, noise levels are increasing, and council reports of nuisance ASB, 

predominately noise, have increased.  

109 We work with a range of partners to tackle ASB across the County. This 

included liaising with partners and local communities in Brandon, North Road 

and the bus station in Durham City.  In the east of the county, neighbourhoods 

at Wheatley Hill, Wingate and Peterlee have experienced issues with off-road 

vehicle nuisance, fly-tipping and vehicle arson. In the north of the county, an 

unauthorised encampment on private land at Lumley Thicks and concerns at 

two properties on Front Street, Stanley have been the focus while in the south, 

site visits within Bishop Auckland, Newton Aycliffe and Shildon have taken 

place. 

Page 110



110 A virtual knowledge hub network has been established for the Reducing Re-

offending Group, to enable members to share key documents, events and 

knowledge via threads/forums, in order to maintain communication between 

meetings, and in particular, during COVID-19 restrictions. 

111 The Office of Police, Crime and Victim’s Commissioner, together with Durham 

Constabulary and Durham County Council, has been successful in obtaining 

£485,360 as part of the Home Office Safer Streets Fund. This funding will be 

used to support situational crime prevention (i.e. target hardening security 

equipment to make improvements to properties that have seen burglary or 

repeat burglary and to properties in close proximity to the burgled property) in 

the Horden area with the aim of preventing residential burglaries.

Page 111



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER      

(e) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol and (f) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?   

 

 

 

787 835 839 973 999 1,030 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019/20 2020/21

Alcohol related domestic violence

1 Jul – 30 Sep 2020 

Compared to same 

period the previous year 

18.6% 

ASB* alcohol related 

up 26.7% compared to 

same period last year 

1.7% 
ASB* drug related  

down 7.7% compared to 

same period last year 

Domestic Violence 
(Jul-Sep  2020)

2%
in incidents 

4.2 pp 
in DV incidents classified as 

crimes 

6.2 pp
in incidents involving alcohol

0.4 pp
of DV referrals received high risk

� +193  
 

+23% compared to same period last year 

 

1,887 
Alcohol related violent crime 

up 251 compared to same period last year (+15% 

 

5,815 5,878 6,333 6,646 6,894 7,145 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2019/20 2020/21

Alcohol related violent crime
12 month rolling trend

17.1% 18.5% 16.5% 18.5%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

% alcohol related anti-social behaviour
(12 months rolling total)

*police figures only 

P
age 112



How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

112 During quarter two police reported alcohol related ASB increased by 26.7% 

compared to the same period last year. The Police are monitoring ASB levels 

and issues are being dealt with at a locality level. 

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including 

domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

113 During quarter two, levels of domestic violence incidents reported to the police 

were comparable to quarter one and a 2% increase on the same period last 

year. Between August and September levels decreased by 21% (345 

incidents) which is the lowest figure recorded in recent years. The reason for 

this marked decrease is unclear although new local lockdown restrictions were 

introduced on 18 September. However, seasonal decreases have also been 

evident during September in the previous two years, albeit to a lesser degree 

(-8% 2019/20 and -3% 2018/19).   

114 The new triage system for domestic abuse incidents is now operational with 

daily multi-agency screening of all incidents. This is undertaken by children’s 

services, child health and police staff from within the multi-agency 

safeguarding hub (MASH). The benefit of using this operational model is the 

multi-agency oversight of all domestic abuse incidents in County Durham, 

sharing of information and decision making on a daily basis which will 

ultimately reduce any delay for children who need to be safeguarded.  

115 In November 2019, a Child Exploitation Vulnerability Tracker (CEVT) was set 

up as a multi-agency risk triage process for all young people who are 

assessed as being at risk of exploitation. Previously, only children who were 

assessed as being at high-risk were referred to children’s social care 

Supporting Solutions Team for ERASE one-to-one CSE support, However, 

now all children, regardless of risk, are assessed on a weekly basis and 

referred. Across County Durham and Darlington 38 children were either added 

or re-scored during quarter two, with an average age of 15.4 years. The most 

common themes were sexually inappropriate behaviour, association with 

others being exploited and rewards/unexplained financial gain. None were for 

radicalisation

Page 113



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(g) How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Killed

Seriously injured

Slightly injured

All 

casualties

Q2 20/21

(Q2 19/20)

7
(5)

48
(57)

140
(140)

Children

Q2 20/21

(Q2 19/20)

1
(0)

4
(8)

27
(14)

Road traffic 

accidents 

4
3

7

2

0

4 4
5

3

5
6

5

2

7

Q1 

17

Q2 

17

Q3 

17

Q4 

17

Q1 

18

Q2 

18

Q3 

18

Q4 

18

Q1 

19

Q2 

19

Q3 

19

Q4 

19

Q1 

20

Q2 

20

Killed

52
60

37

24

42
48

40

61 57 58
52

35

23

48

Q1 

17

Q2 

17

Q3 

17

Q4 

17

Q1 

18

Q2 

18

Q3 

18

Q4 

18

Q1 

19

Q2 

19

Q3 

19

Q4 

19

Q1 

20

Q2 

20

Seriously injured

P
age 114



How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 

waterways?  

117 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown, traffic levels reduced across 

the county, however as expected, as traffic levels started to return to normal, 

and as schools began to open, we have seen an increase in traffic collisions 

and injury on our roads. There is no particular pattern to these incidents, 

however in-car safety is an ongoing issue, accounting for over 60% of all 

injuries. 

118 School crossing patrol service re-commenced in September alongside cycling/ 

bikeability programmes. Online road safety resources are currently being 

developed and should be available mid-November. 

119 The 2020/21 winter maintenance season commenced on the 1 October in the 

west of the county and on the 12 October in the east.  The winter policy and 

plan have both been reviewed prior to the season commencing, salt stocks 

have been replenished and rotas are in place for all operational staff to deliver 

the winter service. 

120 Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city 

centre and countywide, continue to meet.  

121 During quarter two, the City Safety Group formed a multi-agency sub-group to 

address the various challenges of student induction week alongside the risks 

associated with COVID-19. Actions involved ensuring that the movements of 

students throughout freshers’ week complied with national guidance and 

legislation, that licensees understood their responsibilities and licensed 

premises risk assessments and COVID-related control measures were in 

place to support students in maintaining safety and social distancing. The 

student induction also included personal safety, personal responsibility in 

relation to alcohol consumption/health effects, risks from becoming detached 

from social groups and the river corridor related hazards. 

122 From a countywide perspective, throughout quarter two, there was an 

extensive social media campaign in relation to open water safety targeted at 

10-16 year olds during periods of warm weather. This featured the five year 

anniversary of the death of Cameron Gosling. Posters and information cards 

were placed at prominent open water locations across the county to highlight 

the dangers to those who may be entering into cold water.  This campaign is 

an alternative approach to previous years where sessions were held in school 

assemblies and other young people’s settings. 

Page 115



123 Also during the quarter, audits of higher risk locations across the county were 

undertaken to ensure safety related control measures previously installed, 

remain in place. 

Connected Communities - Sustainability 

124 The ambition of Connected Communities – Sustainability is linked to the 

following key questions: 

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

(b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

(d) Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?  

(e) Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 

Page 116



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY  

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

4 teams operating across the county 

commenced 7 September 

D
u

ri
n

g
 

q
u

a
rt

e
r 

2
 

 

9 cameras deployed

4 incidents caught 

on CCTV

539 further investigations

1 prosecution

12 FPNs

No. reported and responded to fly-tipping 

incidents (12 month rolling trend) 

7,493
7,073

7,409

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

18/19 19/20 20/21

Enhanced 

warden 

service taken 

up by Pelton 

Parish 

Council 

Campaign - family  

groups only due  

to restrictions 

Community Action 

Team 

Blackhall Colliery 

(175 issues of concern) 

Next focus: Horden 

12 Green 

Flags Hotspots 

 Bishop Auckland 

 Shildon 

 Craghead 

 South Moor 

 Mostly 

household waste 

Environmental Cleanliness 
% relevant land/highways assessed as having deposits that fall below an acceptable level 

Based on a visual survey carried out three times a year (3 tranches):  each tranche involves surveying 900 50m transects of 

varying land types across the county 

In line with local need, works could 

include: 

 Cleaning road channels and gullies 

 De-greasing pavements 

 Removing chewing gum and graffiti 

 Painting seating, benches and railings 

 Sweeping areas machinery can’t reach 

 Repairing boundary walls and 

sculptures 

P
age 117



How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

125 During quarter two, environmental cleanliness measures show an improving 

trend, with levels of litter, detritus and dog fouling all lower than last year 

based on a sample survey, but there has been an increase in fly-tipping. 

Various actions were undertaken to improve the local environment. 

126 We successfully prosecuted an individual for fly-tipping next to Fishburn 

Electrical Substation in August. The individual was filmed twice within seven 

days by a camera installed by the council as part of our Operation Stop It 

campaign. He now has to pay £320 and has a criminal conviction. 

127 We re-organised our neighbourhood warden service into area-based teams to 

increase its responsiveness, and created a dedicated team to address fly-

tipping.  

128 Our enhanced warden service expanded to include Pelton Parish Council. 

Enhanced arrangements are already in place with Stanley Town Council, City 

of Durham Parish Council, Spennymoor Town Council and Durham University. 

129 Our new Find and Fix initiative commenced in the quarter and is starting to 

address issues of community concern not covered by routine green 

maintenance and street cleaning work. During the first three weeks of 

operation, the four teams were active across West Rainton, Romaldkirk, 

Butterwick, Castle Eden, Chester-le-Street, South Moor, Framwellgate Peth 

and Shotton.   

130 Our Community Action Team (CAT) tackled a range of housing and 

environmental issues at Blackhall Colliery including empty properties and 

rubbish accumulation. Actions, identified through walkabouts and virtual 

engagement sessions with residents, included issuing 63 notices in relation to 

noxious matter and drainage. The CAT team has now moved onto Horden.  

131 Due to COVID-19 restrictions and social distancing measures, we postponed 

our 2020 Big Spring Clean. However, we continue to encourage groups from 

the same household to participate in local clean-ups and are providing them 

with equipment.   

Page 118



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY  

 (b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to 
climate change? 

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and 
disposal of waste? 

 

 

 

Targeting areas with high contamination levels 
 

- Information to students       -   Small WEEE project 

39.4% household waste 

reused, recycled or composted* 

� 2.0pp on same period 

last year 

96.8% diverted from 

landfill* 

� 1.3pp on same period 

last year 

% of waste collected for recycling identified as 

contaminated (12 months ending)* 

 

DCC carbon emissions (2019/20) 
 

 

 

 

*Waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 30-Jun-20 

� 51% 

from 2008 baseline 

� 7% 

from same period last year 

� 4% 

Direct  

Emissions 
(fleet and fuel) 

� 12% 

Indirect  

Emissions 
(purchased 

electricity) 

� 39% 

 Contracted 

Services  
(business travel and 

electricity distribution) 

Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP2) 
(Jul - Sep) 

 

 30 businesses engaged 

 7 grant offers accepted (18 to date) 

 169 tonnes CO2 saved  

Properties benefiting from an energy 

efficiency measure 

� 32% 

from same period last year 

 

- 99.8% household bins collected (� compared to quarter one) 

- Route changes due to COVID-19 contributed to some missed 

collections 

- Additional bulky waste services supporting Household Waste 

Recycling Centres 

- � 5.6% garden waste sign-ups 

27.7%
29.0%

31.0% 30.9%
29.4% 29.4%

28.5% 28.9%
30.0%

31.1%

25%

30%

35%

M
a

r-
1

8

Ju
n

-1
8

S
e

p
-1

8

D
e

c-
1

8

M
a

r-
1

9

Ju
n

-1
9

S
e

p
-1

9

D
e

c-
1

9

M
a

r-
2

0

Ju
n

-2
0

P
age 119



Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate 

change?  

132 Latest data for Durham County Council (2019/20) shows a 51% reduction in 

carbon emissions against the 2008/09 baseline and 7% reduction compared to 

2018/19. This equates to almost 52,000 tonnes of carbon. The greatest 

reduction was across business travel and electricity distribution which covers 

train journeys, car mileage and emissions from contractors and supply chains. 

133 We are developing an Environment and Climate Change Partnership which 

will be responsible for the county’s Climate Emergency Response Plan and 

the development of an Ecological Response Plan. 

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste?  

134 Between 1 April and 30 June, when Household Waste Recycling Centres 

(HWRCs) were closed for the most part, we collected an additional 1,300 

tonnes of household waste (compared to the same period last year). Upon re-

opening in mid-May, not all of the HWRCs recycling waste streams could be 

recycled due to the end processors not operating. This impacted both our 

recycling rate and waste diverted from landfill rate as the pressures of volumes 

and the lack of markets for the recyclables resulted in additional waste being 

landfilled. As recyclable markets are now operating, we anticipate the July to 

September figures will be more in line with previous figures.   

 

Page 120



No. of 

households 

supported under 

HRA

177
prevention

138
relief

(within 56 days)

17
main duty 
to secure

accommodation

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY      

(d) Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing (e) is it easy to travel around the county? 

 

    

Housing advice and support 
(Jul–Sep 20, compared to same period last year) 

406 
properties improved, adapted or 
brought back into use  � 13% 

3,063 
households accessed Housing 
Solutions  �  8% 

334 
households helped to stay in their 
homes � 0.5% 

205 
households helped to move to 
alternative accommodation � 32% 

Average of 22 days 
spent temporary 
accommodation

(Jul-Sep 20)

107 'new' 
households placed 

temporary 
accommodation

(Jul-Sep 20)

For additional housing information, visit the Durham Insight,  

Housing factsheet 

Bus passenger levels 

55% pre-COVID levels 

30% at Park and Ride (Durham City) 

 

Overall traffic levels 

85-90% pre-COVID levels 

Cycling 

doubled 

across county 

A167 

Chester Moor 

up 300% 

NE Transport Plan  

seeking input from 

stakeholders prior to 

consultation in 

November 

Traffic Levels

(larger vehicles)

A689 Windlestone Hall

A167 Chester-le-Street 
(Junction 59)

A6076 Causey Arch

A690 Crossgate Peth

Sep-20

1,520

2,995

878

1,257

Sep-19

1,555

2,711

889

1,257

% of 
2019

98%

111%

99%

111%

P
age 121



Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

135 Compared to last quarter, there have been increases in presentations to our 

Housing Solutions Service (+10%) and households where there has been an 

acceptance of the main homeless duty (+9 households). The main reasons for 

contact was financial difficulty, families no longer willing to accommodate and 

non-violent relationship breakdowns. However, the complex needs of clients 

alongside a reduction in available property is making it increasingly difficult to 

secure accommodation. 

136 Clients from private sector accommodation increased compared to the same 

period last year. During quarter two, 80% of cases that required a Prevention 

Duty received Discretionary Housing Payment to alleviate their financial 

issues. We anticipate Prevention Duty cases will further increase around 

January and February 2021 as we move toward lifting of the eviction ban in 

March. 

137 The length of time in temporary accommodation continues to increase. During 

quarter one, we worked with housing providers to actively move on clients but 

this has slowed down due to availability of stock, which was quickly 

exhausted, and restriction around non-essential moves. We have undertaken 

a review of temporary accommodation and appointed a temporary 

accommodation officer to work with providers to identify opportunities for move 

on. 

138 We are working with Believe Housing to help clients make sustainable 

changes to reduce the risk of homelessness and live successfully in the 

community. There are 31 cases currently open, all of which are undergoing 

intensive work to look at preventing the need for eviction in the future. 

139 Our Housing Delivery Programme, to deliver up to 500 homes per year 

between 2021 and 2025, was approved in October.  

140 Our proposed Selective Licensing Scheme, which will cover 42% of the 

county’s private rented stock, has been submitted to the Secretary of State for 

approval.  

Is it easy to travel around the county?  

141 Bus passenger numbers are around 55% of pre-COVID levels which is in line 

with levels across the region. The number of passengers across our three park 

and ride sites in Durham City had returned to 50% of pre-COVID levels 

(August) but reduced to 30% following the announcement of additional 

lockdown measures in October. 

Page 122



142 Traffic levels overall remain at 85 to 90% of pre-COVID volumes (compared 

with the same period last year) and there has been little change since tighter 

restrictions were imposed across the North East. This trend is consistent 

across the North East, with Tyne and Wear currently at 86%. Peak hour traffic 

congestion and delay has not yet returned to normal levels. There has been 

an increase at the Neville’s Cross side of Durham but this is most likely due to 

the bridge closure rather than economic recovery. We have seen an increase 

in traffic levels of larger vehicles since July and are currently at 100% or above 

2019 levels.   

143 On average cycling figures across the county have doubled, except for 

Milburngate Bridge in Durham City which was previously popular with 

commuters. Reported bike sales are up by 20%. 

 

An Excellent Council  

144 The ambition of an excellent council is structured around the following key 

questions: 

(a) How well do we look after our people? 

(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers? 

(c) How good are our services to customers and the public? 

  

Page 123



AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

(a) How well do we look after our people?     

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

39.6% mental 

health and 
fatigue

+ 3.5pp since Q2 
19/20

23.8% 
musculo-
skeletal

7.7%  
liver, 

kidney, 
stomach & 
digestion

60,125
days lost to sickness 

b

587
days taken as 

compassionate leave

821
days taken as 

bereavement leave

4%
time lost to sickness 

64%
staff with no 

sickness

80%
staff with 5 days or 

less sickness

10.8%
short-term

(5 days or less)

12.5%
medium-term

(6 to 19 days)

76.8%
long-term

(20 days or more)

3 reasons 

for 71.1 % 
of sickness 

Apprentice 
starts

% of 
workforce*

2018

207

1.32

2019

132

1.65

2020

272

1.34

249 staff employed in 

apprenticeship posts

209 staff upskilling
12%

level 2

61%

level 3

27%

level 4/4+

Staff Turnover* 

 *excluding school 

staff 

Trained to date  

Days lost to sickness 
(12 months trend to 30 September) 

6.8% � 

Oct 19-Sep 20 

6.6% 

Oct 18 - Sep19 

better than last 

year

similar to last 

year

worse than last 

year
not comparable 

697  

Mental Health Awareness 
(79% of managers) 

Zero Suicide 
(e-learning) 

Mental Health for life 
(e-learning)  

963  343  

583  MECC training 

Mental Health & Well-being Training (to date)

82 

Time to Change 

Champions

181 

Mental Health 

First Aiders

62 
Health 

advocates

Rolling 12 months 

P
age 124



How well do we look after our people?  

146 During quarter two, we continued to support the physical and mental well-

being of our staff.   

147 To reduce the risk of transmitting the virus and to protect our employees, all 

staff who were able to work from home continued to do so. We are continuing 

to provide practical support, for example, advising how to set up home 

workstations or how to access essential equipment such as chairs, desks and 

ICT related equipment.  

148 We continue to support those unable to work from home with technical advice 

and guidance relating to COVID compliance (including specification and 

provision of PPE and risk assessments to manage and control transmission 

risks across work activities which we continually update in line with national 

changes).  

149 We offered free influenza vaccines to all employees to mitigate against the 

possible combined threat of COVID-19 and flu this winter. The flu jabs are 

available through a community pharmacy voucher scheme and since the 

scheme started on 1 October, 1,802 people have taken up this offer.  

150 We continue to arrange COVID-19 tests for our employees (following an initial 

screening, with most arranged and results returned within 48 hours) and 

provide clinical advice and guidance through our Occupational Health Service 

(OHS). More than 1,000 COVID-related queries were received during quarter 

two, mainly in relation to shielding, vulnerable persons and isolation criteria.  

151 We encouraged staff to utilise the range of support mechanisms available 

including e-learning (focusing on how to prevent the spread of COVID-19, 

manage concerns and support well-being, improve personal resilience and 

support children and young people) and our Employee Assistance Programme 

which offers unlimited access to counselling to employees and immediate 

family members. 

152 With the prospect of some employees returning to their workplaces, we 

undertook surveys to establish the demands and expectations of returning to 

workplaces, as well as the impact of extended periods of homeworking on our 

staff. 

153 We are aware that some of our essential workers have experienced situations 

that have caused them to be upset and challenged much more than usual due 

to the extreme impacts of the pandemic. Therefore, we are working, in 

partnership, to capture their views (alongside those of other essential workers 

Page 125



across the county) to help identify actions that could potentially improve their 

experience and increase resilience during any second wave. An update will be 

provided at quarter three. 

154 A new staff support network for Black and Asian employees is piloting across 

our Children and Young People’s Service. Very much in its formative stage, 

having had their first meeting in September, the network will help formulate 

terms of reference for other staff networks, which we aim to roll out early 2021. 

155 Although we indicated in the last performance report that Performance and 

Development Reviews (PDRs) would be reinstated over the coming months, it 

has since been agreed that they will be put on hold until further notice. This is 

due to the ongoing COVID-19 situation and pressure on services.   

156 We are reintroducing learning and development through a blended approach 

of online and place-based training. Although most courses will be delivered 

online, some statutory / mandatory training will be socially-distanced within a 

classroom environment as digital learning is impractical. 

157 We are also looking to incorporate, into future leadership and management 

development, new priorities and ways of working that have emerged during 

the pandemic (the ‘new normal’). For example, managing remote workers, 

business continuity planning, digital engagement and service delivery, and 

delivery in different ways. 

158 We continue to work toward attaining the better health at work award 

continuing excellence award status.  Our submission is due to be assessed in 

quarter three, 2020/21. 

 

 

Page 126



AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL   

(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?   (All data is 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020,                        

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        compared to the same period last year) 

 

 

 

 

 

474,000 
non-service requests  

via our customer  

services team 

provided 
advice

signposted
transferred 

call 
booked 

appointment

provided 
progress 
update

192k

accounts in use

52%

service requests 
received through 

self-service 
portal

24%

contact via self-
service portal

6,048
document receipts

2,854
CT/HB appts

1,162
waste permits

798
bulky waste

443
bin replace, repair

• 543,669 calls

• 98% answered

• 91% answered within 3 minutes

Customer Services (ACD)

• 656,313 calls

• 91% answered

• 87% answered within 3 minutes

Other ACD lines

Top 3 service request methods 

215,018
'do it online'

125,773
telephone

13,945
face to face

7% 

4% 

64% 

4,467 8,307 
12,545 17,014 21,426 25,883 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

Number of 'do it online' self-service 
account creation requests (YTD)

Top service requests by channel 

P
age 127



Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes 

for residents and customers?   

159 Although COVID-19 continues to impact service provision and ways of 

working, we successfully reinstated 23 services during quarter two. 

160 This included our highways team returning to a full programme of works, our 

adult learning and skills team reinstating activities that would allow face-to-

face delivery, Care Connect carrying out occupational therapy home visits, 

availability of Pick and Collect at our libraries, catering services being resumed 

(at Wharton Park, Durham Dales Tea Rooms and Locomotion Café) and re-

opening Binchester Roman Fort visitors centre.  

161 We also restarted our schools cycle training programme (Bikeability) and 

launched the ‘borrow a bike’ scheme in Shildon.  

162 Despite our Customer Access Points remaining closed and some services 

remaining unavailable during quarter two, overall customer contact has almost 

returned to pre-COVID levels (the 12 months ending 30 September was only 

2% lower than the same period last year). Further analysis shows that 

although we received 80,000 fewer signposts (-14%), we received 58,000 

more service requests (16%). 

163 The main drivers for the increase in service requests appears to be additional 

demand for existing services, e.g. more households joining our garden waste 

scheme, more issues being reported by residents, e.g. more reported fly-tips, 

and the requirement to book leisure activities (swimming and fitness classes) 

in advance online or by telephone.  

164 However, nine telephone lines (compared to 38 in quarter one) did not receive 

any calls during quarter two - including theatres, environmental health 

customer support, ICT helpdesk for schools and blue badge enquiries.  

165 The expansion in our online service delivery and availability of digital 

alternatives to face-to-face contact has resulted in more residents creating 

online accounts – since March, almost 26,000 have been created, just over 

half of which was during quarter two. We also launched virtual appointments to 

support residents with more complex queries and support requests. The 

appointments can be booked by our call centre team and have proved a 

successful alternative to our face to face offer.   

166 The introduction of web chat in June 2020 is supporting our drive toward a 

multi-channel contact centre and has helped almost 3,000 customers access 

service support and advice across more than 20 web pages. As agents can 

Page 128



support two concurrent chats and chat times are lower than alternative 

channels, the 3.5% conversion of telephony contact to web chat is driving 

significant capacity creation which will support reallocation of resource to other 

priority services. 95% of customers are satisfied with this contact method.   

167 Throughout quarter two, we continued to transfer non-ACD telephone lines 

into the ACD system7 which will enable us to view telephony demand and 

performance across the entire council and allow us to identify opportunities to 

improve and enhance the customer experience. During quarter two, two non-

ACD services were transferred, Abbey and Shildon Leisure Centres. 

168 We are maintaining vital support to our residents through the County Durham 

Together Community Hub. In addition to supporting those residents impacted 

by COVID-19, who are vulnerable, self-isolating, or socially isolated, the hub is 

now also a single point of contact for triage, response and escalation of all 

COVID-19 related enquiries (linked to both local and national restrictions).  

169 We continue to live stream our council meetings via YouTube, with residents 

participating and submitting questions remotely.   

170 In addition, throughout the autumn, we are holding virtual consultation events 

across each of our 14 Area Action Partnerships. These events will give 

residents an opportunity to have their say on the future of their local area as 

well as influence how we spend the £20 million fund to make our towns and 

villages more vibrant.   

171 Although the suspension of council tax and business rate recovery action in 

March is continuing to impact on our income as well as collection rates, we are 

continuing to provide financial assistance to our residents. Throughout July 

and August, we invited approximately 1,000 residents and 25,000 businesses 

to discuss their individual circumstances with us so any further support 

measures could be identified, for example, checking for discounts and 

exemptions, welfare benefit checks and support on debt advice. We are also 

administering the £500 test and trace payment for families on low incomes, 

and to date have made 31 payments.   

172 We stepped in to support families reliant on free school meals following the 

government’s decision not to extend the national scheme over the half-term 

 

7 Broadly speaking, we receive telephone calls either through our Automatic Call Distribution (ACD) 
system, which routes calls to groups of agents in line with ‘first-in-first-answered’ criteria, or directly to 
a telephone extension (non-ACD). 

 

Page 129



holidays. Our local scheme which invited parents and carers of children 

eligible for free school meals to apply for one £15 voucher per child, received 

almost 6,000 applications within 24 hours of being launched on our website. 

 

Page 130



 

AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL  

(c) How good are our services to customers and the public?   

 

Customer Satisfaction: 
from the CRM closure process  

(based on 10,040 responses) 

75% 
informed of 

length of time 

to resolve task 

75% 
informed of 

progress 

 

94% 
found it easy 

to contact the 

right service 

87% 
felt they were 

provided with 

clear 

information 

94% 
felt they were 

treated with 

dignity and 

respect 

 

83% 
satisfied with 

service 

delivery 

97% 
felt request was 

knowledgeably 

& effectively  

handled 

89% 
satisfied with 

the handling 

of their initial 

contact 

85% 
satisfied with 

time taken to 

complete their 

task 

Customer Feedback 

889
compliments

(-175)

642
suggestions

(+148)

156
comments 

about policies / 
procedures

(-30)

62
objections to 
our decisions 

(-109) 

61
dissatisfied 

with fees and 
charges

(-81)

2,380
corporate 
complaints

(-353)

130
statutory 

complaints

(-21)

184
independent 
investigation 

requests

79
Ombudsman 

decisions
78% investigated 

48% upheld 

Corporate Complaints 

1 in four due to either  

Missed Collections 
482 complaints 

58% upheld 

Contamination letters 

135 complaints 

90% upheld 
 

P
age 131



How good are our services to customers and the public? 

173 National Customer Services Week (5-9 October) gave us a week-long 

opportunity to raise awareness of customer service and the vital role it plays. A 

summary of highlights from the week is available here8. 

174 Customers can now provide feedback in relation to 91 different service 

requests (via automated customer satisfaction surveys at CRM closure).  

175 Over the last 12 months, we received just over 10,000 responses to our 

automated customer satisfaction survey (from the CRM closure process), which 

we acknowledge is a relatively small proportion of overall service delivery.  We 

continue to explore options to increase the response rate (including improved 

capture of email addresses and exploration of other contact channels) to 

expand the range of customer feedback and insight received. 

176 We believe the variation in number of responses and satisfaction levels is due 

to the emotiveness of the issue, with more emotive requests encouraging 

greater participation. 

177 In line with previous reports, half of all corporate complaints received during 

quarter two related to our waste collection service, predominantly missed 

collections (although there are more than 13 million collections each year) and 

correspondence issues surrounding contaminated bins. Just over 1% of the 

10,000 contamination letters issued in the 12 months ending 30 September 

were disputed by the recipient – those upheld mainly arose from difficulties 

identifying the house to which the bin belonged, which is most noticeable in 

back streets.  

178 To help reduce this type of avoidable customer contact, we are continuing to 

send text messages to households (where we are able) when crews are unable 

to collect a bin due to, for example, access issues, informing them of the 

situation and what we will do to resolve it. Crews are also checking addresses 

before logging contamination. 

179 More frequent liaison with service areas is continuing to reduce the percentage 

of upheld complaints – nearly 55% were upheld in 2019/20, compared to 48% 

the 12 months ending 30 September 2020. We recognise these are still high in 

some areas and are carrying out targeted work in those areas.  

 

 
8 Also available by emailing performance@durham.gov.uk 

Page 132



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 133



MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

1 
% of working age population in 
employment 

72.1 
Jul 2019- 
Jun 2020 

73 74.1 76.4 71.8 74.1 
 Yes 

RED RED RED GREEN RED 

2 
Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 

16,542 2018 
Tracker 15,875 21,609 16,995  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

3 
Number of gross jobs created or 
safeguarded as a result of Business 
Durham activity 

552 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 412    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

4 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

6.8 
as at Jun 

2020 

Tracker 7.8 5.1 6.9 6.9 
 No 

N/a RED GREEN AMBER AMBER 

 

MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

5 
Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 

16,763 2018 
Tracker 16,388 29,356 20,554  

 Yes 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

6 
Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 

14,105 
Mar 
2020 

Tracker 13,795    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

7 Value (£M) of new contracts secured 249,325 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 0    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

P
age 134



MORE AND BETTER JOBS  

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

8 
Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs 
created 

16.2 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

6 12.4    
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN    

9 
Number of Inward Investments 
secured 

0 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

6 2    
 Yes 

RED RED    

10 
% of Business Durham business floor 
space that is occupied 

79.7 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 85.6    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

 

MORE AND BETTER JOBS 

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

11 
Number of visitors to County Durham 
(million) 

20.13 2019 
Tracker 19.71    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

12 
Number of jobs supported by the visitor 
economy 

12,133 2019 
Tracker 11,998    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

13 
Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 

955 2019 
Tracker 914    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 

 

 

P
age 135



  

MORE AND BETTER JOBS   

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

14 Average Attainment 8 score 45 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 44.4 46.8 44.7 45.3 
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN AMBER 

15 
Average point score per A level entry 
of state-funded school students 

35.5 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 33.4 33.1 32.8  
 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

16 
% of pupils achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (KS2) 

65 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 67 65 67 61 
 No 

N/a RED GREEN RED GREEN 

17 
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET) 

5.8 
Apr-Jun 

2020 

Tracker 6.0 2.8 4.7  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED RED  

18 

Gap between average Attainment 8 
score of Durham disadvantaged 
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils 
nationally (KS4) 

-12.7 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker -14.5 -13.6 -15.4  
 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

19 
% of children in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage achieving a Good 
Level of Development 

71.8 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

64 72.8 71.8 71.8  
 No 

GREEN AMBER GREEN GREEN  

20 

Gap between % of Durham 
disadvantaged pupils and % of non-
disadvantaged pupils nationally who 
achieve expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths (KS2) 

-19.8 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker -15.1 -20 -18  

 No 

N/a RED GREEN RED  

21 
Ofsted % of Primary schools judged 
good or better 

89 
as at  

30 Sep 
2020 

Tracker 91 87 91  
 No 

N/a RED GREEN RED  

22 
Ofsted % of secondary schools 
judged good or better 

64 
as at  

30 Sep 
2020 

Tracker 61 76 60  
 No  

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

P
age 136



MORE AND BETTER JOBS   

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?    

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

23 
Exclusion from school of all Durham 
children - percentage of children with 
at least one fixed exclusion 

2.2 
2018/19 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 2.1 2.44 2.78 2.86 
 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

24 
% of free school meals (FSM) eligible 
pupils taking FSM 

75.8 Jan 2020 
Tracker 79.4 78.7 78.7  

 No 
N/a RED RED RED  

25 
Under-18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17  

26.4 2018 
Tracker 23.7 16.7 24.9 25.0 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

26 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

73.2 2019 
Tracker 74.2 76.6 76.7 71.7 

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED GREEN 

27 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)^^ 

54.7 
2016/17-
2018/19 

Tracker 53.1 31.6 60.0 46.8 
 No 

N/a RED RED GREEN RED 

28 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted 
to hospital as a result of self-harm 
(rate per 100,000)^^ 

354.3 2018/19 
Tracker 350.1 444.0 536.5 589.9 

 No 
N/a AMBER GREEN GREEN GREEN 

^^next update due quarter four 

 

 

P
age 137



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

29 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

24.0 2018/19 
Tracker 25.0 22.6 24.3 25.0 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN GREEN 

30 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

37.7 2018/19 
Tracker 37.1 34.3 37.5 37.2  

No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER AMBER 

31 
% of Education Health and Care 
Plans completed in the statutory 20 
week time period (excl. exceptions) 

60 
Jan-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 66.6 60.4 69.8 68.9 
2019 Yes 

N/a RED AMBER RED RED 

**not reporting for 2019/20 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

32 

% of successful interventions 
(families turned around) via the 
Stronger Families Programme 
(Phase 2) [number] 

76.8% 
[567/730] 

Apr-Sep 
2020 

730* N/a    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

33 

% of children aged 0-2 years in the 
top 30% IMD registered with a 
Family Centre and having sustained 
contact 

88.8 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

90 88.3    
 Yes 

AMBER GREEN    

*target is for March 2021 

 

P
age 138



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

34 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

15.7* 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

14.7 17.3 9.8 13.4 13.1 Apr-Jun 
2020 

Yes 
RED GREEN RED RED RED 

35 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

2,356 
[1,540] 

Apr-Dec 
2019 

Tracker  
2,656 

[1,642] 
1,220 1,696  

 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

36 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.2 2016-18 
Tracker 78.3 79.6 77.9 78.2 

 No 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN GREEN 

37 
Female life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

81.5 2016-18 
Tracker 81.4 83.2 81.7 81.9  

 
No 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER AMBER 

38 
Female healthy life expectancy at 
birth (years) 

58.4 2016-18 
Tracker 58.7 63.9 59.7 61.0 

 No 
N/a AMBER RED RED RED 

39 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.3 2016-18 
Tracker 58.9 63.4 59.4 60.5 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER AMBER 

40 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion 
of adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

63.3 2018/19 

Tracker 66.7 62.3 64.9 67.3 

 No 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN AMBER 

41 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide 
and injury of undetermined intent) 
per 100,000 population 

13.4 2017-19 

Tracker 12.8 10.0 11.6 12.3 

 Yes 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

42 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth (%) 

31.4 
Apr-Jun 

2020 

Tracker 28.3 48.2 36.0 34 Q3 
2019/20 

Yes 
N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

43 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

17.0 2019 
Tracker 15.0 13.9 15.3 15.2 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

P
age 139



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

44 
Self-reported well-being - people 
with a low happiness score 

9.5 2018/19 
Tracker 8.9 7.8 9.7 9.5 

 No 
N/a RED RED GREEN GREEN 

45 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

59.9 
Nov 2018- 
Nov 2019 

Tracker 58.5 62.6 59.3  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

46 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

28.0 
Nov 2018- 
Nov 2019 

Tracker 29.9 25.1 29  
 No 

N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

 *provisional data 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

47 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

180.5 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

TBD 384.5    

 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

48 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

82.5 
Jan-Jun 

2020 

TBD 86.9 82.4 83.0 80.7* 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

49 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

94.4 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 95.2 92.4 93.9 93.5* 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a AMBER 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

P
age 140



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

50 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

92.4 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 87.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

51 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

67.8 2018/19 
Tracker 66.6 64.3 66.2 66.0* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

52 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

51.2 2018/19 
Tracker 43.3** 38.6 47.2 41.8* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

53 
Daily delayed transfers of care beds, 
all, per 100,000 population age 18+ 

2.9 Feb 2020 
Tracker 1.5 11.0 7.0 11.0* 

 No 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

54 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

75.1 2018/19 
Tracker 74.9 67.5 71.8 69.3* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 

** results from 2016/17 survey  

 

 

 

 

P
age 141



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

55 

% of statutory referrals received by the 
First Contact Team or Emergency 
Duty Team processed within 1 working 
day 

92.8 
[1912] 

Apr-Sep 
2020 

Tracker 
94.2 

[2,556] 
   

 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

56 
% of statutory children in need 
referrals occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral 

23.0 
[561] 

Apr-Sep 
2020 

Tracker 
33.2 
[440] 

21 21 19 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

57 
% of single assessments completed 
within 45 working days 

85.5 
[2,150] 

Apr-Sep 
2020 

Tracker 
94.1 

[2,449] 
83 83 84 

2018/19 Yes 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

58 
Rate of children subject to a child 
protection plan per 10,000 population 
aged under 18 [number of children] 

47.05 
[473] 

as at 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 
36.4 
[368] 

44 63 54 as at 
31 Mar 19 

Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

59 
Rate of children in need per 10,000 
population aged under 18 (statutory L4 
open cases) [number of children] 

351.4 
[3,533] 

as at 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 
346.9 

[3,478] 
334 445 391 as at  

31 Mar 19 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

60 
Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 
10,000 population aged under 18 (One 
Point open cases) [number of children] 

148.1 
[1,497] 

as at 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 
219.8 

[2,210] 
   

 Yes 

N/a N/a    

61 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 
led to an initial child protection 
conference being held within 15 
working days 

92.6 
[340 of 
367] 

Apr-Sep 
2020 

75 
90.5 
[147] 

79 82 79 

2018/19 Yes 
GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

62 
% of Social Workers with fewer than 
20 cases 

62 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 55    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

63 
% of Statutory Case File Audits which 
are given a scaling score of 6 or above 

84.1 
Jan-Jun 

2020 

80 85.7      

No 
GREEN  GREEN     

 

P
age 142



 

 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

64 
Rate of children looked after per 10,000 
population aged under 18 [number of 
children] 

95.09 
[956] 

as at 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 
86.9        
[873] 

65 101 94 as at  
31 Mar 19 

Yes 
N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

65 
% of children adopted from care (as % 
of total children leaving care) 
[number of children] 

18.2 
[53 of 291]                         

2019/20 
15 

12.3 
[39 of 316]                         

12 13 16 
2018/19 No 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

66 
% of CLA who are fostered incl. friends 
and family 

76.3 
[725]  

as at 
30 Sep 20 

Tracker 
78.7 
[688]  

72 74 72 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

67 % of external residential placements 
4.5 
[43] 

as at 
30 Sep 20 

Tracker 
3.9 
[34] 

   
 Yes 

N/a N/A    

68 
% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who had a dental 
check 

49 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 89.7 85 87 89 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED RED RED RED 

69 

% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who have had 
the required number of health 
assessments 

90 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 91.9 90 95 95 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a AMBER GREEN RED RED 

70 

Emotional and behavioural health of 
children looked after continuously for 12 
months or more (score between 0 to 
40) 

13.5 2019/20 
Tracker 15.5 14.2 14.1 14.0 

2018/19 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

71 
Average Attainment 8 score of Children 
Looked After 

25.6 2018/19  
Tracker 24.8 19.2 20.6 20.5 

 No 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN P

age 143



*provisional data 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

77 
First time entrants to the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000 
population aged 10 to 17)  

213 
Oct 18- 
Sep 19 

Tracker 250 220 303 231 
 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

78 
Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

30.7 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 24.8     
 Yes 

N/a RED    

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER 

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

72 
% of CLA achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2) 

55 2018/19 
Tracker 39.5 36 47  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

73 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

67 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 64.8 64 63 63 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

74 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

56 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 64.6 52 50 52 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

75 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
suitable accommodation 

93 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 93.2 88 93 91 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a AMBER GREEN GREEN GREEN 

76 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
suitable accommodation 

95 
as at 

Sep 2020 

Tracker 94.8 85 90 87 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

P
age 144



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

79 
Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

6.5 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 6.6    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

80 
Proportion of all offenders who re-
offend in a 12 month period (%) 

30.6 
Apr-Jun 

2019 

Tracker 30.8 31.7 35.7 30.0 
2016/17 No 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN RED 

81 
Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period (%) 

51.9 2017/18 
Tracker 41.4 38.4 41.8  

 No 
N/a RED RED RED  

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 

Satisfaction with the way that the 
council and police are dealing with 
local concerns about ASB and crime 
issues in your area. 

56.4 Mar 2020 
Tracker 50.1   53.7 

Jun 2019 No 
N/a RED   RED 

83 
Number of police reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

17,133 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 13,962    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

84 
Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

14,143 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 13,418  
 

 
 

 Yes 
N/a RED    

 

P
age 145



 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

85 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

30.6 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 30.1 37.8 31.2  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

86 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.6 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 5.5 5.8 4.3  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

87 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

30.8 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 27.9 34.8 25.8  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

88 
% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

19.0 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 28.5    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

89 
% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related 

32.5 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 30.3    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

90 Alcohol seizures 194** 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

*with rep to June 2020  
**under review 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 146



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

91 
Building resilience to terrorism (self-

assessment). Score - level 1(low) to 5(high) 
3* 2017/18 

Tracker 3    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

92 
No of individuals with a referral for 1:1 
CSE Support from Supporting 
Solutions Team** 

50 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker New**    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

*under review     ** New definition – Includes all children - High/Medium/Low Risk (Previously only High-Risk referred to Supporting Solutions) 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

93 
Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

178 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 233    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 20  17    

 
- Number of seriously injured 158  216    

94 
Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

16 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 11    
 

Yes 
N/a RED    

 
- Number of fatalities 1  0    

 
- Number of seriously injured 15  11    

 

P
age 147



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter 
that fall below an acceptable level  

4.46 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 6.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

96 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

10.27 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 13.36    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

97 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

0.56 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 0.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

98 Number of fly-tipping incidents 7,409 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 7,073     

Yes 
N/a RED    

*not directly comparable 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

99 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (carbon neutral by 
2050) 

55.2 2018 
Tracker 54    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

100 
% reduction in CO2 emissions from 
local authority operations compared to 
the 2008/09 baseline, 70% by 2025 

51 2019/20 

Tracker 47    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

P
age 148



101 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

96.8 
Jul 2019- 
Jun 2020 

95 95.5 89.2 92.9  
2018/19 Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN  

102 
% of household waste that is re-used, 
recycled or composted 

39.4 
Jul 2019- 
Jun 2020 

Tracker 41.4 42.7 35.1  
2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN  

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

103 
Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use  

406 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 468    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

104 
Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention 

40 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

50 43    
 Yes 

RED RED    

105 Number of net homes completed 101 
Apr-Jun 

2020 

Tracker 401     
 

No 
N/a RED    

106 
Number of affordable homes 
delivered 

628 2019/20 
300 532    

 Yes 
GREEN GREEN    

107 
Number of households accessing the 
Housing Solutions Service 

3,063 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 3,321    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

108 
Number of households helped to stay 
in their home 

334 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 336     

Yes 
N/a AMBER    

109 
Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 

205 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 303     

Yes 
N/a RED    

  

P
age 149



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

110 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

2.6 2018 
Tracker 2.6 3 2 3 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

111 
% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

4.7 2018 
Tracker 4.7 6 3 4 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER AMBER 

112 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21 2018 
Tracker 20 17 16 18 

2018 No  
N/a AMBER RED RED RED 

113 
Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 

179.7 2018 
Tracker 187.6    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

114 
Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 
Roads* 

80.7 2018 
Tracker 80.0    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

115 
Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal 
Roads* 

79.9 2018 
Tracker 81.0    

 No 
N/a AMBER    

* Bridge Stock Condition (>=90 very good condition / >=80 good condition / >=65 fair condition / >=40 poor condition / <40 very poor condition) 

 

 

 

P
age 150



EXCELLENT COUNCIL  

How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

116 
% of performance appraisals 
completed on current posts in rolling 
year period (excluding schools)*** 

N/a* - 
N/a N/a    

 No 
N/a N/a     

117 
Days / shifts lost to sickness absence 
(all services excluding schools) 

10.25 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

11.20 10.17 9.2**   
2017/18 Yes 

GREEN RED RED   

118 
% posts with no absence in rolling 
year (excluding schools) 

63.71 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 59.52    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

119 
% of sickness absence which is short 
term 

10.77 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 13.45    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

120 
% of sickness absence which is 
medium term 

12.47 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 14.62    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

121 
% of sickness absence which is long 
term 

76.76 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 71.93    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

122 
% of employees having five days or 
less sickness per 12 month period 

77.27 
Oct 2019- 
Sep 2020 

Tracker 78.40    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

*Due to new system introduction 

**includes school support staff but excludes teachers. All single/upper tier councils Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18 

*** Having put all Personal Development Reviews on hold due to COVID-19, we are now reinstating the process, starting with our leaders in October 2020.  Managers will follow in January 2021 and all other 

employees in April 2021. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 151



 

EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

123 % of council tax collected in-year 53.9 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Not Set 55.9    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

124 % of business rates collected in-year 56.7 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Not Set 58.7    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

 

EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

125 

% of Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information 
Regulations requests responded to 
within 20 working days 

78 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

90 74    
 Yes 

RED GREEN    

126 Customer contacts: telephone 1,199,982 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 1,042,834*    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

127 Customer contacts: face to face 63,681 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 115,931**    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

128 Customer contacts: web forms 209,376 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 145,386    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

P
age 152



EXCELLENT COUNCIL 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

129 Customer contacts:  emails 54,829 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 43,560    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

130 Customer contacts:  social media 5,211 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 2,944    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

131 % of calls answered 94 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 96*    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

132 % of calls answered within 3 minutes 89 
Oct 2019-
Sep 2020 

Tracker 93* 
    Yes 

N/a N/a 

*data is not comparable as new telephony lines are continuing to be added to ACD 

** data is not comparable as customer access points have been closed during 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

P
age 153



Appendix 3:  Risk Management  

 

1 Effective risk management is a vital component of the Council’s challenging 

improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified and 

minimised.  The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside 

service improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and 

improvement projects.   

2 The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate ambition 

are detailed against each ambition in the relevant sections of the report.  These 

risks have been identified using the following criteria: - 

(a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 

possible. 

(b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable. 

(c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable. 

 

3 On 30 September 2020, there were 30 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, 

two more than on 31 May 2020. During this period, two risks were added, and 

none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks according 

to their net risk evaluation as at 30 September 2020. The number of risks as at 31 

May 2020 is shown in brackets. 

 

Corporate Risk Heat Map 

IM
P

A
C

T
 

Critical 1 (1)   4 (4)   1 (1) 

Major   5 (5) 5 (4) 1 (1)   

Moderate     10 (9) 3 (3)   

Minor           

Insignificant           

 Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 

 Key risks  LIKELIHOOD 

 

Page 154



4 Two risks were added to the corporate risk register: 

(a) ‘Risk that the Council fails, in its role as a community leader, to help partners, 

local businesses and communities make the necessary adaptations and 

mitigations in pursuit of the target of being a carbon-neutral County by 2050’.   

 

In February 2019, Durham County Council declared a Climate Change 

Emergency with ambitious targets to reduce its own carbon emissions and to 

investigate what further actions are necessary to make County Durham 

Carbon neutral by 2050. In July 2019, Council approved a report from the 

Corporate Director, REAL, which explored what the council, with its partners, 

needs to do to achieve its targets. One of the key mitigations is the Climate 

Emergency Response Plan 2020-2022, incorporating over 100 projects. The 

scale, duration and complexity of the programme means that sustained 

oversight, monitoring and review are essential. Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will review performance 

against the plan and make recommendations for the revision of targets. It is 

considered probable that this risk will occur, which will have a major impact. 

 

(b) ‘Demand pressures on the Community Protection inspections and 

interventions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic and a potential No-Deal-

Brexit may lead to an adverse impact on public health and safety in Co 

Durham’.  

 

This risk concerns inspections of business premises to monitor food standards, 

health and safety, and permitted installations under Environment, Health and 

Consumer Protection enforcement policy. The risk has increased due to 

current COVID-19 pressures and Brexit uncertainty, and it is considered 

possible that this risk will occur, which will have a moderate impact 

 

5 At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the council, with their respective net risk 

evaluations shown in brackets, are: 

(a)  Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to 

delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of 

the wider community (Critical / Possible); 

(b)  If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the council, 

required savings may not be achieved, necessitating extensive utilisation of 

reserves, which may have been depleted during the COVID-19 outbreak, to 

balance future years budgets (Critical / Possible); 

(c)  There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from 

government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive 

Page 155



Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review. In addition, the short to long 

term impact of COViD-19 upon the council is also unknown (Critical / Highly 

Probable); 

(d)  Risk that the Council fails, in its role as a community leader, to help partners, 

local businesses and communities make the necessary adaptations and 

mitigations in pursuit of the target of being a carbon-neutral County by 2050 

(Major/Probable); 

(e)  Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 

factor or issue) (Critical / Possible); 

(f)  Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm (where service 

failure is a factor or issue) (Critical / Possible). 

6 The implementation of additional mitigation on several risks has enabled the 

council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 

detailed in the relevant sections of the report.   

 

More and Better Jobs: Overview   

There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme. 

 

Long and Independent Lives: Overview 

There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme. 

.  

Connected Communities: Overview   

The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are: - 

a. Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm.  Management 

consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to the severe 

impacts on service users, will result in serious damage to the council’s 

reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. As the statutory 

body, the multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan in 

place for taking forward actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a 

comprehensive training programme for staff and regular supervision takes 

place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed regularly.  

Page 156



b. Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 

factor or issue). Management consider it possible that this risk could occur 

which, in addition to the severe impacts on children, will result in serious 

damage to the Council’s reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding 

partners. Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership has been established in 

line with the statutory requirements set out in ‘Working Together 2018’. 

Partnership learning through scrutiny mechanisms and learning reviews 

underpins training for front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. 

A review of the partnership arrangements is in progress with initial findings to 

be reported by December 2020.  

c. ‘Risk that the council fails, in its role as a community leader, to help partners, 

local businesses and communities make the necessary adaptations and 

mitigations in pursuit of the target of being a carbon-neutral County by 2050’.  

One of the key mitigations is the Climate Emergency Response Plan 2020-

2022, incorporating over 100 projects. The scale, duration and complexity of 

the programme means that sustained oversight, monitoring and review are 

essential. Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will review performance against the plan and make 

recommendations for the revision of targets. This risk is long term 

 

Excellent Council: Overview   

The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are: -  

a. Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to 

delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of 

the wider community’. The council’s response is being led by the Director of 

Public Health, supported by an internal planning group, which is linked to 

planning arrangements at local, regional and national levels. Formal internal 

governance arrangements to oversee and manage risk are in place. Longer-

term risks will be identified and managed, including recovery of service 

delivery back to business as usual, dealing with the impact on future local 

government funding from central government and the economic impact on 

County Durham. This risk is long term. 

b. ‘If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the council, 

required savings may not be achieved, requiring extensive utilisation of 

reserves which may have been depleted during the COVID-19 outbreak, to 

balance future years budgets.’ The Delivery plan implementation will be 

monitored by CMT and Cabinet. This will be a significant risk for at least the 

next 4 years.   

Page 157



c. ‘There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from 

government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive 

Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review'. Management consider it 

highly probable that this risk could occur. To mitigate the risk, sound financial 

forecasting is in place based on thorough examination of the Government's 

"red book" plans alongside forecasting of council expenditure and income 

especially in relation to the areas impacted by COVID-19. This will also be a 

significant risk for at least the next 4 years.  

Page 158



 

         

        

 Cabinet 

11 December 2020 

Transport Asset Management Plan - 

Annual Update 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with an annual update on the Transport Asset 
Management Plan (TAMP). 

Executive summary 

2 The adopted highway is the Council’s largest and highest value asset.  
The TAMP sets out the long term plan for managing the highway asset 
so that the condition is maximised for the available budget.  The report 
highlights the substantial investment by the council which has 
contributed to the reduction in the maintenance backlog over the past 
year. 

Recommendations 

3 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(a) approve the annual update report; and 

(b) note the substantial investment in programmed capital 
maintenance and the ongoing work to maximise funding going 
forward. 

  

Page 159

Agenda Item 6



 

Background 

 
4 The adopted highway network is the Council’s largest and highest value 

asset.  Across the county it includes 3,793 kilometres of carriageway, 
487 road bridges and 82,423 street lighting columns.  It is used every 
day by nearly all County Durham residents and businesses together 
with many visitors.  The highway network is therefore fundamental to 
economic and social activity in County Durham. 
 

5 The asset is of course in a continual process of change.  Not only is the 
infrastructure ageing, bringing with it demands for maintenance and 
capital improvement, but the inventory also grows with new 
developments.  With finite resources, it is vital to ensure that investment 
is well directed to ensure a safe, serviceable and sustainable highway 
network.  This approach helps maximise the condition of the highway 
for the available budget. 

 
6 A TAMP is a key tool in delivering this.  It provides an opportunity to 

systematically understand the condition of the highway asset, and to 
establish policy and priorities regarding investment.  It applies a whole 
life cost approach and considers the asset in the long term. 

 
7 The TAMP for Durham County Council has been developed to achieve 

the following best practice standards: 
 

• British Standard BS ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management. The 
council was the first council in the UK to achieve this accreditation 
in 2015; 

• The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) 
- Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets; and  

• Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) - Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance Document. 

8 Throughout the country there are more demands on highways than 
there are resources to maintain and improve them.  Indeed, the Annual 
Local Authority Road Maintenance (ALARM) Survey 2020 estimates the 
backlog for England and Wales at £9.64 billion for carriageways and 
footways.  Having a TAMP does however put the Council in a good 
position for establishing a clear case for investment, particularly from 
the Department for Transport. 
 

9 Delays in the production of the TAMP annual update occurred due to 
Covid-19 lockdown restrictions and issues with transfer of data into the 
Symology Integrated Asset Management System. 

Page 160



 

Key Findings of the TAMP 

10 The TAMP is set out in full in Appendix 2 and 3.  It is divided into two 
separate sections; section one being the policy which set out the 
principles of TAMP and section two being an annual update report. 

 

Condition 

11 The condition of A, B and C principal roads have improved in recent 
years and are close to the national average.  This reflects that the 
council has prioritised budgets at maintaining principal roads which 
have the highest usage. 
 

12 Structures are generally in ‘good to fair’ condition and the backlog has 
now stabilised after increasing in recent years due to updated and more 
accurate condition surveys. 

 
13 The key issues are: 
 

• unclassified roads: the condition deteriorated due to the severe 
winter of 2017/18 and we are starting to see improvements in 
their condition with the investment in on-going programmes of 
resurfacing; 

• footways: a high proportion requires resurfacing.  However, there 
has been an improvement over the past 5 years and there is an 
on-going programme of resurfacing works is in place; and 

• street lighting columns: a significant number of columns have 
reached the end of their service life.  There is an on-going column 
replacement programme in place. 

Maintenance Backlog 

14 The maintenance backlog is the value of maintenance required to bring 
the entire highway asset up to good condition.  Good condition 
represents where the maintenance backlog will be zero with no defects.  
This is an ideal theoretical target which is not realistic in practice and 
therefore nearly every Highway Authority has a significant maintenance 
backlog. 

 
  

Page 161



 

15 The maintenance backlog as at 31 March 2019 is summarised as 
follows: 

 

Maintenance Backlog  £Millions 31 March  

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Carriageways 67.5 67.7 66.8 59.2 57.3 52.8 52.7 51.6 

Footways 48.1 48.4 47.0 47.7 47.5 44.8 40.5 35.1 

Street Lighting 24.8 25.6 23.3 23.5 22.1 19.2 17.1 17.2 

Structures 9.9 9.9 9.9 22.4 36.0 42.0 40.6 40.6* 

Traffic Management 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Kerbing 18.1 18.2 20.2 18.4 18.5 18.5 18.5 18.5 

Drainage 5.4 5.4 5.8 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6 

Road Markings 0.8 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Street Furniture 2.3 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.1 

Total 178.0 179.6 177.0 181.1 191.7 187.6 179.7 172.6 

*Projected 
 

16 As can be seen from the above, the maintenance backlog in relation to 
carriageways, footways and street lighting has reduced since 2012. 
 

17 The Council’s maintenance backlog is broadly in line with other councils 
on average taking into account the size of the highway network. 

 

Investment Levels – Council and Department for Transport Funding 

18 Despite unprecedented reductions in government funding since 2010, 
the Council has protected and continued to prioritise investment in 
programmed capital maintenance.  Indeed, funding has steadily risen - 
the Council’s contribution to programmed capital maintenance in 
2010/11 was £0.7 million, however, this has increased to £8.86 million 
in 2019/20.  

 
19 The DfT provides the majority of the funding for programmed capital 

maintenance. In 2019/20 this is £12.2 million. This funding is not ring-
fenced but the Council has always allocated it fully to highway 
maintenance and every opportunity is taken to secure additional 
funding. 

 
20 The Council has achieved the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating under 

the DfT’s Incentive Fund which was introduced in 2016.  Durham was 
one of only two Highway Authorities to achieve this maximum efficiency 
rating out of 119 participating Highway Authorities in England in 2016 
and has maintained the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating in 2019.  
This rating will help ensure the Council maximises funding from the 
DfT’s Incentive Fund going forward. 
 

Page 162



 

21 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the highway 
asset for a given level of investment in programmed capital 
maintenance.  A range of investment levels (condition or budget led) are 
provided to allow stakeholders to select the most appropriate 
investment level to meet their objectives. 

 
22 The key investment levels are summarised below: 
 

Investment Level – 
Programmed Capital 
Maintenance 

1 April 2017 Prices (£ millions) 

One Off 
Capital 

Cost 

Annual 
Average 

Capital 
Cost 

Annual 
Average 

Capital Cost 
(Once Backlog 

Cleared) 

Projected Budget N/A £17.8 N/A 

Steady State Condition N/A £21.8 N/A 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 1 year then 
maintain at steady state 
condition 

£172.6 N/A £21.5 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 30 years then 
maintain at steady state 
condition 

N/A £29.2 £21.5 

 
23 The Projected Budget is an indicative annualised figure of the expected 

budget and the actual budget may be greater or less depending upon 
DfT and council funding.  The total budget for programmed capital 
maintenance in 2019/20 was £21.0 million. 

 
24 The steady state condition investment level is where the budget is set to 

keep the current condition constant after allowing for annual average 
deterioration.  The steady state condition investment level is calculated 
using nationally accredited lifecycle planning models which are based 
on current condition projected forward for average annual deterioration 
over a period of 30 years. 

 
25 In the short term the annual movements in the maintenance backlog are 

affected by inflation, annual variations in deterioration due to the 
severity of the weather, cycle for collecting condition data which is up to 
6 years and the accuracy of the nationally accredited deterioration 
model when applied to County Durham.  Therefore, the annual 
movements in the maintenance backlog in paragraph 15 do not 
necessarily reconcile to the investment levels above. 
 

Page 163



 

26 Current investment levels, including those over the last few years and 
those projected over the next few years are allowing the maintenance 
backlog to be broadly stable, and indeed condition improvements 
across several highway categories through a process of prioritisation.  
This will however get more challenging in the longer term, as the asset 
ages further. The financial climate at this time may be better or worse, 
but there will be a continued strong case for investment. 

Complementary Work to the TAMP 

27 The Council has led the development and implementation of the North 
East Highways Alliance which was formally established in September 
2013.  This is a forum for collaborative working for all 12 north east 
councils.  The North East Highways Alliance has delivered a number of 
initiatives that are helping all councils involved, including Durham, 
maximise efficiencies in highways through sharing resources, 
collaborative procurement and knowledge sharing. 

 
28 This partnership working together with on-going collaborative working of 

our in-house Highway Services team with our supply chain of 
competitively procured external sub-contractors has led to the Council 
being one of the first in the UK to be awarded British Standard BS11000 
– Collaborative Business Relationships.  This again will assist in 
maximising funding from the DfT. 

 
29 In addition to the TAMP the Council has a Highway Maintenance Plan 

(HMP) which sets out the Council’s service levels for inspections, 
reactive maintenance and routine maintenance in accordance with 
national codes of practice.  This includes the highway safety inspection 
regime which helps ensure that the adopted highway throughout the 
county is maintained in a safe condition as far as reasonably 
practicable. 

Plastic and Crumb Rubber Surfacing 

30 The Council has continued working with Rainton Construction in 
ensuring that plastic and rubber crumb is used in surfacing schemes 
throughout the county. 

 
31 The Council continues to review opportunities for further improvement 

and innovation including the use of new materials. 
 
32 Using plastic and rubber crumb in roads reduces the amount of bitumen 

required in the binder.  The benefits of this are: 
 

• provide an outlet for single use plastic and rubber that would 
otherwise be sent to landfill or incinerated; and 

Page 164



 

• reduces the amount of bitumen required which reduces fossil 
fuels and carbon emissions and thus contributing to arresting 
climate change. 

Conclusion 

33 Like most Highway Authorities, the Council has a highways 
maintenance backlog and faces considerable challenges to maintain the 
condition of the highway network.  However, the TAMP demonstrates 
that work is progressing well in helping to maximise the condition of the 
highway for the available budget. 

 
34 The Council has been steadily increasing its own investment and has 

also been proactive in attracting considerable funding from DfT.  This 
TAMP together with the top efficiency rating will ensure that it is well 
placed to maximise the much needed funding from the DfT going 
forward. 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Implications 

• Appendix 2: Transport Asset Management Plan - Section 1 – 
Policy. 

• Appendix 3: Transport Asset Management Plan - Section 2 - 
Annual Update Report 2019. 

Background papers 

• British Standard BS ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management. 

• The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) 
- Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets. 

• Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) - Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance Document. 

• Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet 
Report dated 6 April 2016. 

• Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet 
Report dated 20 June 2017. 

• Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet 
Report dated 12 September 2018. 

• Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet 
Report dated 10 July 2019. 

Page 165



 

Other useful documents 

• None. 

Author 

Brian Buckley Tel: 03000 268166 

  

Page 166



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Highways Act 1980 sets out the main duties of the Local Highway 
Authority in respect of highways maintenance.  In particular, Section 41 
imposes a duty to maintain the adopted highway at public expense.  The 
Highways Act does not specify the level of maintenance although national 
Codes of Practice offer guidance in line with best practice. 

Finance 

The TAMP informs the capital bids for programmed capital maintenance.  The 
TAMP also provides the methodology for prioritising the programmed capital 
maintenance budget. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

Street lighting helps reduce the fear of crime. 

Staffing 

Highway maintenance is delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, 
Highway Services, who are supported by an extensive supply chain of 
competitively procured external sub-contractors. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The investment level in programmed capital maintenance directly affects the 
condition of the highway asset, maintenance backlog, number of defects, 
number of public liability claims and public satisfaction. 

  

Page 167



 

Procurement 

Highway maintenance is delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, 
Highway Services, who are supported by an extensive supply chain of 
competitively procured external sub-contractors. 

 

Page 168



 

 
 

Transport Asset Management 
Plan  

(TAMP) 
 

Section 1 - Policy 
 

 

 

 

 

Date 23rd October 2020 

Status  Final 

Prepared by Andrew Blanckley, Senior Engineer – Highway Assets 

Approved by Brian Buckley, Strategic Highways Manager 

Page 169



 2

Contents 

 

Foreword ........................................................................................................ 3 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................... 5 

2. British Standards BS ISO 55001 : Asset Management..................... 6 

3. Legal Responsibility and Duties ........................................................ 6 

3.1 Adopted Highway ................................................................................ 6 

3.2 Private Streets ..................................................................................... 6 

4. Objectives ............................................................................................ 6 

5. Condition Performance....................................................................... 7 

6. Investment Levels ............................................................................. 11 

7. Programmed Maintenance ............................................................... 11 

8. Lifecycle Assumptions ..................................................................... 13 

9. Feedback ............................................................................................ 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 3

Foreword  
 

By Councillor Brian Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and 
Local Partnerships. 
  

 

 
 
The highway network is the Council’s largest and most valuable tangible asset. 
It is used every day by nearly all County Durham residents and businesses 
together with many visitors. Therefore, the highway network is fundamental to 
all economic and social activity in County Durham.  
  
This Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) sets out the Council’s long-
term plan for managing the highway asset. The TAMP applies best practice 
asset management principles to ensure that the right maintenance treatment is 
selected at the right time to ensure a safe, serviceable and sustainable highway 
network. 
  
As a service we have delivered a significant number of schemes and 
improvements to our network and our assets. In the last 12-months we have 
constructed a flood relief drainage scheme at Chester-le-Street, delivered the 
Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project Phase 1 and have commenced Phase 
2, resurfaced numerous carriageways and footways and completed the School 
20mph Zone project that benefits thousands of our road users every day. 
  
The Council has a nationally accredited Asset Management System ISO55001. 
I am pleased to report that we continue to be one of a few public sector 
organisations nationally that have this award which confirms the effective and 
efficient management of our highway assets.  
  
In line with the Council’s action plan to reduce our carbon footprint, and our 
strive to become carbon neutral by 2050, we are investing in new technologies 
that use difficult to recycle plastics and crumb rubber from tyres, in our 
resurfacing schemes. This contributes to our Climate Emergency Response 
Plan and we will continue to explore further emerging treatments that reduce 
the impact that highways have on the environment and in turn reduces our 
carbon footprint. 
  

Page 171



 4

The Council approved £5 million in additional funding to address the highway 
maintenance backlog. This is in addition to the Department for Transport 
investment for highways resulting in over £21 million allocated for the 
management of our assets. 
 
Looking forward to next year and the increased central government funding for 
highways assets repair and maintenance, we will be able to deliver larger scale 
capital structures projects, and the additional funding for carriageways and 
footways will make a significant contribution to addressing our maintenance 
backlog. 
  
This 2020 report demonstrates that the Council is continuing its commitment to 
investing in maintaining the highway infrastructure. I commend the work being 
undertaken by our highway teams in delivering a high-quality service for the 
benefit of all highway users. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 5

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The TAMP is  divided into two separate sections: 
 

 Section 1 - Policy (which sets out the principles of the TAMP); 
and 

 Section 2 - Annual Update Report. 
 
1.2 The Annual Update Report provides an update on the inventory, 

condition, maintenance backlog, public satisfaction, performance, 
valuation and options to achieve the specified investment levels. The 
Annual Update Report is scheduled to be produced in the summer 
each year. 

 
1.3 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 

asset for a given level of investment in programmed capital 
maintenance.  It applies the ‘right maintenance treatment at the right 
time’ to minimise whole life costs subject to the available budget. 

 
1.4 The right treatment at the right time minimises whole life costs as it 

is less costly than letting the asset continue to deteriorate and 
undertaking a more extensive treatment at a later date. 

 
1.5 The TAMP aims to minimise whole life costs but this is not always 

possible as budget constraints may result in not all the right 
treatments being undertaken at the right time particularly where 
there is an existing maintenance backlog. In this case the budget is 
prioritised based on the following criteria: 

 
 Safety; 
 Return on investment; and 
 Network hierarchy. 

 
1.6 The main types of highway maintenance are as follows: 
 

Type of 
Maintenance
  

Funding Description 

Reactive Revenue Responding to inspections, complaints or 
emergencies 

Routine 
 

Revenue Regular consistent schedule, generally for 
patching, cleaning, grass cutting and 
landscape maintenance 

Programmed 
 

Capital Flexibly planned schemes primarily of 
resurfacing, reconditioning or reconstruction 

 
1.7 The Highway Maintenance Plan (HMP) sets out the Council’s 

inspection, condition survey, reactive maintenance and routine 
maintenance service levels and can be found at the following link: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/22768//Road-maintenance-schemes 

Page 173



 6

  
1.8 This TAMP sets out the Council’s long term plan for managing the 

highway asset by applying programmed capital maintenance subject 
to available budgets to maintain the condition of the asset. The 
TAMP applies asset management principles to ensure that the right 
maintenance treatment is selected at the right time to ensure a safe, 
serviceable and sustainable highway network. 

 

2. British Standard BS ISO 55001: Asset Management (ISO 
55001) 

 
2.1 The Council has a comprehensive system of asset management in 

place and was the first Council in the UK to be awarded ISO 55001 
accreditation in December 2015. 

  
3. Legal Responsibility and Duties 

 
3.1 Adopted Highway 

 
3.1.1 The Highways Act 1980 sets out the main duties of the Local 

Highway Authority in respect of highways maintenance.  In 
particular, Section 41 imposes a duty to maintain the adopted 
highway at public expense. The Highways Act does not specify the 
level of maintenance although national Codes of Practice offer 
guidance in line with best practice.  

 

3.2 Private Streets 
 
3.2.1 Private streets are the responsibility of the land owner and they are 

responsible for very limited reactive maintenance. 
 
3.2.2 Private streets can be adopted by the Council but only if the street is 

made up by the land owners at their own cost to adoptable 
standards. 

 
3.2.3 If you would like to enquire about making up a private street please 

contact our Customer Services team whose contact details are 
provided at Section 9 of this document. 

 

4. Objectives  
 

4.1 The purpose of highway maintenance is to maintain the highway 
network for the safe and convenient movement of people and goods.  

 
4.2 The primary and secondary objectives are summarised as follows:  
 

Primary 
Objectives 

Secondary Objectives Performance Measure 

Safety Complying with statutory 
obligations 

Public liability claims 
repudiation rate 

Page 174



 7

 Meeting user's needs for 
safety 

Completion of Highway 
Safety Inspections 

  Response to Category 1 and 
2 safety defects versus target 

Serviceability
          

Ensuring availability NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey 

Achieving integrity Condition surveys 

Maintaining reliability NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey 

Enhancing condition Programmed maintenance 

Sustainability
          
 
 
 

Minimising whole life costs Lifecycle plans 

Maximising value to the 
community 

Not quantifiable 

Minimising environmental 
impact 

Maintaining accreditation and 
compliance with ISO 14001 
Environmental Management 

 

4.3 The Annual Update report measures performance against the 
objectives above. 

 

5. Condition Performance 
 

5.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 
asset for a given level of budgetary investment in programmed 
maintenance. The TAMP applies the right maintenance treatment at 
the right time to minimise whole life costs subject to the available 
budget. 

 
5.2 The right treatment at the right time minimises whole life costs as it 

is less costly than letting the asset continue to deteriorate and 
undertaking a more extensive treatment at a later date. Further if the 
asset is in poor condition then additional costs will be incurred in 
terms of reactive maintenance, routine maintenance and public 
liability claims. 

 
5.3 The diagram below shows the typical deterioration curve of a 

carriageway surface if no programmed maintenance is carried out 
compared to the right programmed maintenance treatment at the 
right time.  This intervention arrests the decline of the surface and 
extends the life and reduces the subsequent whole life cost. 

Page 175



 8

 

 
5.4 The concept is illustrated further below for a 100m section of 

carriageway over 40 years: 
 

Right Treatment at 
Right Time 

Description 1 April 2017 Prices 

Total 
£ 

Net Present 
Value @ 

3.5% Real £ 
Reactive 
Maintenance – 
Potholing 

1% of area in year 7 
and 0.5 % in 
subsequent years @ 
£33.65 metre2 prior to 
resurfacing. Total 
potholed area is 8% 
over the 40 year period. 

2,477 1,268 

Routine maintenance-
Patching  

4% patching prior to 
surface dressing @ 
£25.57 metre2 

2,823 1,378 

Routine maintenance- 
surface dressing 

Surface dressing after 
10, 20 and 40 years @ 
£2.82 metre2 
 

7,783 3,798 

Programmed 
maintenance-
resurfacing 

Plane out and inlay at 
year 30 @ £15.68 metre2 
 

14,425 5,139 

Programmed 
maintenance-
reconstruction 

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Total - 27,508 11,583 

 
 

Notional Current 

Value of the Road 

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 

Years 

Resurfacing 

Regular 

Maintenance 

No 

Maintenance 

Surface dressing 

STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE 
DEPRECIATION CURVES 

Page 176



 9

 

Reconstruction Description 1 April 2017 Prices 

Total 
£ 

Net Present 
Value @ 

3.5% Real £ 
Reactive Maintenance 
– Potholing 

Pot holing @ £33.65 
metre2 with increasing 
incremental area % 
over the 40 years.  
Total potholed area is 
20% over that 40 year 
period. 

6,192 2,440 

Routine 
maintenance-
Patching  

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Routine 
maintenance- 
surface dressing 

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Programmed 
maintenance-
resurfacing 

Not applicable  N/A N/A 

Programmed 
maintenance-
reconstruction 

Road is of new A road 
construction, 100 
metres long and 9.2 
metres width. 

 
Rate @ £139.81 per 
metre2  

128,625 32,487 

Total - 134,817 34,927 

 
5.5 The TAMP aims to minimise whole life costs but this is not always 

possible as budget constraints may result in not all the right 
treatments being undertaken at the right time particularly where 
there is an existing maintenance backlog. In this case the budget is 
prioritised based on the following criteria: 

 
 Safety; 
 Return on investment; and  
 Network hierarchy. 

 
5.6 The condition performance measures for each category of asset are 

summarised as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



 10 

 

Asset Survey Frequency Performance 
Measure 

A – Roads Surface 
Condition 
Assessment for 
the National 
Network of 
Roads 
(SCANNER) 

100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually 

% where 
maintenance should 
be considered   
 
 

B – Roads 100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually 

C – Roads 100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually  

Unclassified 
Roads 

Coarse Visual 
Inspection (CVI) 

Minimum 25% 
annually 

% where 
maintenance should 
be considered 

Kerbing Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Drainage  Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Road Markings Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Footways  Footway 
Network Survey 
(FNS) 

Minimum 25% 
annually 

% functionally/ 
structurally impaired 

Structures Structures – 
General 
Inspections 

Every 2 years Bridge Condition 
Index – Principal 
roads 
 
Bridge Condition 
Index – Non-
Principal Roads  
 
 

Structures – 
Principal 
Inspections 

Between 6 to 12 
years depending 
upon risk 
assessment 

Structures – 
Special 
Inspections 

As required 

Underwater 
Inspections 

Every 2 years or 
following severe 
flood conditions 

Street Lighting Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % columns > 40 
years 

Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % lanterns > 20 
years 

Visual 
Inspection 

Annually % lit signs where 
useful life has 
expired 

Traffic 
Management 

Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % sites > 15 years 

Street Furniture Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

 

Page 178



 11 

5.7 An example of an output from the SCANNER data is shown below 
detailing the carriageway condition: 

 

 

 

6. Investment Levels  
 
6.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 

asset for a given level of investment in programmed maintenance. 
Investment levels can either be budget or condition led. We have 
determined the following investment levels: 

 

Investment Level Lead Factor 

Existing budget Budget led 

Projected budget Budget led 

Steady state condition Condition led 

Eliminate highway maintenance backlog over 1 year 
then maintain at steady state condition 

Condition led 

Eliminate highway maintenance backlog over 30 years 
then maintain at steady state condition 

Condition led 

 
6.2 Other service levels can be modelled as required such as increases 

or decreases to the existing budget.  
 

7. Programmed Capital Maintenance 
 
7.1 Programmed capital maintenance involves planned schemes of 

resurfacing, reconditioning or reconstruction. 
 

Page 179



 12 

7.2 A 3 year rolling programme of schemes is retained for planning 
purposes and to co-ordinate schemes with statutory undertakers. 

 
7.3 The annual programme is determined in December for the next 

financial year starting 1st April based on the 3 year rolling programme 
and the available budget. The annual programme includes a list of 
reserve schemes should any extra budget become available or to 
replace proposed schemes should they be cancelled or deferred for 
any reason. 

 
7.4 Examples of programmed capital maintenance schemes include: 
 

Highway Asset Treatment Type Description 

Carriageways 
and Footways 

Reconstruction Fully restores the condition of the 
highway that is showing serious 
signs of structural failure 

Partial 
Reconstruction 

To halt the deterioration of a 
carriageway that is showing signs of 
structural failure 

Resurfacing Halts the deterioration of highways 
that are starting to show the signs of 
structural failure before they get to 
the stage requiring reconstruction 

Surface 
Treatment 

Halts the deterioration of highways 
showing the signs of surface failure 
only 

Flag 
Replacement 

Replacement of flagged footway 
surfaces, usually with a bituminous 
surface, where the flags are showing 
signs of displacement 

Kerbing Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Drainage Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Road Markings Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Structures Repainting, Re-
waterproofing 
and Resurfacing 

Restore the condition 

Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Stabilisation Works to stabilise areas of 
embankments or cuttings that have 
been identified as potentially failing 
in order to prevent a full failure 
resulting in the need for large scale 
reactive works 

Street Lighting Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Traffic 
Management 

Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Street Furniture Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

 

Page 180



 13 

8. Lifecycle Assumptions 
 
8.1 Lifecycle assumptions are required to plan when programmed 

maintenance will take place subject to available budgets. 
 

Asset Useful Economic 
Life - Years 

Potential to Extend Useful 
Economic Life 

Carriageway   

Sub strata (below 
100mm) 

Infinite Maintain top 100mm 

Hot rolled asphalt 20 Potential to surface dress 
(maximum two treatments) 

Close graded 
Macadam 

15 Potential to surface dress 
(maximum two treatments) 

Surface dressing 10 Potential to surface dress 
(one treatment only) 

Micro-asphalt 10 None, replacement only 

High friction coatings 6 None, replacement only 

Kerbing                  40 None, replacement only 

Drainage   

Gullies 40 None, replacement only 

Ditches 40 Routine cleaning of ditch 

Pipework 40 None, replacement only 

Road markings   

Lines 7 None, replacement only 

Other items 7 None, replacement only 

Footway   

Bitumen 20 Footway Surface Treatment:- 
typically 15 years 

Flagged 30 Prevention of vehicle over 
run/change to bitumen based 
surface 

Concrete 40 Potential Footway Surface 
Treatment 

Block paved 20 Prevention of vehicle over 
run/change to bitumen based 
surface 

Structures   

Bridges - civils 120 None, replacement only 

Bridges - pointing 50  

Bridges - bearings 30  

Bridges - 
waterproofing 

20 

Bridges - paint 20  

Bridges - joints 20  

Retaining walls 40  

Culverts 40  

Subways                  40  

Other                  40  

Page 181



 14 

Street lighting 40  

Columns 40 Structural testing of columns 
to extend life where safe to 
do so 

Luminaires 20 None, replacement only 

Lit signs 40 None, replacement only 

Traffic 
Management 

  

Traffic lights 15 If physical asset is damaged 
replacement only.  If 
electronic, probable up-grade 
of controllers. 

Pedestrian crossings 15 

Street Furniture   

Safety fencing 25 None, replacement only 

Bollards 40 None, replacement only 

Salt/grit bins 20 None, replacement only 

Waste bins 20 None, replacement only 

Unlit signs 40 None, replacement only 

PROW/ bridleway 
signs 

40 None, replacement only 

Trees N/A N/A 

Land   

Urban Infinite N/A 

Rural Infinite N/A 

 

9. Feedback 
 
9.1 The Council welcomes feedback on any aspect of this TAMP. If you 

would like to provide feedback please provide via Customer Services 
using the following contact details: 

 
 Website: www.durham.gov.uk  
 Email:  help@durham.gov.uk 
 Telephone number: 03000 260000 

 

Page 182



 1

 

 
 

Transport Asset Management 
Plan  

(TAMP) 
 

Section 2 – 
Annual Update Report 2020 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Date 23rd September 2020 

Status Final 

Prepared by Andrew Blanckley, Senior Engineer – Highway Assets 

Approved by Brian Buckley, Strategic Highways Manager 

Page 183



 2

Contents 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................... 3 

2. Inventory .............................................................................................. 3 

3. Condition ............................................................................................. 5 

3.4 Department for Transport Statistics .................................................. 7 

3.5 Conclusions ......................................................................................... 7 

4. Maintenance Backlog.......................................................................... 7 

5. Public Satisfaction ............................................................................ 10 

6. Customer Feedback .......................................................................... 12 

7. Performance ...................................................................................... 13 

8. Valuation ............................................................................................ 14 

9. Budgets .............................................................................................. 15 

10. Investment Levels ............................................................................. 17 

11. Feedback ............................................................................................ 18 

Appendix 1 - Inventory Summary ............................................................... 19 

Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog.................. 20 

Appendix 3 - Condition Benchmarking ...................................................... 21 

 
Appendix 4 – Highway Condition Data/Trend……………………………….31 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



 3

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) is  divided into two 

sections: 
 

 Section 1 - Policy; and 
 Section 2 - Annual Update Report.* 
 
*Covid-19 lockdown restrictions and data compatibility with Symology have 
resulted in delays to production of the annual report. 

  
1.2 This Annual Update Report provides an update to stakeholders on: 
 

 Inventory; 
 Condition; 
 Maintenance backlog; 
 Public satisfaction; 
 Performance; 
 Valuation; 
 Budgets; and  
 Investment levels. 

 
2. Inventory 
 
2.1 The inventory is a database containing details of the individual 

assets that make up the highway network.  
 
2.2 It is vital to know what assets exist and where so they can be 

inspected, surveyed and maintained to appropriate service levels. 
 

2.3 The inventory at 31 March 2019 is summarised in the table below: 
 

Asset Unit Adopted DCC 
Unadopted 

Private 
Unadopted 

Total RAG 
Rating 

Carriageway  

A Km 414 0 0 414 G 

B Km 403 0 0 403 G 

C Km 693 0 0 693 G 

Unclassified Km 2,283 18 117 2,418 G 

Sub-Total  3,793 18 117 3,928  

Kerbing Km 4,606 23 153 4,782 R 

Drainage 

Gullies Number 110,633 1,371 3,864 115,868 R 

Ditches Km 263 16 44 323 R 

Pipework Km 378 4 12 394 R 

Road markings 

Lines Km 2,285 8 23 2,316 R 

Other items Number 23,048 179 503 23,730 R 

Footway 

Bitumen Km 3,324 81 93 3,498 G 

Flagged Km 284 8 21 313 G 

Page 185



 4

Concrete Km 107 3 20 130 G 

Block paved Km 23 1 2 26 G 

Other Km 1 10 5 16 G 

Sub-Total  3,739 103 141 3,983  

Structures 

Road 
bridges 

Number 
487* 0 0 487 G 

Footbridges Number 51* 455 0 506 G 

Retaining 
walls 

Number 271* 0 0 271 A 

Culverts Number 65* 0 0 65 G 

Subways Number 34* 0 0 34 G 

Other Number 114* 6 0 120 G 

Sub-total  1022* 461 0 1,483  

Street lighting 

Columns/ 
Lanterns 

Number 82,423 0 0 82,423 G 

Lit Signs Number 5,737 0 0 5,737 G 

Sub-total  88,160 0 0 88,160  

Traffic Management 

Traffic lights Number 69 0 0 69 G 

Pedestrian 
crossings 

Number 73 0 0 73 G 

Sub-Total  142 0 0 142  

Street Furniture 

Safety 
fencing 

Km 
53 0 0 53 A 

Bollards Number 12,475 0 0 12,475 R 

Salt/grit bins Number 2,384 0 0 2,384 A 

Waste bins Number 7,085 0 0 7,085 R 

Unlit signs Number 63,296 808 2,277 66,381 R 

PROW/ 
bridleway 
signs 

Number 4,312 0 0 4,312 R 

Trees Number 5,000 0 0 5,000 R 

Land 

Urban M² 19,536,994 388,476 608,600 20,534,070 G 

Rural M² 11,422,853 226,202 354,375 12,003,430 G 

Sub-Total M² 30,959,847 614,678 962,975 32,537,500 - 
*last years data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values 

 
2.4 The RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Rating denotes the accuracy of the 

inventory where: 
 

Inventory RAG Rating Description 

R (Red) Low accuracy 

A (Amber) Moderate accuracy 

G (Green) High accuracy 

  
2.5 There are gaps in the inventory and condition data relating to some 

minor assets.  These gaps will continue to be addressed through 
further surveys as far as it is proportionate and economic to do so.  

Page 186



 5

 
2.6 The inventory grows each year due to new developments. A 

summary showing the growth in the inventory is shown in Appendix 
1. 

 
2.7 The growth in the inventory puts pressure on maintenance budgets 

as they have to cover more assets each year. 
 
3. Condition  

 
3.1 Condition is summarised as follows in accordance with the policy: 
 

Asset Description Performance 

  2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Good 
Condition 

Target 

Fair 
Condition 

Target 

Carriageway 

A – Roads % where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

4.6% 4.9% 4.1% 2.6% 2.6% 3.0% 0.0% 4.0% 

B – Roads 8.0% 7.5% 5.3% 4.7% 4.7% 3.3% 0.0% 4.0% 

C – Roads 8.1% 5.0% 3.6% 3.7% 3.7% 2.3% 0.0% 4.0% 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

22.0% 19.0% 20.0% 20.0% 21.0% 21.3% 0.0% 8.0% 

All Roads % where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

16.0% 13.6% 13.7% 13.5% 14.1% 11.7% 0.0% 6.4% 

Kerbing % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Drainage % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Road 
Markings 

% where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

50.0% 55.0% 55.0% 55.0% 55.0% 55.0% 0.0% 10.0% 

Footways % structurally 
unsound 

27.1% 26.4% 24.1% 22.8% 21.5% 20.9% 0.0% 5.0% 

Structures Bridge 
Condition 
Index – 
Principal 
roads 

94.0 88.3 83.8 80.0 80.7 80.7* 100.0 95.0 

Bridge 
Condition 
Index – Non-
Principal 
Roads  

88.0 86.4 83.7 81.0 79.9 79.9* 100.0 95.0 

Page 187



 6

Other (using 
form of 
Bridge 
Condition 
Index)  

66.0 66.0 66.0 66.0 66.0 66.0* 100.0 85.0 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 
40 years 

17.5% 17.7% 14.9% 15.3% 13.3% 13.9% 0.0% 5.0% 

% lanterns > 
20 years 

50.2% 45.9% 25.8% 18.3% 15.8% 15.3% 0.0% 5.0% 

% lit signs 
where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

19.3% 20.0% 17.9% 17.1% 17.1% 16.8% 0.0% 5.0% 

Traffic 
Management 

No. sites > 
15 years 

23 22 19 19 19 19 0 10 

Street Furniture 

Safety 
fencing 

% where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Bollards % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Salt/grit bins % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Unlit Signs       

Road signs % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Street Name 
Plates 

% where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

PROW signs % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

*last years data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values 

 
3.2 The good condition target represents where the maintenance 

backlog will be zero with no defects.  This is an ideal theoretical 
target which is not realistic in practice. 

 
3.3 The fair condition target represents a realistic target of acceptable 

condition subject to available funding. 
 
 
 

Page 188



 7

3.4 Department for Transport Statistics 
 
3.4.1 The condition of local roads is reported to and monitored nationally 

by the Department for Transport. The latest results published on 3 
October 2019 for 2018/19 can be found at the following link:  

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-conditions-in-england-to-march-2019 

 
3.4.2 The results allow comparisons to be made between local Authorities 

across England and are summarised in Appendix 3 – Condition 
Benchmarking. 
 

3.4.3 The key findings are that: 
 

 DCC A Roads are slightly better than the national average 
condition (Rank 64/149); 

 DCC B and C Roads are slightly better than the national average 
(Rank 65/148); and 

 DCC Unclassified Roads are worse than the national average 
(Rank 101/119). 

 
3.5 Conclusions 

 
3.5.1 The overall condition of the A, B, and C principal roads is good, 

stable and slightly better than the national average. 
 
3.5.2 The condition of unclassified roads remains a key issue and the 

condition has declined slightly over the past year. The condition is 
worse than the national average. 

 
3.5.3 The condition of footways is showing a gradual improvement but still 

remains a key issue.  
 

3.5.4 The highway network condition data trend can be seen in Appendix 
4 where the data, from 2004 to present, has been plotted. 
 

4. Maintenance Backlog  
 
4.1 The maintenance backlog is the value of programmed capital 

maintenance required to bring the highway asset up to good 
condition. 

 
4.2 The method of calculation is as follows: 
 

Asset Description 

Carriageway  The nationally accredited UK Pavement Management System 
(UKPMS) software system identifies the appropriate treatment 
for each 100m section of carriageway/footway. 
 

Page 189



 8

UKPMS selects A, B and C classified carriageway surveyed by 
SCANNER in a Red condition for treatment but also some 
sections in an Amber and Green condition where it is justified on 
asset management principles. 
 
Unclassified roads are surveyed by Coarse Visual Inspection 
(CVI) and processed in a similar manner to that of Scanner via 
the UKPMS system. 

Footway A Footway Network Survey (FNS) has been adopted whereby 
the condition of the surface is assessed into four conditions, 1 
being ‘as new’, and 4 being ‘structurally unsound’. This data can 
be put into UKPMS to identify the appropriate treatment and 
calculate required financial data. 

Kerbing The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Drainage The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Road Markings The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Structures The backlog is calculated by completing a manual analysis of 
the Bridge Condition Indicator (BCI) and the routine inspection 
data, assessing each individual components needs and applying 
a unit rate to each.  The cost of any overdue inspections, the 
renewal of individual components in excess of their useful life 
and upgrading of any underperforming structures is included. 

Street Lighting Number of columns > 40 years 
Number of luminaries > 20 years 
Lit signs - maintenance backlog is the percentage requiring 
replacement multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Traffic Management Number of sites > 15 years 

Street Furniture  

Safety Fencing  

Bollards  

Salt/grit bins The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement  

Unlit signs multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Road signs  

Street Name 
Plates 

 

PROW signs  

 
4.3 The maintenance backlog as at 31 March 2019 is summarised as 

follows: 
 

 Units 
Adopted Unadopted Total 

Amount £M Amount £M Amount £M 
Carriageways 

Strengthen Km 66.1 5.5 50.8 24.4 116.9 29.9 

Resurface Km 169.8 12.1 15.4 1.4 185.2 13.5 

Page 190



 9

Surface 
Improvement 

Km 
1,074.4 31.4 19.3 0.4 1,093.7 31.8 

Edge 
Improvement 

Km 
26.0 2.6 0.0 0.0 26.0 2.6 

Sub-Total  1,336.3 51.6 85.5 26.2 1,421.8 77.8 

Kerbing Km 460.6 18.5 20.7 0.7 481.3 19.2 

Drainage Number 11,063.3 5.6 524.0 0.2 11,587.3 5.8 

Road Markings Km 1,256.8 0.9 50.0 0.1 1,306.8 1.0 

Footways 

Reconstruction Km 80.5 5.8 11.3 2.5 91.8 8.3 

Overlay/Relay/ 
Flagging 

Km 
292.1 5.2 26.5 0.5 318.6 5.7 

Repair/Relay Km 868.8 20.1 26.5 0.5 895.3 20.6 

Surface 
improvement 

Km 
640.0 4.0 110.5 0.5 750.5 4.5 

Sub-Total  1,881.4 35.1 174.8 4.0 2,056.2 39.1 

Structures Number 969.0* 40.6* 479.0* 9.7* 1,448.0* 50.3* 

Street Lighting 

Column 
replacements 

Number 
9,408.0 11.6 0 0 9,408.0 11.6 

Luminaire 
replacements 

Number 
12,610.0 4.3 0 0 12,610.0 4.3 

Lit signs Number 971.0 1.3 0 0 971.0 1.3 

Sub-Total  22,989.0 17.2 0 0 22,989.0 17.2 

Traffic Management 

Replacements Number 19.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 19.0 1.0 

Street Furniture 

Safety fencing Km 3.2 

2.1 

0 

0.1 

3.2 

2.9 Seats, litter bins 
etc. 

Number 10,720.9 430.0 11,150.9 

Total - - 172.6 - 41.0 - 213.6 
*last years data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values 

 
4.4 The maintenance backlog for the adopted highway over the past 7 

years is summarised as follows: 
 

Maintenance Backlog 31 March £Millions 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Carriageways 

Strengthen 19.9 19.6 16.0 13.0 9.1 5.7 5.5 

Resurface 36.9 36.4 31.6 27.5 22.0 16.1 12.1 

Surface Improvement 7.9 7.8 8.8 13.0 18.5 27.6 31.4 

Edge Improvement 3.0 3.0 2.8 3.8 3.2 3.3 2.6 

Sub-Total 67.7 66.8 59.2 57.3 52.8 52.7 51.6 

Kerbing 18.2 20.2 18.4 18.5 18.5 18.5 18.5 

Drainage 5.4 5.8 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6 

Road Markings 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Footways     

Page 191



 10 

Reconstruction 25.6 24.9 25.9 21.7 17.4 16.3 5.8 

Overlay/Relay/Flagging 7.2 7.0 6.4 6.2 5.6 5.7 5.2 

Repair/Relay 11.5 11.1 11.8 17.0 19.0 15.5 20.1 

Surface improvement 4.1 4.0 3.6 2.6 2.8 3.0 4.0 

Sub-Total 48.4 47.0 47.7 47.5 44.8 40.5 35.1 

Structures 9.9 9.9 22.4 36.0 42.0 40.6 40.6* 

Street Lighting      

Column replacements 11.7 11.0 14.7 12.5 12.7 11.3 11.6 

Luminaire replacements 12.1 10.9 7.5 8.3 5.3 4.6 4.3 

Lit sign replacements 1.8 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3 

Sub-Total 25.6 23.3 23.5 22.1 19.2 17.1 17.2 

Traffic Management 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Street Furniture 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.1 

Total 179.6 177.0 181.1 191.7 187.6 179.7 172.6 
*last years data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values. 
 

4.5 In recent years, the maintenance backlog has steadily decreased, 
this is due in part to the investment made in carriageways and 
footways resurfacing. At the same time the structures backlog has 
increased mainly due to the collection of improved condition data. 
 

4.6 Nearly every Local Highway Authority has a highway maintenance 
backlog apart from those that have received extra funding from the 
Government to undertake Highway Maintenance PFI Projects to 
clear their maintenance backlogs. 

 
4.7 The maintenance backlog should be considered in the context of the 

overall value of the highway asset.  
 

4.8 Durham County Council’s backlog is broadly in line with other 
Councils based on the latest Annual Local Authority Road 
Maintenance (ALARM) Survey 2020 which estimates the backlog for 
England at £9.64 billion for carriageways and footways. The ALARM 
Survey can be found at the following link: 

 
http://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/ 
 

5. Public Satisfaction  
 
5.1 The Council participates in the National Highways & Transportation 

(NHT) Public Satisfaction Survey which is undertaken by 
IPSOS/MORI.The details of the survey can be found at the following 
link:  

 
http://www.nhtnetwork.org/nht-public-satisfaction-survey/findings/ 
 

5.2 The results are summarised as follows: 
 

Page 192



 11 

Key 
Benchmark 

% Public Satisfied (Year) 

Indicator (KBI) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2014 2016 2018 

Overall 

KBI 01 - Overall (local) 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 57.9 55.9 54.6 58.4 57.0 58.0 57.0 

North East 56.0 58.7 57.8 55.5 57.9 57.5 57.0 56.0 

National 
Average 

55.3 56.2 56.2 55.4 55.9 55.3 55.0 53.0 

KBI 02 - Overall (national) 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 57.8 55.8 54.4 58.3 57.0 58.0 57.0 

North East 55.9 58.6 57.7 55.4 57.8 57.4 57.0 56.0 

National 
Average 

55.3 56.2 56.2 55.4 55.9 55.3 55.0 53.0 

Highway Maintenance 

KBI 23 - Condition of highways 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 45.1 37.5 33.8 37.7 38.2 45.0 38.0 

North East 43.0 46.6 40.3 32.6 38.4 37.5 41.0 33.0 

National 
Average 

44.4 42.8 38.6 34.7 36.6 34.4 38.0 31.0 

KBI 24 - Highway maintenance 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 55.1 48.3 46.2 47.8 49.4 55.0 53.0 

North East 51.8 54.8 50.7 47.0 49.1 49.4 53.0 51.0 

National 
Average 

53.1 52.1 50.2 49.3 49.0 49.4 53.0 51.0 

KBI 25 - Street lighting 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 72.8 70.6 70.6 72.9 69.7 65.0 62.0 

North East 69.1 72.9 72.6 70.8 71.1 70.3 68.0 67.0 

National 
Average 

67.8 68.1 68.8 68.2 67.4 66.9 66.0 65.0 

KBI 26 - Highway enforcement/obstructions 

Durham 
County Council 

N/A 51.9 47.9 49.3 49.8 47.7 50.0 51.0 

North East 48.6 52.2 51.0 50.3 51.0 48.5 50.0 50.0 

National 
Average 

50.2 50.6 50.5 52.2 50.4 48.2 49.0 49.0 

 
5.3 The Council did not participate in 2008, 2013, 2015 or 2017. The 

Council agreed in 2012 to participate on a bi-annual basis. 
 

5.4 The results above show that there is low satisfaction with the 
condition of the highway nationally and across the North East. 
However, the results for 2018 for five of the six indicators for 2018 
show Durham to be above both the regional and national averages. 

Page 193



 12 

 
 
 

6. Customer Feedback 
 

6.1 The customer feedback in terms of service requests, complaints, 
compliments and suggestions received is summarised as follows: 

 

Customer Feedback 
Year Ending 31 March 2019 

Number Responded 
within Target % 

Service Requests Category 1 Safety Defects 9,578 92% 

 Category 2.1 Safety Defects 42,296 96% 

 Category 2.2 Safety Defects 7,065 96% 

 Category 2.3 Safety Defects 7,783 88% 

 Structures 120 N/A 

 Street Lighting 5,671 96% 

 Winter Maintenance 2,793 100% 

 Flooding 2,226 100% 

 Gully Cleansing 100,822 98% 

 Traffic 1,227 100% 

 Network Management 578 N/A 

Complaints -  Number investigated 162 57% 

Service Review Fully upheld 94 

 Partially upheld 26 

 Not upheld 42 

Complaints - Number investigated 10 50% 

Independent Fully upheld 0 

Investigation Partially upheld 4 

 Not upheld 6 

Compliments and Compliments 88 N/A 

Suggestions Suggestions 37 N/A 

 
6.2 The above is also monitored through the Council’s quarterly 

performance reports which are available on our website at the 
following link: 
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2427/Quarterly-reports 
   

6.3 Service requests are responded to in accordance with the service 
levels set out in our Highway Maintenance Plan and Winter 
Maintenance Plan. 

 
6.4 Complaints are considered in line with the Council’s Complaints 

Policy. 
 

6.5 The Council also participates in the National Highways and 
Transportation Public Satisfaction Survey as detailed in Section 5. 

 

Page 194



 13 

6.6 Highway officers provide regular updates to Councillors and Area 
Action Partnerships who also provide feedback. All this customer 
feedback helps inform the Transport Asset Management Plan 
including investment levels and priorities. 

 
7. Performance 
 
7.1 The performance against the objectives set out in TAMP Section 1 - 

Policy is as follows: 
 

Primary Secondary Performance Year Ending 31 March 
Objectives Objectives Measure 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Safety Complying 
with 
statutory 
obligations 

Public liability 
claims 
repudiation 
rate 

96% 95% 94% 93% 92% 94% 95% 

Meeting 
user's 
needs for 
safety 

Completion of 
Highway 
Safety 
Inspections 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 Response to 
Category 1 
and 2 safety 
defects  
(Target 95%) 

Not 
availa

-ble 

Cat1 
75% 

  
Cat2 
78% 

Cat1 
95% 

 
Cat2 
83% 

Cat1 
92% 

 
Cat2 
78%  

Cat1 
92% 

 
Cat2 
83% 

Cat1 
92% 

 
Cat2 
91% 

Cat1 
93% 

 
Cat2 
92% 

Serviceability
          

Ensuring 
availability 

Effective 
Streetworks 
Licensing 
system to 
minimise 
number of 
unplanned 
utility overruns 

<1% <1% < 1% <1% <1% <1% <1% 

 Achieving 
integrity 

Condition 
surveys 

See Table 3.1 
 

 Maintaining NHT Public See Table 5.2 
 reliability Satisfaction 

Survey 
 

 Enhancing 
condition 

Programmed 
maintenance 

See Table 9.4 

Sustainability
          
 
 
 

Minimising 
whole life 
costs 

Lifecycle plans See Appendix 2 

 
Maximising 
value to the 
community 

Not 
quantifiable 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Minimising 
environmen
-tal impact 

Maintaining 
accreditation & 
compliance with 
ISO 14001 
Environmental 
Management 

Achieved 

Page 195



 14 

 

8. Valuation 
 

8.1 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom requires that the adopted highway is included in the 
Council’s Financial Statements as a fixed asset in the balance sheet. 
This is part of the Government’s Whole of Government Accounts 
(WGA) initiative to align with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

 
8.2 The benefit of including the adopted highway as an asset in the 

financial statements is that it informs stakeholders of the true cost of 
holding and maintaining the asset which in turn supports good asset 
management.  

 
8.3 The asset is included within the financial statements at depreciated 

Replacement Cost (DRC). Depreciated replacement cost is a 
method of valuation that provides the current cost of replacing an 
asset with its modern equivalent asset (gross replacement cost), 
less deductions for all physical deterioration and impairment 
(accumulated depreciation).  
 

8.4 The difference between the gross and depreciated cost is the cost 
of restoring the asset from its present condition to ‘as new’.  

 
8.5 The condition of assets with a finite economic life will deteriorate 

each year due to the wearing out and using up of the asset. The 
deterioration of assets such as carriageways and footways may be 
accelerated where episodes of severe weather are greater than 
average.    
 

8.6 Annual depreciation is calculated by identifying all the capital 
treatments needed to maintain assets or key components over their 
life cycles and then spreading the total cost evenly over the number 
of years in the life cycle. Calculated in this way, annual depreciation 
not only represents the annual consumption of economic benefits 
embodied in the asset but also provides a measure of what on 
average needs to be spent year on year on programmed 
maintenance to maintain the assets in a steady state. 
 

8.7 The valuation as at 31 March 2019 is as follows: 
 

Asset – Adopted 
Highway 

£ Millions 

C
a
rr

ia
g

e
w

a
y
 

F
o

o
tw

a
y
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

L
ig

h
ti

n
g

 

S
tr

u
c
tu

re
s
 

T
ra

ff
ic

 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

S
tr

e
e
t 

F
u

rn
it

u
re

 

L
a
n

d
 

T
o

ta
l 

Gross Replacement Cost 

Page 196



 15 

B/F 1 April 2018 4,008.6 477.9 150.8 428.3 2.8 41.6 2,780.0 7,890.0 

Additions  

- Adoptions 0.8 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 

- Programmed 
Maintenance  

14.9 3.1 1.7 1.9 0.3 0.2 0.0 22.1 

- Improvements 0.0 0.0 2.0 2.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 4.6 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

154.1 19.8 -9.0 5.8 -0.6 0.0 34.7 204.8 

Disposals 0.0 -1.0 -1.4 -10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -12.4 

C/F 31 March 2019 4,178.4 500.7 144.1 428.3 2.8 41.8 2,814.7 8110.8 

Accumulated Depreciation 

B/F 1 April 2018 154.7 39.6 87.8 191.4 1.3 24.9 0.0 499.7 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

-6.1 -9.5 -8.7 -8.4 0.0 -1.4 0.0 -34.1 

Depreciation 
Charge 

15.4 8.5 4.6 18.4 0.1 1.5 0.0 48.5 

Disposals 0.0 -1.0 -1.4 -10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -12.4 

C/F 31 March 2019 164.0 37.6 82.3 191.4 1.4 25.0 0.0 501.7 

Depreciated Replacement Cost 

B/F 1 April 2018  3,853.9 438.3 63.0 236.9 1.5 16.7 2,780.0 7,390.3 

Additions 15.7 4.0 3.7 4.2 0.6 0.2 0.0 28.4 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

160.2 29.3 -0.3 14.2 -0.6 1.4 34.7 238.9 

Depreciation 
Charge 

-15.4 -8.5 -4.6 -18.4 -0.1 -1.5 0.0 -48.5 

Disposals 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.2 

C/F 31 March 2019 4,014.4 463.1 61.8 236.9 1.4 16.8 2,814.7 7,609.1 

 
9. Budgets 
 
9.1 The budget for programmed capital maintenance is summarised as 

follows: 
 

Funding 
Stream 

     Year Ending 31 March £’000s 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022* 

Department for Transport Funding 

Local 
Transport 
Plan 

11,212 10,679 10,132 9,780 11,886 10,896 10,567 9,564 9,564 9,564 9,564 

Challenge 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 

Incentive 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 666 1,016 2,008 1,992 1,992 1,992 

Section 31 847 0 1,836 1,007 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Severe 
Weather 

0 0 0 1,242 1,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Potholes 
Fund 

0 0 0 2,197 0 784 1,580 1,297 662 8,448 6,498* 

Productivity 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1,830 0 0 0 0 

Additional 
Highway 
Maintenance 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,269 0 0 0 

Page 197



 16 

Sub-Total 12,059 10,679 11,968 14,226 12,986 12,346 14,993 18,138 12,218 24,004 18,054 

Durham County Council Funding 

Highway 
Maintenance 

1,212 3,012 2,912 5,404 4,811 6,911 9,054 7,486 8,864 10,431 7,300 

Total 13,271 13,691 14,880 19,630 17,797 19,257 24,047 25,624 21,082 34,435 25,354 
*Projected 

 
9.2 The above budget rebased for construction inflation (BCIS Civil 

Engineering 1990 Series) at 1 April 2017 prices is summarised as 
follows: 

 

    Year Ending 31 March £’000s 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021* 

Nominal 

Budget 12,294 13,271 13,691 14,880 19,630 17,797 19,257 24,047 25,624 34,435 25,354 

Inflation % 2.01% 3.49% 5.08% 1.40% 2.70% 1.50% 4.20% 3.50% 3.05% 3.00% 3.00% 

Index 228.18 236.14 248.13 251.44 258.23 262.10 273.11 282.67 291.29 300.03 309.03 

 Real 1 April 2017 Prices 

Budget 14,125 14,734 14,466 16,162 20,761 18,544 19,257 23,234 24,025 31,345 22,407 
*BCIS Civil Engineering Forecast 
 

9.3 It can be seen that the above outturn spend is significantly less than 
the annual depreciation charge. 

 
9.4 The above budgets have purchased the following quantities of 

programmed capital maintenance: 
 

Progra- Unit Steady Year Ending 31 March 

mmed 
Capital 
Mainten-
ance – 
Quantiti-
es 

 State 
Condi-

tion 
Bench-

mark 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021* 

Carriage-
ways 

Km 
treated 

7.0% 
146 

3.9% 
122 

3.2% 
156 

4.1% 
168 

4.4% 
165 

4.4% 
178 

4.7% 
205 

5.4% 
213 

5.6% 
197    

5.2% 
210 

5.5% 

Kerbing 
Km 
treated 

2.5% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 

Drainage 
(Gullies) 

Numb-
er 

2.5% 
140 

0.13% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
200 

0.18% 
250 

0.23% 
250 

0.23% 
250 

0.23% 

Road 
Markings 

Km 
treated 

14.3% 
284 

12.7% 
286 

12.8% 
287 

12.8% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
287 

12.7% 
287 

12.7% 
287 

12.7% 

Footways 
Km 
treated 

5.0% 
88 

2.3% 
84 

2.2% 
88 

2.3% 
108 

2.8% 
95 

2.5% 
103 

2.7% 
122 

3.3% 
117 

3.1% 
121 

3.2% 
117 

3.1% 

Structur-
es 

No. of 
bridges 
treated 

5.0% 
39 

4.1% 
66 

6.9% 
50 

5.2% 
26 

2.7% 
26 

2.7% 
46 

4.8% 
47 

4.9% 
47 

4.9% 
47 

4.9% 
47 

4.9% 

Street 
lighting 

No. 
column
s 
replac-
ed 

2.5% 
814 

1.3% 
836 

1.3% 
841 

1.3% 
802 

1.2% 
830 

1.3% 
2,213 
3.4% 

1,040 
1.7% 

954 
1.6% 

1,000 
1.6% 

1,000 
1.6% 

No. 
luminai-
res  
replac-
ed 

5.0% 
8,146 
9.8% 

7,423 
8.9% 

8,137 
9.8% 

11,971 
14.4% 

12,302 
14.8% 

11,904 
14.3% 

12,006 
14.4% 

2,918 
3.5% 

1,500 
1.8% 

1,500 
1.8% 

 No. lit 
signs 
replac-
ed 

2.5% 
100 

1.8% 
100 

1.8% 
100 

1.8% 
100 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
106 

1.8% 
106 

1.8% 

Page 198



 17 

 
9.5 It can be seen that the quantity of programmed capital maintenance 

purchased is less than the steady state condition benchmark and 
this explains why the condition of the highway asset has deteriorated 
over the period. 

 

10. Investment Levels 
 
10.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the asset 

for a given level of investment in programmed capital maintenance.  
 
10.2 A range of investment levels (condition or budget led) are provided 

to allow stakeholders to select the most appropriate investment level 
to meet their objectives within available budgets. 

 
10.3 We have modelled the following investment levels as stated in the 

policy: 
 

Investment Level – 
Programmed Capital 
Maintenance 

1 April 2017 Prices (£ millions) 

One Off 
Capital Cost 

Annual 
Average 

Capital Cost 

Annual Average 
Capital Cost (Once 

Backlog Cleared) 

Projected Budget N/A £17.8 N/A 

Steady State Condition N/A £21.8 N/A 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 1 year then maintain 
at steady state condition 

£172.6 N/A £21.5 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 30 years then 
maintain at steady state condition 

N/A £29.2 £21.5 

 
10.4 It is assumed that budgets will be uplifted for inflation to maintain 

purchasing power at 1 April 2017 prices. 
  
10.5 The Projected Budget is an indicative annualised figure and the 

actual budgets may be greater or less depending upon Department 
for Transport and Council funding. 

 
10.6 The above does not take account of any growth in the inventory from 

new developments which will increase the above values. 
 

10.7 The projected condition and maintenance backlog for the Projected 
Budget service level is provided in Appendix 2. 

 

Traffic 
Manage- 
ment 

 6.7% 
3   

2.1% 
2 

1.4% 
1 

0.7% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 

Street 
Furniture 

Items 
replac-
ed 

3.2% 
2,099 
2.2% 

2,300 
2.4% 

1,550 
1.6% 

2,010 
2.1% 

1,680 
1.7% 

1,603 
1.7% 

1,605 
1.7% 

1,607 
1.7% 

1,621 
1.7% 

1,700* 
1.7% 

Page 199



 18 

10.8 The investment levels are calculated using nationally accredited 
lifecycle planning models which are based on current condition 
projected forward for average annual deterioration over a period of 
30 years. In the short term the annual movements in the 
maintenance backlog are affected by: 

 
 Inflation; 
 Annual variations in deterioration due to the severity of the 

weather; 
 Cycle for collecting condition data which is up to 6 years; and 
 The accuracy of the nationally accredited deterioration model 

when applied to County Durham. 
 

10.9 If investment is less than the steady state condition investment level 
then in the medium term: 

 
 The condition of the highway asset will deteriorate; 
 The maintenance backlog will increase; 
 The number of defects will increase and put pressure on the 

reactive and routine revenue maintenance budgets; 
 The number of public liability claims will increase and put 

pressure on the insurance budget; and 
 Public satisfaction will decrease. 

 
10.10 If investment is more than the steady state condition investment level 

then in the medium term: 
 

 The condition of the highway asset will improve; 
 The maintenance backlog will reduce; 
 The number of defects will reduce; 
 The number of public liability claims will reduce; and 
 Public satisfaction will improve. 

 
11. Feedback 
 
11.1 The Council welcomes feedback on any aspect of this TAMP. If you 

would like to provide feedback please provide via Customer Services 
using the following contact details: 

 
 Website: www.durham.gov.uk  
 Email:  help@durham.gov.uk 
 Telephone number: 03000 260000 

Page 200



 19

Appendix 1 - Inventory Summary 
 

Adopted Highway Unit 
 Year Ending 31 March 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Carriageways   

A Roads Km 412 416 416 416 416 416 415 415 415 415 414 

B Roads Km 406 407 407 407 407 406 406 406 406 406 403 

C Roads Km 699 698 698 697 697 697 697 697 696 696 693 

Unclassified Km 2,195 2,200 2,212 2,224 2,236 2,255 2,262 2,276 2,279 2,280 2,283 

Sub-Total Km 3,712 3,721 3,733 3,744 3,756 3,774 3,780 3,794 3,796 3,797 3,793 

Kerbing Km 4,449 4,462 4,478 4,493 4,539 4,573 4,588 4,605 4,611 4,612 4,606 

Drainage   

Gullies Number 104,741 105,034 105,428 105,805 107,488 108,340 110,054 110,462 110,606 110,750 110,633 

Ditches Km 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 263 263 

Pipework Km 356 358 359 360 365 368 376 377 377 378 378 

Road Markings    

Lines Km 2,232 2,237 2,241 2,240 2,243 2,242 2,242 2,250 2,253 2,287 2,285 

Other items Number 19,973 20,035 20,085 20,129 22,167 22,271 22,271 22,331 22,360 23,072 23,048 

Footways Km 3,487 3,543 3,600 3,656 3,783 3,837 3,828 3,886 3,719 3,719 3,739 

Structures Number 1,380 1,398 1,399 1,402 1,402 1,402 1,448 1,476 1,473 1,483 1,483* 

Street Lighting Number 86,541 87,173 87,803 88,491 89,008 89,085 88,675 88,504 89,413 88,782 88,160 

Traffic Management Number 121 123 127 129 133 136 138 139 142 142 142 

Street Furniture     

Safety fencing Km 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 

Other Number 89,363 90,462 91,560 92,658 93,757 95,320 95,385 94,320 94,436 94,552 95,360 

Land M² 30,159,100 30,326,800 30,499,600 30,891,150 31,326,522 31,353,145 30,939,856 31,019,148 30,852,356 30,874,676 30,959,847 
*last years data has been used due to issues with obtaining current values. 

 

P
age 201



 20

Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog 
 

Projected  Description Year Ending 31 March 

Condition - 
Asset 

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 

A - Roads 
% where maintenance should be 
considered   

3.1 2.5 2.5 2.6 2.8 3.0 3.1 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.7 3.8 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.2 

B – Roads 3.0 2.7 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.6 3.0 3.4 3.9 4.5 5.2 5.9 6.7 7.5 8.3 9.2 

C – Roads 2.6 2.3 2.0 1.9 1.9 2.0 2.2 2.5 2.8 3.2 3.7 4.2 4.7 5.3 6.0 6.6 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where maintenance should be 
considered   

21.3 18.9 17.3 16.4 15.8 15.3 15.0 14.7 14.5 14.2 14.0 13.7 13.4 13.0 12.7 12.3 

All Roads % where maintenance should be 
considered   

11.1 9.8 9.0 8.6 8.3 8.2 8.2 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.8 8.9 9.1 9.2 

Footways  % functionally/ structurally 
impaired 

20.9 22.5 23.8 24.7 25.4 25.9 26.3 26.5 26.6 26.6 26.5 26.4 26.3 23.1 25.9 25.8 

Kerbing % where replacement should be 
considered 

10.4 10.6 10.9 11.1 11.3 11.6 11.8 12.1 12.3 12.6 12.8 13.0 13.3 13.5 13.7 14.0 

Drainage % where replacement should be 
considered 

10.8 11.5 12.3 13.0 13.7 14.5 15.2 15.9 16.6 17.3 18.0 18.7 19.3 20.0 20.7 21.3 

Road 
Markings 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

59.8 59.6 59.5 59.3 59.2 59.1 59.0 58.9 58.8 58.8 58.7 58.7 58.6 58.6 58.6 58.5 

Structures Bridge Condition Index – 
Principal roads 

80.0 80.4 79.0 80.1 81.1 80.9 80.2 80.3 79.8 79.1 78.6 77.7 77.7 77.5 77.0 76.6 

Bridge Condition Index – Non-
Principal Roads  

81.0 81.3 80.8 81.1 81.3 81.0 80.4 81.0 80.7 80.1 79.6 79.8 79.4 78.0 77.5 77.0 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 40 years 13.9 19.9 20.5 21.1 21.7 22.3 22.8 23.3 23.7 24.0 24.1 24.1 23.9 23.6 23.1 22.6 

% lanterns > 20 years 15.3 25.2 27.8 30.2 32.5 34.7 36.8 38.8 40.7 42.5 44.2 45.8 47.3 48.8 50.1 51.5 

Lit signs 16.8 23.3 25.0 26.5 28.0 39.5 31.0 32.4 33.8 35.1 36.4 37.7 39.0 40.2 41.4 42.5 

Traffic 
Management 

% traffic signals > 15 years 
19.0 30.1 30.5 30.8 31.2 31.5 31.9 32.3 32.7 33.1 33.5 33.8 34.2 34.6 35.0 35.4 

Street 
Furniture 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

9.9 11.7 13.4 15.0 16.6 18.1 19.5 20.9 22.2 23.5 24.7 25.8 26.9 28.0 29.0 30.0 

Maintenance 
Backlog 

(£ millions) 
172.6 179.5 180.1 182.3 185.0 187.5 190.1 192.9 195.3 197.4 199.3 201.2 203.0 204.3 205.5 209.6 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 202



 21

 
Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog (Continued) 

 

Projected Description Year Ending 31 March 

Condition - 
Asset 

 
2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050 

A - Roads 
% where maintenance should be 
considered   

4.3 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 5.1 5.2 5.4 5.6 5.8 6.0 6.3 6.6 6.9 

B – Roads 10.2 11.1 12.1 13.1 14.2 15.3 16.4 17.5 18.7 19.9 21.2 22.5 23.9 25.4 26.9 

C – Roads 7.3 8.0 8.7 9.5 10.2 11.0 11.8 12.7 13.5 14.4 15.3 16.2 17.2 18.1 19.1 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where maintenance should be 
considered   

11.9 11.6 11.2 10.9 10.5 10.2 9.9 9.6 9.3 9.0 8.7 8.4 8.2 8.1 8.1 

All Roads 
% where maintenance should be 
considered   

9.4 9.6 9.8 1.0 10.2 10.5 10.7 11.0 11.3 11.6 11.9 12.3 12.7 13.1 13.7 

Footways  % functionally/ structurally impaired 25.6 25.4 25.2 25.0 24.8 24.7 24.5 24.4 24.3 24.1 24.0 23.9 23.8 23.7 23.7 

Kerbing 
% where replacement should be 
considered 

14.2 14.4 14.7 14.9 15.1 15.4 15.6 15.8 16.0 16.2 16.5 16.7 16.9 17.1 17.3 

Drainage 
% where replacement should be 
considered 

22.0 22.6 23.2 23.9 24.5 25.1 25.7 26.3 26.9 27.5 28.1 28.7 29.2 29.8 30.4 

Road 
Markings 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

58.5 58.5 58.5 58.5 58.5 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 58.4 

Structures 

Bridge Condition Index – Principal 
roads 

75.8 75.0 74.9 75.7 74.1 73.8 71.9 72.6 74.2 73.1 72.1 71.4 71.7 70.3 68.7 

Bridge Condition Index – Non-Principal 
Roads  

75.9 75.5 75.7 75.4 73.7 73.3 71.5 70.1 71.5 70.1 69.5 69.0 69.4 68.2 66.6 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 40 years 22.0 21.5 21.0 20.5 20.2 19.8 19.4 18.9 18.4 17.9 17.4 16.8 16.3 15.7 15.2 

% lanterns > 20 years 52.7 53.9 55.0 56.1 57.1 58.1 59.0 59.9 60.7 61.5 65.2 62.9 63.6 64.3 64.9 

Lit signs 43.7 44.8 45.8 46.9 47.9 48.9 49.9 50.8 51.7 52.6 53.5 54.3 55.2 56.0 56.8 

Traffic 
Management 

% traffic signals > 15 years 35.8 36.1 36.5 36.8 37.2 37.6 37.9 38.2 38.5 38.9 39.2 39.5 39.8 40.1 40.3 

Street 
Furniture 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

30.9 31.8 32.6 33.5 34.2 35.0 35.7 36.4 37.1 37.7 38.3 38.9 39.5 40.0 40.5 

Maintenance 
Backlog 

(£ millions) 207.9 209.1 210.7 212.5 213.4 215.3 216.1 218.0 220.8 222.0 223.7 225.6 228.2 230.3 232.5 
233.5 

 

 

 

P
age 203



 22

 

Appendix 3 - Condition Benchmarking 
 

Measured Road Condition Weighted by Road Length 
 

Road  Year Ending 31 March 

Class 2013 2014 2015 2016 

 
Network 

Length 
(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

A Roads 416.0 22.9 5.5 415.8 19.1 4.6 415.3 20.4 4.9 415.3 17.0 4.1 

B Roads 406.6 37.8 9.3 406.3 32.1 7.9 406.4 30.5 7.5 406.4 21.5 5.3 

C Roads 697.7 64.9 9.3 696.8 56.4 8.1 696.7 34.8 5.0 696.7 25.1 3.6 

U Roads 2,224.8 467.2 21.0 2,240.4 492.9 22.0 2,252.1 427.9 19.0 2,276.1 455.2 20.0 

All Roads 3,745.1 592.8 15.8 3,759.3 600.5 16.0 3,770.5 513.6 13.6 3,794.5 518.8 13.7 

 
Road  Year Ending 31 March 

Class 2017 2018 2019 

 

Network Lane 
Length (Km) 

Length where 
maintenance 

should be 
considered 

(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length (Km) 

Length where 
maintenance 

should be 
considered 

(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length (Km) 

Length where 
maintenance 

should be 
considered 

(Km) 

Percentage where 
maintenance 

should be 
considered 

% 

A Roads 719.4 18.0 2.5 719.3 17.6 2.4 719.5 18.7 2.6 

B Roads 802.3 26.7 3.3 802.3 35.8 4.5 802.5 35.2 4.4 

C Roads 1,289.6 27.7 2.1 1,289.6 36.9 2.9 1,289.6 43.0 3.3 

U Roads 2,278.9 432.8 19.0 2,280.0 465.1 20.4 2,281.3 550.8 24.1 

All Roads 5,090.2 505.2 13.3 5,091.2 555.3 10.9 5,092.9 647.7 12.7 

  

P
age 204



 23

Department for Transport Statistics 
 

Principal and non-principal classified roads where maintenance should be considered (RDC0120) 
 

Principal (LA maintained 'A' roads) Year Ending 31 March 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

National 

DCC % 6 6 5 5 4 3 3 3 

Average % 5.95 6.16 6.10 3.99 3.81 3.84 3.46 3.38 

Mode % 4.00 3.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 2.00 

Minimum % 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0 1 0 0 

Maximum % 21.00 32.00 24.00 13.00 10.00 11.00 11.00 15.00 

Number of Returns 146 143 149 147 149 150 148 149 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 78 78 76 99 83 47 55 64 

North East 

DCC % 6 6 5 5 4 3 3 3 

Average % 4.00 3.33 3.33 3.75 2.92 2.17 1.58 1.92 

Mode % 3.00 2.00 2.00 2 3.00 2.00 1.00 2.00 

Minimum % 2.00 2.00 2.00 2 1 1 1 1 

Maximum % 6.00 6.00 5.00 7 6 3 3 3 

Number of Returns 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 11 12 9 9 10 9 11 11 

 
Non-principal (LA maintained 'B' and 'C' roads) Year Ending 31 March 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

National 

DCC % 10 9 8 6 4 3 4 4 

Average % 8.34 8.34 7.81 6.43 4.89 4.82 4.59 4.57 

Mode % 10.00 5.00 3.00 4 5.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 

Minimum % 2.00 2.00 1.00 1 1 1 1 0 

Maximum % 22.00 26.00 27.00 21 17.00 18.00 22.00 25 

Number of Returns 144 143 149 146 149 148 146 148 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 95 83 86 70 51 26 55 65 

North East  

DCC % 10 9 8 6 4 3 4 4 

Average % 7.17 6.25 6.25 5.50 4.58 3.42 2.83 2.83 

Mode % 3.00 9.00 8.00 6 4.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 

Minimum % 3.00 2.00 2.00 1 1 1 1 1 

Maximum % 13.00 12.00 14.00 11 10 8 7 7 

Number of Returns 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 9 8 8 7 7 7 9 9 

P
age 205



 24

 

County Durham UA

3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

English Local Authorities

RDC0120 2018/19 English Local Authority Principal A Roads % Considered for

Maintenance

Average 3.38 

P
age 206



 25

 

3

0

1

2

3

4

G
a

te
sh

e
a

d

S
o

u
th

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e

S
u

n
d

e
rl

a
n

d

D
a

rl
in

g
to

n
 U

A

H
a

rt
le

p
o

o
l 

U
A

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
g

h
 U

A

R
e

d
ca

r 
a

n
d

 C
le

v
e

la
n

d
 U

A

S
to

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
e

s 
U

A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
y

n
e

N
o

rt
h

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e
4

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

a
m

 U
A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
a

n
d

 U
A

RDC0120 2018/19 North East Local Authority Principal A Roads % Considered for

Maintenance

Average 1.92 

P
age 207



 26

 

County Durham UA

4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

English Local Authorities

RDC0120 2018/19 English Local Authority B & C Roads % Considered for

Maintenance

Average 4.57 

P
age 208



 27

 

4

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

H
a

rt
le

p
o

o
l 

U
A

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
g

h
 U

A

R
e

d
ca

r 
a

n
d

 C
le

v
e

la
n

d
 U

A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
y

n
e

S
u

n
d

e
rl

a
n

d

G
a

te
sh

e
a

d

N
o

rt
h

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e
4

S
to

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
e

s 
U

A

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

a
m

 U
A

S
o

u
th

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e

D
a

rl
in

g
to

n
 U

A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
a

n
d

 U
A

RDC0120 2018/19 North East Local Authority B & C Roads % Considered for

Maintenance

Average 2.83 

P
age 209



 28

 
Department for Transport Statistics 
 

Percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should be considered (RDC0130) 
 

Unclassified Roads Year Ending 31 March 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
England  

DCC % 17 20 21 22 19 20 20* 21 22 

Average % 14.74 15.49 15.81 17.71 16.46 16.13 15.59 14.89 15.08 

Mode % 11.00 12.00 7.00 8.00 10.00 12.00 12.00 18.00 16.00 

Minimum % 3.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.00 1 1 1 

Maximum % 43.00 41.00 45.00 74.00 70.00 75.00 60.00 40.00 40.00 

Number of Returns 115 113 112 130 128 129 129 116 119 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 74 86 86 96 87 92 91 91 101 
 

North East 

 

DCC % 17 20 21 22 19 20 20* 21 22 

Average % 8.33 9.91 9.91 11.18 11.42 13.50 13.83 15.42 16.25 

Mode % 6.00 7.00 7.00 10.00 10.00 12.00 12.00 13.00 16.00 

Minimum % 4.00 6.00 7.00 4.00 8.00 10 4 5 4 

Maximum % 17.00 20.00 21.00 22.00 19.00 20 20 22 22 

Number of Returns 12 11 11 11 12 12 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 12 11 11 11 12 12 12 11 12 

* Our return to the Department for Transport initially reported 17% but following a review to ensure accuracy and consistency with prior years was revised to 20% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 210



 29

County Durham UA

22

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

English Local Authorities

RDC0130 2018/19 Unclassified Roads % Considered for

Maintenance

Average 15.08 

P
age 211



 30

 

22

0

5

10

15

20

25

N
o

rt
h

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e

H
a

rt
le

p
o

o
l 

U
A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
a

n
d

 U
A

D
a

rl
in

g
to

n
 U

A

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
g

h
 U

A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
y

n
e

S
to

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
e

s 
U

A

S
o

u
th

 T
y

n
e

si
d

e

S
u

n
d

e
rl

a
n

d

R
e

d
ca

r 
a

n
d

 C
le

v
e

la
n

d
 U

A

G
a

te
sh

e
a

d

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

a
m

 U
A

RDC0130 2018/19 North East Local Authority

Unclassified Roads % Considered for Maintenance

Average 16.25 

P
age 212



 31

Appendix 4 – Highways Condition Data/Trend 
 

 

P
age 213



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2020
	4 County Durham Plan: Minerals and Waste Development Plan Document and Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth  [Key Decision: REG/04/20]
	MWDPD Appendix 2 - Local Development Scheme - Dec 2020
	MWDPD Appendix 3 - MWDPD Scoping Letter
	MWDPD Appendix 4 - MWDPD Call for Sites
	Appendix 4 - MWDPD Call for Sites.pdf (p.1-7)
	Call for Sites Form.pdf (p.8-12)

	MWDPD Appendix 5 - Parking and Accessibility SPD Issues and Options
	MWDPD Appendix 6 - Parking and Accessibility SPD - EQIA

	5 Quarter Two, 2020/21 Performance Management Report - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	6 Transport Asset Management Plan - Annual Update - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	Transport Asset Management Plan - 1 Section 1 (Draft 2) 23.10.2020 (002)
	Transport Asset Management Plan - 2 Section 2 (Draft2) 23.10.2020


